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O TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

Commission File Number 001-31895

ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Nevada 84-1018684
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

5215 W. Laurel Street, Tampa, Florida 33607
(Address of principal executive offices)

(813) 876-1776

(Registrant’s telephone number including area code)

Securities registered pursuant Section 12(b) of thact:

Common Stock, $.0001 par valu NASDAQ Capital Market
(Title of each class’ (Name of each exchange on which registere

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) die Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edb#turities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Securities Act.  Yes
O No

Indicate by mark whether the registrant (1) hasdféll reports required to be filed by Section t3%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted auntsio Rule 405 of RegulationSduring the preceding 12 months (or for such shrqrerioc
that the registrant was required to submit and pash files). YeskX No O



Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgeléfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 11l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See definitions of “large accelerated fitaccelerated filer” and “smaller reporting coany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
(Check one):

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated file|

Non-accelerated file [0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of the 75 million shafesting stock held by non-affiliates of Odysddwrine Exploration, Inc. as of
June 30, 2013 was approximately $222 million. Afelbruary 26, 2014, the Registrant had 83,882 ,6#&s of Common Stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
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As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “we,'Us,” “our company” and “Odyssey” mean Odyssey MaeirExploration, Inc. and
our subsidiaries, unless the context indicates athise.

PART |

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardidimg statements within the meaning of Section 27 e Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Act of 1934. Stadements regarding Odyssey Marine Exploration,dnd its subsidiaries contained in this
report that are not historical in nature, partidyléhose that utilize terminology such as “mawyill,” “should,” “likely,” “expects,”
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “believes,” “plans,” oomparable terminology, are forward-looking statats based on current expectations and
assumptions, and entail various risks and unceéigaithat could cause actual results to differ migtg from those expressed in such forward-
looking statements.

Important factors known to us that could cause snaterial differences are identified in this repemtl in our “RISK FACTORS” in
Item 1A. Accordingly, readers of this Annual RepomtForm 10-K should consider these factors inwataig, and are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on, the forward-looking statemeatgained herein. We undertake no obligation to tgdarevise publicly any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of newrinédion, future events or otherwise, except asireduy law.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. is a world leaitledeep-ocean exploration. The Company’s innovatehniques are currently being
applied to historic shipwreck projects, modern cardity shipwrecks, and mineral exploration.

Odyssey has extensive experience discovering sbghnsites in the deep ocean and conducting arabgieal excavations with remotely
operated vehicles (“ROVs”). Odyssey’s historic strigck discoveries include the &public, HMS Victory, “Black Swan,” La Marquise de
Tourny, and many other unidentified shipwrecks. In 204 2013 we set records for the deepest and heaargh recoveries from a
shipwreck during our commodity salvage work on®8Gairsoppa A total of nearly 110 tons of silver, representingre than 99% of the
insured silver on board, was recovered fromGlaérsoppashipwreck, which is over 15,000 feet deep. In 2016 pegan to leverage our core
business expertise and technology for deep-oceaeraliexploration. Our expeditions conducted wittpiNine Minerals, Inc. and Chatham
Rock Phosphate, Ltd. have resulted in the discoardyassessment of significant mineral depositsh¥ve also begun to explore other deep-
ocean mineral projects and are the majority owhé&azanica Resources S. de. R.L. (“Oceanica”),reaPanian company in which we
acquired a majority interest in February 2013. @@ through a wholly owned subsidiary, has exekimining permits for an area believed
to feature valuable mineral deposits.

We employ state-of-the-art technology, includingesscan sonar, multi-beam bathymetry, magnetomdR€@¥'s, specialized drilling and
other advanced equipment that enables us to Isbgt@recks and natural resource sites at depthsvir@ previously unreachable in an
economically feasible manner. Odyssey continudsiilol on a foundation of shipwreck and geologieaaarch, government relationship
development and the pioneering of techniques ip-deean exploration. We utilize technologies thatehbeen developed at great expense in
other fields, primarily the military, oil and tel@mmunications industries and use our deep-oceagriexgge to modify and customize these
technologies to create proprietary applicationk#ipeto our exploration and recovery needs.

Our shipwreck projects go through several phassginhing with research of historical records analdgenic materials to establish
potential target sites for search operations. $itasmeet our criteria are selected for explosasaarch that may be completed in weeks or las
as long as several years. If and when historietasiges are identified, we undertake an archaémbgre-disturbance survey and
archaeological excavation, followed by conservatiesording, documentation, and publication/exiobit If and when a modern commodity
target is identified, surgical removal of deck pkbr ships structure may be necessary to obtain access tatigo to be salvaged. Commer
monetization of recovered cargo is conducted urdiblished Admiralty law or contract with sovereitation governments.

The Odyssey team shares the knowledge gained thimugexpeditions with the world. We share thiginfation through multiple
channels including television, the Internet, boaksgearch papers, periodicals, educational progeardraveling exhibits. We maintain seve
Internet sites, including www.odysseymarine.comwwdysseyminerals.com, www.shipwreck.net, www.odyssirtualmuseum.com and
www.shipwreckstore.com and assisted the Maritimetéige Foundation with the first virtual shipwredive trail available at
www.Victoryl744.org. We also allow collectors toma piece of history from a shipwreck’s cargo bigohg select duplicate cargo items,
artifact replicas and collectibles that provideogportunity for everyone interested in shipwreakgdrticipate in Odyssey’s fascinating
discoveries at the level of their choice. Informatthat is included on or linked to our Internéésiis not considered part of this Annual Repor
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Shipwreck Research Criteria

The United Nations Educational Scientific and Crdtrganization, or UNESCO, has estimated thatthee approximately 3,000,000
shipwrecks contained within the oceans of the wadtlidtorical records suggest that many were lo#t wérifiable cargoes of intrinsically
valuable material. Odyssey’s research departmeimtaias data on thousands of shipwrecks and coantisly develops new potential projects.

Project research may focus on a particular seaszhwahere historical documents suggest recordediaretorded higlalue targets ma
rest due to the proximity of shipping routes frenfee by vessels carrying rich cargoes.

Each project that targets a specific shipwreckitegiith the research necessary to evaluate thatmdtealue, location and likelihood of
finding the wreck. Research is also necessaryttbbsh the historical significance of the sunkbipsind helps define the context in which the
ship sank—essential for preparing an archaeologitgéct plan and the complex logistics that precextcavation of a site.

Our marine research department continuously cosdestarch in an attempt to identify shipwreckgutyg that meet the following
criteria:

» Documented Cargo Vall— The research must indicate that the shipwreck ikelylcarrying enough intrinsically valuable cargo
to cover the high costs associated with deep-oegploration and advanced archaeological recovesyni@ercially viable cargo
typically includes gold, silver, jewels, or othagh-value items. Odyssey sometimes engages inrgiigrinary exploration of a
shipwreck for purely scientific purposes, everhi value of the wreck is largely cultural, histatior educationa

» Documented Navigation Informati— The research must provide sufficient navigationdrimation documenting the sinking
location (or a particular area with potential feogucing high-value targets) in order to minimike search area, as well as the cos
and time involved, and to provide a reasonable etapien that the shipwreck can be fou

» Path to Ownershi— The research must resolve or reasonably predict frirecovery any issues relating to ownershithef
shipwreck and its cargo. Questions pertaining temqtal claimants, the location of the wreck instteoutside territorial waters, and
the nature of the ship’s commercial or military siim are some of the important considerationsribatl to be understood in
advance

Search Operations

Shipwreck or geological deposit search operatioacanducted from a research vessel fitted withesuequipment and often with an
ROV. Odyssey'’s ships are capable of conducting -deepsearch operations 24 hours a day, seven degskaand have been deployed
throughout the world - in the English Channel, khediterranean Sea, and the Atlantic and Pacifica@seA search typically begins with a
side-scan sonar survey of the target area, whisbrigetimes coupled with a magnetometer surveyj+inedtm bathymetric survey or other
acoustic or geophysical survey technologies. Thstiimberesting anomalies on the ocean floor are th&pected visually with an ROV, which
sends real-time video images to monitors on theesuvessel for observation by the scientific ardhtécal teams. These images are also
downloaded and saved for additional evaluation oresHSometimes, it is immediately obvious whetherihspected site is of interest or not—
as in the case of geology, modern debris, or wentifiable artifacts are readily apparent on tke $n other instances, it may take additional
research and return visits to a site to arriverabable or positive identity and to determine tbeatrstep forward. Even when a shipwreck’s
identity is confirmed or an area of geological iett is identified, a detailed reconnaissance ictipe or pre-disturbance survey may be
required prior to commencing any recovery or rese@ssessment operations.

Archaeological Excavation and Recovery

Many of the shipwrecks we intend to pursue may hangortant historical and cultural characteristiéBi.historically or archaeologically
significant projects undertaken will be subjectedtringent archaeological standards, thus addiniget body of knowledge of the people, the
history and culture of the vessel's time. Adheretucthese principles is a core value of the Compang in addition to satisfying international
professional standards, will enhance shareholdeevay increasing the economic value of the artifand intellectual property rights of each
project.
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Archaeological excavation and recovery operatioesanducted on historic shipwreck sites and comBi®Vs with sophisticated
positioning systems, cameras and specialized canpatrdware and software to carefully record tlwation of artifactsn situand to
document the entire archaeological process astifigcts are recovered from a shipwreck site. Asyytbonduct robotic archaeological
operations at sites hundreds and sometimes thosisdifieet below the ocean surface, Odyssey’'s R@dtgare directed by marine
archaeologists aboard the recovery vessel.

The Odyssey Explorera 251-foot Class Il dynamically positioning (Débip, serves as Odyssey’s principal state-of-thelegp-ocean
archaeological platform for shipwreck explorati@tme can carry fuel and stores for missions of u0tdays, accommodates 42 crew meml|
including technicians, scientists and archaeolegatd has extensive onboard storage space foshapk, an archaeology laboratory, multiple
cranes and a large A-frame for exceptional handiaqgability. When working on a project, operatians generally conducted 24 hours a day,
seven days a week.

The centerpiece of Odyssey’s advanced robotic eatbgy system is the ROV, which serves as the aalbgist’'s eyes and hands in the
deep ocean. Odyssey owns two work-class ROVs, aiokadZEUSandZEUSII. The 200HP and 400 HP vehicles, respectivelghestand
about 10 feet high and weigh 8 tons. Driven by gmgwerful hydraulic thrusters, they are rated perate up to depths of 2,500 meters (8,200
ft.). Both ROVs have been custom-designed for deman archaeological survey and recovery operatiocisiding visual inspection, pre-
disturbance photographic and video documentatiwansfic excavation and artifact recovery. We atsm a deep-sea ROV nicknam@tio ,
capable of operating at depths up to 6,000 meters.

Conservation and Documentation

Shipwreck finds represent a diversity of objectslenap of a variety of organic and inorganic matsyimcluding metals, ceramics, glass,
leather and other materials that are of cultuiiatphical, archaeological or educational valueifadts recovered from the ocean are generally
impregnated with corrosive salts that can be varpalying to the object. In particular, a saltwateri®nment accelerates the corrosion
processes of many metal artifacts. The salts naustimoved and artifacts treated in a timely anétjads manner or they will deteriorate and
lose their value as diagnostic specimens, musespiagi objects, or valuable collector’s pieces. €fame, the conservation process is essentic
to maintaining the integrity of the artifacts agpwntant relics of the past, and for what they maytdbute to the historical record and offer to
the general public through exhibits, private cditats and publications. Every item recovered froghgwreck site must go through a
conservation process, which in some cases mayreegpgieks, months, or even years depending on tifiecéis material make-up, the salinity
of the water from where it was recovered, and ¢ingth of time it remained in the saltwater envirentn

Sharing the Story

Odyssey is committed to sharing with the publicttirdl and adventure of deep-ocean exploratiowel as the historical and scientific
knowledge and artifacts acquired from each shipkvpeoject. We provide an opportunity for collectarsd anyone interested in shipwreck
exploration to participate in Odyssey’s discovebgowning select duplicate shipwreck cargo iteansfact replicas or collectibles. Odyssey
also shares this information through a varietytarmels including television, the Internet, booksgarch papers, periodicals, educational
programs and traveling exhibits. A few of thesedescribed as follows:

» Exhibits—All of the culturally and archaeologically sigrufint artifacts recovered from our shipwreck prgeemain in Odyssey’s
permanent collection and are available for publitileits and further study by researchers and acadébalyssey’ SHIPWRECK!
Pirates & Treasur¢, an interactive multi-media exhibit, features ov@0 artifacts recovered from our deep-ocean shipwrec
expeditions. Visitors also are immersed in the tebbgy and process Odyssey uses to find and rechwewreck treasures. For
most of 2013, the exhibit was featured at the Discp Times Square exhibition center in New YorkyCih 2014, the exhibit will
travel to different museums in Canada and the Udriimtes

» Television Programming-Discovery Channel's 3-episode series “SILVER RUS}Emiered in the US in February 2013. A Un
Kingdom version of the series aired on Channel thénUK in 2013. This programming followed Odysseshipwreck operations
2012 on the S&airsoppa, SSMantolaand HMSVictory . Another Discovery Channel 12-epsiode series, “ABBRE QUEST”
premiered worldwide in 2009 and is available folimited rebroadcasts worldwide at Discovery Chatsngiscretion.

“TREASURE QUEST” included the discovery of HM&ctory and the “Black Swan” Both series showcase the Odyssey team as
we searched for and discovered shipwrecks withuengiories to tell. The SSepublicproject was featured in two National
Geographic shows, a c-hour special for PBS Civil War Golc” and as an episode of National Geographic Ultimatedger.
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* Books and Other Publicatio—Shipwreck expeditions and projects are chronialeghrious publications including books,
newspaper articles, magazine features, archaealagigorts, scientific articles, and professiowalrpals. Our goal is to document
thoroughly our shipwreck discoveries, while infongj entertaining and educating the general pukliwell as making our results
accessible to the archaeological community. Twdkbdmave been published about theR&publicshipwreck: “Lost Gold of the
Republic” and “Bottles From the Deep.” Odyssey alsgeloped and supports a number of educationgrgnes, including
shipwreck exploration and marine archaeology culuin developed as an educational tool for our fiageexhibit, SHIPWRECK!
Pirates & TreasureThe curriculum has also been used successfulliaag-@lone lessons in both public and private sish@o
variety of reports and publications are now avaddb the public, including 35 “Odyssey Papers’t i@ available on our website.
Ten of our archaeological papers have been puldlislig®©Oxbow books in a hard-cover book titled “Oce@dyssey,” an additional
12 papers are included in “Oceans Odyssey 2,” whigh published in 2011. “Oceans Odyssey 3" wasighdad in 2013 and
includes six new paper

Sales and Marketing

Select duplicate artifacts considered “trade goddsins, bullion and other mass-produced trade g@oatargo) are made available for
sale to collectors only after conservation, thofodgcumentation and study. The cultural collectibartifacts is kept in our permanent
collection for exhibit and further study or madeiable to museums or other institutions. Repla@screated of some of the permanent
collection’s significant artifacts and are madeikade for sale to the public.

The recovery of coins and artifacts from theF&publicrequired us to create a marketing plan specifidallgell these coins and artifac
Initially, coins were sold to independent coin @éealwho sold them through direct marketing andvisien outlets. The SRepublicsilver coin
program was re-developed in 2008 to take advardhgmerging research on the silver coins from t8&k8public. This included the release
the 1861-0 silver half dollar issued by the Stdteauisiana in between the time it seceded fromUh&n and when it joined the Confederate
States of America. Additionally, Odyssey continte@xpand distribution channels in recent yeark wibroader base of coin and collectible
marketers, including opening markets overseas.r3ive unique collector appeal of 88publiccoins was linked to the American Civil War
date artifact sales including coins have been prixantly U.S. domestic-based even though we hasteilolitors throughout the world.

The availability of raw materials is primarily demkent on the success of finding intrinsically valieacargoes from shipwrecks. We
recovered over 51,000 coins (approximately 4,000&1d $20 gold coins and 47,000 silver half dojlared approximately 14,000 non-coin
artifacts from the SRepublic. As of December 31, 2013, we have a remainingntorg of approximately 25,000 silver coins.

When we recover bullion or commodity metals in &xglumes, it may have to be refined into a forat ik readily tradable in today’s
bullion and commodity metal markets. We may settaie parts of the bullion in original form, somgitoin refined form, or use some of the
metal to make special collection memorabilia.

During 2012, our primary source of revenue was fexpedition charter services. In 2012, two cust@n€hatham Rock Phosphate Ltd.
and Galt Resources, LLC, and the monetizationle¢isbullion that we recovered on tB& Gairsoppahipwreck and sold via JBR Recovery
Limited accounted for 88% of our revenue. Durind20our primary source of revenue was from the rtinagon of silver bullion that we
recovered on th8S Gairsoppahipwreck. The&sS Gairsoppaccounted for 87% of our revenues in 2013.

Deep-Ocean Mineral Exploration

Odyssey has leveraged the expertise of our teasaroé of the industry’s most experienced ocean esgi@long with our extensive
inventory of advanced deep-ocean technology torazmbréhe science of exploration and assessmenabédamineral deposits.

We have a charter on the Rdbrado Discovery a research vessel custom fitted to conduct deepromineral exploration. With this
platform and specialized equipment, the Odyssey teas the capability to perform precision geoplalsand geochemical surveys, detailed
mapping, sampling, environmental assessmentsngdrithnd resource evaluations. Therado Discoveryeatures survey, geological,
exploration, technical and scientific labs as vaslirefrigerated sample and core storage. In e@fl¢ e completed installation and testing of
new advanced one-pass drill on the ship. The gligiiiring, vibra-coring and reverse circulation d¢alitees give theDorado Discovena unique
ability to conduct extensive scout drilling andaesce assessment coring, adding to its alreadysixte suite of mineral exploration
technology.
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There are three economically significant seabederalrresources being explored by Odyssey:

Seafloor Massive Sulphides (SMS)}-SMS deposits are found on the ocean floor anda@tocbpper, zinc, gold, silver and other trace
metals. SMS deposits are found in areas of actig@mplex tectonic or volcanogenic activity, sushnaar oceanic spreading centers (such as
the Mid-Atlantic Ridge and East Pacific Rise), back basins (such as the Manus Basin in Papau Neme& waters) and submarine arc
volcanic chains (such as Kermadec Arc in New Zahlaaters).

Phosphorites—Phosphorite deposits are mineral occurrences teataovered primarily for their phosphate mateRdosphorites may
be present on the seabed or in the stratigraphiereo Phosphate is an agriculturally important maheised primarily for crop fertilization,
though a variety of uses exist for phosphate amdpiorus, the significant element in phosphatesptiarites exist in a wide range of
depositional environments. Several factors conteitbo the formation of phosphorites, including py of phosphorus, present or pre-existing
complex oceanographic circulation patterns, antbpgr sedimentological setting. Generally, phospé®rare targeted on continental shelves
and slopes, though phosphorites do occur on oceaatoed features such as guyots (flat-topped sedas)ou

Polymetallic nodules—These nodular concretions are found on the seah@donsist of concentric layers of iron and maegan
hydroxides. Nodules generally consist primarilyether manganese or iron. Manganese nodules caaicamp to 30% manganese as well as
other valuable metals and minerals, while iron neslgenerally contain a mixture of iron, silicondaaluminum ore. Polymetallic nodules are
found at the seabed interface in oceans worldvidelules must exhibit proper metal content and eristifficient concentration to be of
potential economic interest. Some areas hostingenally viable nodules include the Clarion-Clipipa Fracture Zone between Hawaii and
Mexico, the Peru Basin, and the northern Indiana@ce

We provide exploration services including geophgisand geotechnical assessments of seabed mirgrasits to companies, including
Odyssey subsidiaries and companies in which Odysslels an equity position as well as governmerdgsrad the world as a full-service
contractor or as a resource development partneenvigbrforming mineral exploration services, Odyssay receive payments in the form of
cash, equity interests in the contracting companyinancial interests in the tenement. If Odyssenequired to use the services of a third part
contractor to perform some of its exploration wabklyssey may choose to pay a part of this contracervices in the form of equity in the
company which holds the tenement rights to theasgpibn area.

Operational Projects and Status

We have numerous shipwreck and other deep-ocegcisdn various stages of development around thrédwin order to protect the
targets of our planned search or recovery operstiorsome cases we will defer disclosing spedaificrmation relating to our projects until we
have located a shipwreck or other potentially vile@esources of interest and determined a codraetion to protect our property rights. W
respect to mineral deposits, the SEC Industry Guidatlines the Commission’s basic mining disclespolicy and what information may be
disclosed in public filings. With respect to shipeks, the identity of the ship may be indetermiaabid the nature and amount of cargo m:
uncertain, thus before completing any recoverygigipanformation about the project may be unavaiia

SSCentral AmericaProject

We have been awarded an exclusive contract to ebrauarchaeological excavation and recover thairdng valuable cargo from the
SSCentral Americashipwreck located approximately 160 miles off thast of South Carolina. The ship, which was imnized in the best-
selling book, ‘Ship of Gold in the Deep Blue Sesahk in 1857 with one of the largest documentedazs of gold ever lost at sea.

Odyssey was selected for the project by Ira OwemeKthe court-appointed receiver who representsWweg Limited Partnership and
Columbus Exploration LLC. Kane is charged with @esing the recovery project, and has the beneéitggrmanent injunction and exclusive
salvage rights over the $Zntral Americashipwreck granted by the U.S. District Court fog thastern Division of Virginia.

From the recovery proceeds, Odyssey would recespeeified day-rate and remuneration of its moailan costs. In addition, Odyssey
would receive 45% of all recovery proceeds excapdb% of the day rate fees and mobilization cpatd to Odyssey from the initial
proceeds. Odyssey is presently preparing its regorgssel, th@®©dyssey Exploretp begin recovery operations on the site in Aptilizing the
company’s own equipment and personnel.
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The SSCentral Americavas discovered in 1988 at a depth of approxim&g@0 meters (7,200 ft.). A collection of gold cgibullion
and raw gold were recovered from the site whemitteek was discovered, but the recovery was limiitedthe technology available to the
salvors at the time, and less than 5% of the sii® inwestigated.

“Atlas” Search Project

Between 2005 and 2013, we searched more than 5¢@0e nautical miles of seabed in the westerni@n@hannel and the Western
Approaches to the Channel, recording approxima&8{/shipwrecks. The shipwrecks discovered inclitede'35-F, " the Marquise de Tornay
and HMSVictory (1744) as well as other identified and unidentifibipwrecks. Additional high-value targets arednedid to be within the
“Atlas” search area. Operations in the “Atlas” staarea during 2012 included additional searcipengson and verification work on several
targets as well as pre-disturbance survey work BISHictory . Additional shipwrecks were located and mappe20ih3.

HMS Victory Project

In 2008, Odyssey discovered the HMItory (lost 1744). Odyssey is recognized by the ownerwarter maritime law, salvor-in-
possession of the wreck. After a period of joimisutation between the UK Ministry of Defense (MCdd)d the UK Department for Culture,
Media and Sport, and a public consultation peribd title to the HMS/ictory was transferred to the Maritime Heritage Foundaitiodanuary
2012. The Foundation, a charity established totéoshipwrecks, investigate, recover and presemfaas to the highest archaeological
standards and to promote knowledge and undersiguofliBritain’s maritime heritage, has now assunesponsibility for the future
management of the wreck site.

The Foundation has contracted with Odyssey to geosifull range of archaeological, recovery, covrestion and other services.

No fieldwork was conducted at the Victory shipwreite in 2013, however three papers were publisinetiydingHMS Victory (Site
25C). Preliminary Results of the N@isturbance Shipwreck Survey, 2QPP13). In addition, a website was created dedicatedMiSHictory
( www.victory1744.org which includes a unique virtual dive trail. Tenclzaeological papers and reports about the sitalaoeavailable on the
website at http://www.victory1744.org/publicatidmisnl . Additional reports and information about the strigck site will be published on this
website when approved for release by the Maritiredteige Foundation.

A detailed project design for the archaeologicaasation of the site, including a complete planrérording, documentation,
conservation, publication and public educationlthesn submitted to the UK Ministry of Defence’s Astuiy Group. As the exclusive
archaeological contractor to the Maritime Herit&geindation (the owner of the shipwreck), Odyssewiaiting instructions from the
Foundation.

“ Gairsoppa’ Project

On January 25, 2010, Odyssey was awarded the &elsalvage contract for the cargo of the@Srsoppaby the United Kingdom
Government (UKG) Department for Transport. The caxttwas awarded after a competitive bid procelis dontract has been extended to
allow recovery operations to continue through 2015.

The SSGairsoppawas a 412-foot steel-hulled British cargo ship thias torpedoed by a German U-boat in February ¥&4lE enlisted
in the service of the UKG Ministry of War TranspdFhe Ministry of War Transport paid a War Riskurence Claim for £325,514 ($542,000)
(in 1941 value) for 2,817 bars of silver that wezported to be on board tairsoppawhen she sank. The UKG only paid this insurance on
privately owned cargo. Any cargo owned by the UK@uld not have been insured through the War Riskrarsce Office.

Under the recovery contract, Odyssey assumedgkeakpense, and responsibility for the searclyacegcovery, documentation, and
marketing of the cargo. The monetary proceeds ftwrsalvage were first applied to reimburseme@ayfssey’s search, recovery and
processing expenses. The remaining monetary preceeit then divided with Odyssey retaining 80%hefnet salved value, and 20% retai
by the UKG.

Search operations began in July 2011. On Septe2@e&011, we announced confirmation of the idergtityl location of the SS
Gairsoppaapproximately 300 miles southwest of Galway, Irdlan waters approximately 4,700 meters deep.
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Initial recovery operations for the 2012 seasorabegpoard the M\Beabed Workewn June 4, 2012, and ended on September 23, 201-
due to deteriorating weather conditions in the N@tlantic and a previous commitment of theabed Workdo another charter. During 2012
operations, a total of 1,218 silver ingots, weighapproximately 1.4 million troy ounces, were rem@d from the S&airsoppa,as well as
several hundred artifacts which were declarede¢dtKG Receiver of Wreck. In May 2013, Odyssey nedagrto the S&airsoppasite with the
MV Seabed WorkeAn additional 61 tons, or 1.8 million troy ounce$silver in 1574 ingots were recovered in the 26@8son. The total of
2,792 ingots of silver recovered represent mora #8896 of the insured silver reported on board wiherairsoppasank.

The silver recovered in the 2012 season and a smmallint of gold derived from refining the silversasold for $41 million. The silver
recovered in the 2013 season and a small amowgtidfderived from refining the silver was sold &85 million. These amounts are the value
of the silver sold after the processing fees ofrefimer but before the split between the UK goweent and Odyssey. The majority of the silver
bullion recovered was refined and sold on the Lonbletals Exchange. Some of the silver ingots weesgrved and sold to collectors in 2013

“Mantola” Project

Odyssey was also awarded the salvage contradidarargo of the SBlantolaby the UKG Department for Transport. On October 10,
2011, we announced the discovery of theM&®itola, which sank on February 9, 1917, after being woeel by German submarine U-81.
Odyssey discovered the shipwreck approximately@r&6ters beneath the surface of the northern Atl@tean, approximately 100 miles
from the SSGairsoppashipwreck.

In 1917, the UKG Ministry of War Transport paid a¥Risk Insurance Claim for £110,000 ($183,0001@47 value) for silver that was
reported to be on board tMantolawhen she sank. This sum would equate to more tB&r960 ounces of silver based on silver priceihr:
In September 2011, the UK Government Department fansport awarded Odyssey a salvage contrachéocdrgo of the SBlantola. The
terms and conditions are similar to the G&rsoppasalvage contract. Under the agreement, Odysseyetélin 80% of the net salvaged silver
value recovered.

TheMantolashipwreck site is not far from th@airsoppashipwreck site. In both the 2012 and 2013 seasuanite primarily focusing on
the silver recovery of th&airsoppa, Odyssey spent a few days over k@ntolasite. During the 2013 season, we tested our neexgldped
precision cutting tool. Although the tests werecassful and we were able to gain entry into a stora on the fifth deck where the silver is
believed to be located. We did not locate any sibrethe Mantola while searching a small part ef dlverall vessel. Odyssey retains the rig|
return to this shipwreck in the future.

Commodity Wreck Program

In addition to salvage rights on tlairsoppaandMantolaprojects, the Company has negotiated salvage aetrath ship owners that
will award 90% of the net recovered cargo valu®tlyssey for four separate deep-ocean shipwreckgimgvaluable commodities when they
sank. There are additional valuable shipwrecksdbatot require salvage agreements that can beladdbe program and undertaken while
Odyssey has a ship and equipment nearby. Odysssgarch has also identified numerous other shigksrearrying potentially valuable
commodity cargos.

Planning is underway to assemble the necessaryg ahipequipment for the exploration, assessmentemudery of these cargoes.
Odyssey recently conducted tests of a new 6,00@mregpection class ROV, a new 3,000 meter depthtda 7160 hull mounted multi-beam,
and a 12khz 6,000 meter echo-sounder which catilized on these commodity projects. In addition,aavanced custom 6,000 meter depth
capability search system that utilizes dual 712%irbeam systems has been ordered with delivergetgal in Q2 2014 for use on commaodity
shipwreck search and inspection projects.

Depending on the availability of recovery shipgpent off shore project managers, and equipment, we plannsuing further commaodi
shipwrecks in the near and medium term. Beforéatiity recovery efforts on any of these commoditipwrrecks, a reconnaissance trip to the
sites is required in order to determine the pasitind condition of the ships and to define the ifipesquipment needed for the recovery
operations.

Robert Fraser Projects (RFP)

In September 2010, we executed agreements to grevioplementary project research and shipwreckls@ad survey services for a
project code-namedEnigma 11" with clients of RFP. (Our initial project with B, which began in November 2009 code-namEdigyma,”
was completed in March 2010. Eight target sitesevigentified, including two sites that had soméhef characteristics of theEnigma”
shipwreck. However, our subsequent analysis indittiat the sites were not th&higma.”) As part of the agreements for th&higma 11"
project, Odyssey furnished research related tattieipated location of theEnigma 11" and agreed to provide the research vessel, egrpm
and crew to search a specified
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area and inspect targets in that area. Survey tipesavere completed in 2010. In January 2011, xeew@ted agreements to provide additional
marine archaeological excavation and related sesvon the ‘Enigma II” project to certain client companies of RFP. Thatcact provides for
work to be conducted on the shipwreck site thats3dy discovered and inspected in order to verdyctntents of the target shipwreck. The
contract provides for cash payments totaling apprately U.S. $2.3 million to Odyssey (of which $2lian was received in 2011), plus
additional payments based upon revenue derived fhenproject. After the repayment of all recoveogts, Odyssey will receive at least 50%
of net revenue until an additional £1.9 million fagximately U.S. $3.0 million) has been received #ren will receive a minimum of 50% of
further net revenue in accordance with the seawalracts. In November 2012, Odyssey undertook ingrery verification survey of the site
and obtained organic samples from the site whicte leeen analyzed by scientific laboratories tomeitge their age and origin. Preliminary
results suggest that the target may be older tlmndiabe expected of the target shipwreck basedatinglof wood samples from the site.
Additional work on this project will be undertakemnen conditions in the region are favorable andieisited by the contract and/or the client
companies of RFP.

In April 2011, we executed an agreement to prowideine services, including mining exploration amidlidg operations, to client
companies of RFP in a tenement area controlleddnadid Ocean Resources (now Neptune Minerals, Ihkeg.drilling was to be conducted on
a Seafloor Massive Sulfide (SMS) deposit that wasesyed during exploration of the Dorado concessi@as in 2010. The contract provided
for preliminary cash payments totaling approximatelS. $1.4 million to Odyssey plus additional paynts based upon revenue derived from
the project. Preliminary drilling operations whigsulted in drilling of 8 holes were undertakeNimvember 2012. The preliminary geological
report from this operation did not indicate any coencially viable deposit in the areas that werdedti A termination agreement was entered
into during December 2013 under which £267,787 (#®4) and 31,624 shares of Neptune Minerals @aSsmmon Stock were refunded
against the initial cash payment and the partilesmsed each other from any further obligations uttie agreement.

Subsea Mineral Mining Exploration Projects

We currently own 6.2 million of Class B non-votiaggares of Neptune Minerals, Inc., (“Neptune”) a pany focused on discovering and
commercializing high-value mineral deposits. In fplaest, Neptune has been successful in attractewnttestment capital required to fund
mineral exploration expeditions and has initiatadeaploratory drilling program on one of their higlprospective tenement areas. Neptune
completed capital raises in December 2011 at $1208hare of Class B common stock and privateepi@nt in 2012 for approximately $17
million at $17.50 per share. In 2013, we extendedravertible loan of $500,000 to Neptune, which fdly reserved for at December 31,
2013. Our current ownership of Neptune is approxehye30%.

In May 2012, we received our final cash paymer&bmmillion for charter services from Chatham Rotlogphates, Ltd. We also receiy
9.3 million shares of Chatham Rock Phosphatesddohmon stock for charter services valued at $11lifomi(12.2 % of Chatham shares
outstanding). Chatham Rock Phosphates Ltd. cuyréotts a license covering over 4,000 square kitenseoff the coast of New Zealand
believed to have significant seabed deposits df ptmsphate and other potentially valuable mine®ilsce our share acquisition, other major
investors have acquired shares that have dilutegagition to under 10%. In December 2013, ChatRaitk Phosphates received the
governmental mining permit for their tenement area.

In February 2013, we disclosed Odyssey’s ownersitgrest, through Odyssey Marine Enterprises, ladvholly owned Bahamian
company (“Enterprises”), in Oceanica ResourcedeR.L., a Panamanian company (“Oceanica”). Ocaangubsidiary is in the business of
mineral exploration and controls exclusive perrritan area which is believed to feature a valuatileeral resource based on extensive
exploratory activities undertaken by Odyssey. Rrglary resource assessments suggest the concesgiocls have been granted for a 50-year
period to the wholly owned subsidiary of Oceanibay have significant economic and strategic vaudyssey initially held 77.6 million of
Oceanica’s 100.0 million outstanding shares. Sulesetty, Enterprises sold and transferred to Maksdreces, LLC (“Mako”) 15.0 million
shares for a purchase price of $1.00 per shafl®million, and granted Mako options to purchasadditional 15.0 million shares at the
purchase price of $2.50 per share before Decemhe(3 3.

In June 2013, Mako agreed to an early exercisepoirion of these options to purchase 8 millionrshaat a reduced exercise price of
$1.25 per share. As part of Odyssey's strategyamtain a control position in Oceanica, in paraliéh the early exercise, Odyssey purchasec
one million shares of Oceanica from another Oceasitareholder at $1.25 per share in a transadtarptovides a ongear option to purchas
an additional one million shares at $2.50 per shEhes transaction also grants Odyssey voting sigint an additional three million shares of
Oceanica held by such other Oceanica shareholdengas there is no change in control of Odyssey.
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An option to purchase an additional one millionrglsavas exercised by Mako on December 30, 2018 foral amount of $2.5 million.
The option exercise expiration date for the renmgjrgix million shares was extended until Decemie2814 with the following modification
Odyssey will retain voting rights on these six ioill shares for three years after they are exercinbzss there is a change of control at
Odyssey, in which case the voting rights will rexerMako; the exercise price will increase by $e@ch month beginning on February 1,
2014; the expiration date will accelerate in therdwthat 5% or more of Oceanica’s equity is acqluibg a third party at a valuation of $500
million or more, or when permits to conduct reseurecovery operations are issued by the governiriggjction.

Other Syndication Projects

In February 2011, Odyssey entered into a projendisgtion deal with Galt Resources LLC (“Galt”). y3dey received $7.5 million in
cash from Galt. In return Galt received the rightfuture revenues of selected project(s) equalmiitial investment plus three times the
investment, to be paid out of proceeds of the pt(g® In addition, Galt will share in the futuretiproceeds of the selected project at the rate
1% for every million invested. In January 2012, @slyy and Galt agreed to bifurcate Galt's seledigiween two projects, the &&irsoppa
and HMSVictory . Galt has received two times its initial investmen$7,512,500 from Odyssey’s proceeds from th&8Bsoppaand will
receive no further disbursements from that proj@ett received $2.5 million in November 2012 ane temaining $12.5 million in February
2013. Galt will also receive 50% of Odyssey’s netceeds, if any, on the HM@ctory project until Galt receives two times its initial
investment and thereafter will receive 7.5125% df/€3ey’s net proceeds from the HM&tory project.

HMS SussexProject

On September 27, 2002, we entered into an agreesittnthe Government of the United Kingdom of GrBaitain and Northern Ireland,
which we refer to as Her Majesty’s Government (HM@hich allows us to conduct an archaeologicallysgéve exploration of the shipwreck
believed to be HMSussexand to recover artifacts from the shipwreck sitee Agreement provided for us to submit a Projeant Ri HMG
concerning the equipment, personnel and methodedoge intend to use in the exploration of the shéwk, and the conservation and
documentation of any artifacts and cargo that n&gelsovered. This Plan was submitted and appraWedbegan exploration of the site during
December 2005. The work on the site has been umtrd do to interference from the Spanish governmen

As a sovereign warship, HMSussexemains the property of HMG which, to our knowledgas not been contested by the Spanish
government or other entities. As part of the pammeagreement signed between Odyssey and HMGO08,28e following sharing
arrangements have been agreed upon with resptet tiggregate amount of the appraised values asellorg prices of the artifacts, net of
agreed selling expenses:

British
Range Government desse\
$0 — $45 million 2C% 80%
$45 million to $500 millior 5C% 50%
Above $500 million 6C% 40%

Our agreement with HMG is for a period of 20 years] can only be terminated if:
» the shipwreck is not HM Susse;;

e we are in serious breach of our obligations underagreement with HMC

Admiralty Legal Proceeding
“Black Swan” Arrest

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals upheld thentissal of the case by the United States Fedesati@iCourt for the Middle District
of Florida finding no subject matter jurisdictionder the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act. Withcomcluding that the coins and artifacts
recovered were owned by the Kingdom of Spain, therCupheld the order to transfer all property paifi based upon a finding that it was
once carried aboard tiNuestra Senora de Las MercedesSpanish naval vessel. The United States Sup@emg declined to hear the case.
On February 23, 2012, Odyssey complied with therCswrder by transferring the coins and artifactSpain. On April 16, 2012, Spain filec
motion with the district court claiming $3.2 miltian total fees and costs. Odyssey filed an affiddigputing the fees claimed by Spain. On
September 26, 2013, the Magistrate Judge award®dH000 to Spain, or roughly 1/3 of the amountiested. Odyssey made this payment tc
Spain in October 2013. There are currently no cdaamlegal proceedings against Odyssey for thekBiean.
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All of Odyssey’s significant filings to-date, inding those made at the district court level, canibered at
http://www.shipwreck.net/blackswanlegal.php.

Unidentified Shipwreck (Bray Case)

On August 15, 2012, the district court dismisseas tlase once again, finding that the Plaintiff Faitbd to state a cause of action upon
which relief could be granted. The dismissal wasalgh on appeal and the case is now closed.

Legal and Political Issues

Odyssey works with a number of leading internationaritime lawyers and policy experts to constantignitor international legal
initiatives that might affect our projects. As atteaof policy, we begin with the assumption thatng entity, whether a government, private
concern or insurance company, may have some tiglstsipwrecks that are slated for search and regaperations. Based on this assumpt
a rigorous legal analysis is undertaken in ordexsicertain which entities might be able to crea#elblocks to a successful project. In some
cases, such as that of HNPBssex it was determined that the most prudent mechafasmmoving forward was to negotiate a contractwtite
owner of the vessel in order to manage the litigatisk.

In other cases, such as the B&publicproject, we entered into an agreement whereby wehpsed the insurance company’s interest in
the shipwreck and cargo, opening the way for aneédiiate grant of title to Odyssey by the federalrtthat had jurisdiction.

To the extent that we engage in shipwreck seardhregovery activities in the territorial, contigusoor exclusive economic zones of
countries, Odyssey intends to comply with verifeabpplicable regulations and treaties. Prior tdrbegg operations for any project, the legal
and political aspects are carefully researcheddtersain what effect these issues may have ondtemal success of the operation.

These factors are taken into account in determiningther to proceed with a project as planned. G#wors, such as the UNESCO
Convention for the Protection of Underwater Culktitaritage are also taken into consideration. Nelitipal initiatives such as this
Convention could require compliance with additiooaltural resource management guidelines and régaota Some of these will require
adherence to strict archaeological practices anthtgad to follow reasonable guidelines in all peif to which they are applicable. Greg
Stemm, Odyssey’s Chief Executive Officer and coafier, was a member of the United States delegttaimegotiated the UNESCO
Convention, and as such provides us with a thoraungterstanding of the underlying principles andifi@ations of the Convention, and
advance notice of other cultural resource manageissumes that might affect our projects.

The UNESCO Convention is not expected to impactatjns in international waters, and the United&tathe United Kingdom and
other major maritime governments have already dtaxglicitly that they do not intend to sign ther®ention. Nevertheless, some countries in
whose waters we may consider working may sign vef@ready signed the Convention. While the UNESTiDvention states that artifacts
may not be sold, it also states that this prolohitnay not prevent the provision of archaeologseaVices, and we intend to provide such
services in contracts with governments.

We believe there will be increased interest inghaection of underwater cultural heritage throughtbe oceans of the world. We are
uniquely qualified to provide governments and ingional agencies with resources to help manage ttesources while providing the public
with educational, scientific, historical and eng@mment initiatives that originate from our shipekeexploration activities.

Competition

Odyssey shipwreck recovery projects are focusedeep-sea sites where competition is limited dubeexpertise and specialized
equipment needed to operate at such depths. Theseramumber of companies that publicly identifyntiselves as engaged in aspects of the
shipwreck business, but they do not compete diredgth us as an established deep-ocean archaealaiipwreck exploration
company. These entities include, but are not lichiteBlue Water Ventures, Mel Fisher’s TreasuresgDBlue Marine, Marine Exploration,
Inc., Oceanic Research and Recovery, Seafarer Eatjup, Deep6 Ltd., Sub Sea Research, Earth DrRgsources, Endurance Exploration
Group and UnderSea Recovery Corporation. Some auiegauch as Phoenix International Holdings Ind. @oeaneering International Inc.
may provide deep-sea services to groups seekipgrue deep sea projects. It is possible that btieee companies or some currently
unknown group may locate and recover a shipwrecurproject roster; however, due to the breadthunthistorical and archival
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research, the already completed sonar and deep-R@0¢ inspection efforts, and the number of shipkrprojects in various stages of
development, we do not believe that competitiomfiane or more of these entities, known or unknomayld materially affect our operating
plan or alter our current business strategy.

Odyssey mineral exploration is conducted on bottllelv and deep sea terrains. There are a numbmmopanies that publicly identify
themselves as engaged in aspects of deep-ocearatr@rploration or mining including Nautilus MingsgNUS.TO), Neptune Minerals, and
Chatham Rock Phosphate (CRP.NZ) as well as cosritré are exploring options to utilize deep-ocedmeral resources. As our mineral
exploration business plan includes partnering witters in the industry, we view these entities@smtial partners rather than pure
competitors. As mineral rights are generally grdrde an exclusive basis for a specific area orrteams, once licenses are granted we do not
anticipate any competitive intrusion on those arkas possible that one of these companies oresoumnrently unknown group may secure
licenses on an area desired by Odyssey or onergfastners; but since exploration work does nat siatil licenses are secured, we do not
believe that competition from one or more of thestties, known or unknown, would materially affectr operating plan or alter our current
business strategy.

Cost of Environmental Compliance

With the exception of vessel operations and corasdnv activities, our general business operatiansat expose us to environmental
risks or hazards. We carry insurance that provédieyer of protection in the event of an environtakaxposure resulting from the operation of
our vessels. The cost of such coverage is minimaroannual basis. We believe the risk associaidgdonr conservation activities is minimal.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The names, ages and positions of all the execauffieers of the Company as of March 1, 2014 aredidelow.

Gregory P. Stemm (age 56) has served as Chief BxedDfficer since January 3, 2008 and served adr@ian of the Board from 2008
to 2010. Mr. Stemm previously served as Vice PmdidResearch and Operations and as a member Bbtrd of Directors since May 1994,
He served as Co-Chairman of the Board since Fep2sar2006 until his present appointment.

Mark D. Gordon (age 53) has served as PresidenCaref Operating Officer since October 2007 and a@sointed to the Board of
Directors in January 2008. Previously Mr. Gordorved as Executive Vice President of Sales and Bgsilbevelopment since January 2007
after joining Odyssey as Director of Business Depgient in June 2005. Prior to joining Odyssey, Glordon owned and managed four
different ventures (1987-2003).

Philip S. Devine (age 47) joined the Company intSeyber 2013 from which time he has served as thef €mancial Officer. Prior to
joining Odyssey, Mr. Devine served as CFO of sdvauhlicly listed companies in Europe. Most recgtité was a consultant with DECC
sprl (2010-2013) and CFO at MDxHealth S.A. (200320

Jay A. Nudi, CPA (age 50) has served as Princigab@nting Officer since January 2006 and joined$3dy as Controller in May 2005.
Mr. Nudi assumed the additional responsibilitie§ odasurer in May 2010. Prior to joining Odyssey, Mudi served as Controller for The A
Group in Atlanta (2003-2004).

Laura L. Barton (age 51) was appointed as Execitige President and Director of Communicationsunel2012 and formerly served at
Vice President and Director of Corporate Commuincet from November 2007 to June 2012. Ms. Bart@vipusly served as Director of
Corporate Communications and Marketing for Odyssege July 2003. Ms. Barton was previously PregidéhL B Communications, a
marketing and communications consulting companysghrustomers included a variety of television netwostations and distributors and the
Company (1994-2003).

Melinda J. MacConnel (age 49) was appointed as ExecVice President, General Counsel and Secrétaiyne 2012 and formerly
served as Vice President and General Counsel ff8 £ June 2012. She joined Odyssey in March 280% Legal Consultant and became
Odyssey’s General Counsel in January 2007. Prifmining the Company, Ms. MacConnel practiced Ianad.itigation Consultant, providing
counsel to attorneys in all areas of law.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 43 full-time empks; most working from our corporate offices in pagFlorida. Additionally, we
contract companies to operate our vessels anditéahs who perform marine survey and recovery dpera on our vessels and from time to
time we hire subcontractors and consultants toop@rspecific services.

Internet Access

Odyssey’s Forms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K and all amendmtmthose reports are available without charge tiinoQdyssey’s web site on the
Internet as soon as reasonably practicable afégrdhe electronically filed with, or furnished the Securities and Exchange Commission. 1
may be accessed as followsnvw.odysseymarine.cofimvestors/Financial Information Link).

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following factansaddition to the other information in this AraiiReport on Form 10, in evaluating
our company and our business. Our business, omeratind financial condition are subject to varigisks. The material risks are described
below, and should be carefully considered in evihgaOdyssey or any investment decision relatinguiosecurities. This section is intended
only as a summary of the principal risks. If anyhaf following risks actually occur, our busineisancial condition, or operating results cot
suffer. If this occurs, the trading price of oumemon stock could decline, and you could lose afiat of the money you paid to buy our
common stock.

Our business involves a high degree of risk.

An investment in Odyssey is extremely speculative af exceptionally high risk. Although we have esg to a substantial amount of
research and data which has been compiled regavdiious shipwreck projects, the quality and religbof such research and data is
uncertain. Even if we are able to plan and obtaimits for our various projects, there is a posigitthat the shipwrecks may have already t
salvaged or may not be found, or may not have hgthang valuable on board at the time of the sigkiBven if objects of value are located
and recovered, there is the possibility that theagation cost will exceed the value of the objeetovered or that others, including both priy
parties and governmental entities, will assert lictitfg claims and challenge our rights to the ramred objects. Finally, even if we are
successful in locating and retrieving objects frmshipwreck and establishing title to them, theeere assurances as to the value that such
objects will bring at their sale, as the marketdach objects is uncertain. Depending on the tymai@o recovered, maximizing the value of
the cargo may necessitate an extended sales oyctmvert the cargo into cash. With respect to mailnexploration projects, there are
uncertainties with respect to the quality and qiyaof the resources and their economic feasihitityg granting of the necessary permits to
operate, environmental safety, technology for etima and processing, distribution of the eventual product, and funding of necessary
equipment and facilities. In projects where Odygségs a minority shareholding in the company mgdhe mining rights, there may be
uncertainty as to this company’s ability to move piroject forward.

The research and data we use may not be reliable.

The success of a shipwreck project is dependemstdstantial degree upon the research and dataweeobtained. By its very nature,
research and data regarding shipwrecks can be @ispréncomplete, outdated, and unreliable. Ifisrocomposed of or affected by numerous
assumptions, rumors, legends, historical and s@ieintaccuracies and misinterpretations which hbgeome a part of such research and data
over time. For mineral exploration, data is cokgtbased on a sampling technique and availableng@anot be representative of the entire or
body or tenement area.

Operations may be affected by natural hazards.

Underwater exploration and recovery operationsrdrerently difficult and dangerous and may be detbgr suspended by weather, sea
conditions or other natural hazards. Further, sipgrations may be undertaken more safely duringicemonths of the year than others. We
cannot guarantee that we, or the entities we diteatfd with, will be able to conduct search aedavery operations during favorable periods.
In addition, even though sea conditions in a paldicsearch location may be somewhat predictaldepossibility exists that unexpected
conditions may occur that adversely affect our apens. It is also possible that natural hazardg pravent or significantly delay search and
recovery operations.
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We may be unable to establish our rights to res@sor items we discover or recover.

Persons and entities other than Odyssey and entigeare affiliated with (both private and governiad may claim title to the
shipwrecks and/or valuable cargo that we may recd@een if we are successful in locating and redogeshipwrecks and/or valuable cargo,
we cannot assure we will be able to establish ights to property recovered if challenged by gowsgntal entities, prior owners, or other
attempted salvors claiming an interest thereirsuch an event we could spend a great deal of tmdareney on a shipwreck project, and
receive no salvage claim or revenue for our work. May discover potentially valuable seabed mirdgpbsits, but we may be unable to get
title to the deposits or get the necessary goventehpermits to commercially extract the miner@sir shipwrecks or mineral deposits may be
in controlled waters where the policies and lawa oértain government may change abruptly, theibwcting our ability to operate in those
zones.

The market for any objects or minerals we recoveuincertain.

Even if valuable items can be located and recovierdluk future, it is difficult to predict the peahat might be realized for such items.
The value of certain recovered items will fluctuafith the precious metals market, which has beghlpivolatile in past years. In addition, the
entrance on the market of a large supply of siniiéans from shipwrecks and/or valuable cargo lotated recovered by others could depress
the market. During the time between the date a raimeposit is discovered and the date the firsbeted minerals are sold, world and local
prices for the mineral may fluctuate drasticallyldnereby change the economics of the mineral gtoje

We could experience delays in the disposition dlesaf recovered objects or minerals.

The methods and channels that may be used indpesition or sale of recovered items are unceghpresent and may include several
alternatives. Ready access to buyers for any etdifar other valuable items recovered cannot beagiteed. Delays in the disposition of such
items could adversely affect our cash flow. It neke significant time between the date a minerpbdi is discovered and the date the first
extracted minerals are sold. Stakes in the mird@pbsits can potentially be sold at an earlier,datethere is no guarantee that there will be
readily available buyers at favorable competitiviegs.

Legal, political or civil issues could interfere i our marine operations.

Legal, political or civil issues of countries andfmajor maritime governments could restrict ac¢essur operational marine sites or
interfere with our marine operations or rights ¢alsed mineral deposits.

Objects we recover could be stolen from us.

If we locate a shipwreck and assert a valid claintegms of value, there is a risk of theft of sitelms at sea by “pirates” or poachers
before or after the recovery or while in transiateafe destination as well as when stored in arsddocation. Such thefts may not be
adequately covered by insurance.

We may be unable to get permission to conduct sgévaperations, conduct exploration, or perform ext¢tion operations.

It is possible we will not be successful in obtagititle or permission to excavate certain wrecksduct exploration work, or conduct
extraction operations. In addition, permits that sought for the projects may never be issuedifasslied, may be revoked or not honored by
the entities that issued them.

Changes in our business strategy or restructurinfjour businesses may increase our costs or otheevédffect the profitability of our
businesses.

As changes in our business environment occur werreay to adjust our business strategies to mest tfeanges or we may otherwise
find it necessary to restructure our operationgasticular businesses or assets. When these changeents occur, we may incur costs to
change our business strategy and may need todaite the value of assets. In any of these eventsasis may increase, and we may have
significant charges associated with the write-d@fvassets. Discontinuing the use of a multi-yeartr of a ship may result in large one-time
costs to cover any penalties or charges to pushieback into its original condition.

We may be unsuccessful in raising the necessaryitedpo fund operations and capital expenditures.

Our ability to generate cash flow is dependent upensuccess of our ability to recover and monéetigh-value shipwrecks or mineral
rights. However, we cannot guarantee that the sdilear products and other available cash sourdkg@nerate sufficient cash flow to meet
our overall cash requirements. If cash flow is sidficient to meet our business requirements, websirequired to raise additional capital
through other financing activities. While we haweh successful in raising the necessary fundsipdist, there can be no assurance we can
continue to do so in the future.

13



Table of Contents

We depend on key employees and face competitidriring and retaining qualified employees.

Our employees are vital to our success, and ouni@yagement and other employees are difficultptace. We currently do not have
employment contracts with our key employees. We nmatybe able to retain highly qualified employeeshie future which could adversely
affect our business.

We may continue to experience significant lossesnfroperations.

We have experienced a net loss in every fiscal siae our inception except for 2004. Our net lssgere $10.7 million in 2013, $18.2
million in 2012, and $16.2 million in 2011. Altholigve had a net profit of $10.8 million in the fduguarter of 2013, it resulted primarily frc
the proceeds of a single project and there is rmoaguee that future projects will generate suffitie@turns to make future quarters profitable.
Even if we do generate operating income in one arenguarters in the future, subsequent developniiotsr industry, customer base, busit
or cost structure or an event such as signifiggation or a significant transaction may causeéauagain experience operating losses. We ma
not become profitable for the long-term, or evendioy quarter.

Technological obsolescence of our marine asset§adlure of critical equipment could put a strain oour capital requirements or
operational capabilities.

We employ state-of-the-art technology includingesgtan sonar, magnetometer, ROVs, an innovative-ske drill, and other advanced
science and technology to locate and recover skigkgrat depths previously unreachable and perfeahexd mineral exploration in an
economically feasible manner. Although we try tamtesin redundancy on critical equipment and comptsieequipment failures may require
us to delay or suspend operations. Also, while maeavor to keep marine equipment in excellent waykiondition and current with all
available upgrades, technological advances in reppenent may provide superior efficiencies thandhpabilities of our existing equipment
and this could require us to purchase new equipmhbith could require additional needs for capital.

We may not be able to contract with clients or auseers for marine services or syndicated projects.

During 2012 and 2011 we recorded approximately $omand $15 million of revenue, respectively, tiyartering vessels, equipment
and crew and providing marine services to clientsustomers. We recognized no revenue from sucttesin 2013. While the results of these
syndicated projects were generally successfulgltbats or customers may not be willing or finatlgiable to continue with syndicated proje
of this type in the future. Failure to secure sterenue producing contracts in the future may fearreaterial impact on our revenue and
operating cash flows. We may take payment for tiseseices in the form of cash, shares in the cBex@mpany, or financial interest in the
tenement areas. There is no guarantee that theasinpayment for our services will ever be ableganonetized or be used by Odyssey.

The issuance of shares at conversion prices lowert the market price at the time of conversion atiet sale of such shares could
adversely affect the price of our common stock.

Some of our outstanding shares may have been adduim time to time upon conversion of outstandiegior convertible notes at
conversion prices that are lower than the markeemf our common stock at the time of conversi@dyssey has agreed to pay each
amortization payment due under the notes in shaEr@slysseys common stock, if certain conditions are met; fted, that Odyssey may, at
option, elect to pay such amortization paymentsagh. The conversion rate applicable to any anatitiz payment in shares of Odyssey’s
common stock will be the lower of (a) the then-eutrconversion price and (b) a price equal to 8508%e average of the volume-weighted
average price of Odyssey’s shares of common sturck fenday period immediately prior to the applicable atization date. Conversion of t
notes at conversion prices that are lower thamtheket price at the time of conversion and the sathe shares issued upon conversion could
have an adverse effect upon the market price o€oommon stock.

Investments in subsea mineral exploration companieay prove unsuccessful.

We have invested in marine mineral companies thdate are still in the exploration phase, and matdoegun to earn revenue from
operations. Depending on the entity, we may or n@yhave control or input on the future developnarthese businesses. There can be no
assurance that these companies will achieve pbdittaor otherwise be successful in capitalizingthe mineral resources they intend to
exploit.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We maintain our offices in Tampa, Florida wherepuechased a 23,500 square-foot two story officéding in 2004 to serve as our
corporate and operations headquarters. In May 200%urchased a one-story 8,100 square-foot coniahéralding in proximity to our
corporate headquarters which is utilized by ourseowation, research and archaeology departmentheéiiéve these facilities are sufficient for
our foreseeable needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See the information set forth under the headiAgithiralty Legal Proceedingsin Part |, Iltem 1 of this report for disclosuregarding
certain admiralty legal proceedings in which Odydsas been involved. Such information is herebyiporated by reference into this Part |,
Item 3.

The Company is not currently a party to any makdtigation.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Performance Graph
This performance graph shall not be deemed “filedth the SEC or subject to Section 18 of the Bxgje Act, nor shall it be deemed

incorporated by reference in any of our filings enthe Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Assuming an investment of $100 on December 31, 2808 reinvestment of all dividends, if any, thagir below compares the
cumulative total stockholder return on the Compar®mmon Stock for the last five fiscal years wita cumulative return of the Standard &
Poor’s 500 Market Index and the Russell 2000 Maltkeéx.

COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR TOTAL RETURN AMONG ODYSSEY,
S&P 500 STOCK INDEX AND RUSSELL 2000 STOCK INDEX

TOTALRETURN TO STOCKHOLDERS
(Assumes $100 investment on 12/31/08)
250 p
200
w 150 P
F 100
= e \
50
0 a . ; A
12/31/ 2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 1273002011 12/51/2012 1273172013
e (bibyzsey Manne Explorateon, Ine. —a— S&F 500 Index
—&— Russell 2000 Index
Total Return Analysis 12/31/200: 12/31/200! 12/31/201 12/31/201. 12/31/201: 12/31/201
Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. $100.0C $ 43.7¢ $ 86.3¢ $ 85.0¢ $ 922« $ 62.7:
S&P 500 Index $100.0C $126.4¢ $ 14550 $148.4¢ $173.1% $229.2¢
Russell 2000 Inde» $100.0C $ 12527 $156.9C $148.3t $170.0¢ $ 232.9¢

Price Range of Common Stock

On November 19, 2003, our common stock was listethe American Stock Exchange and began tradingruhé symbol OMR. On
July 10, 2007, trading of our common stock movexdnfthe American Stock Exchange to the NASDAQ Céaplitarket under the symbol
OMEX. The following table sets forth the high anavisale prices for our common stock during eachtquaresented.

Price
High Low

Quarter Ended

March 31, 201: $3.7¢ $2.32
June 30, 201 $4.4: $2.8¢
September 30, 201 $3.5¢€ $1.8C
December 31, 201 $3.0¢ $2.11
Quarter Ended

March 31, 201! $3.61 $2.7¢
June 30, 201 $3.5¢ $2.5¢
September 30, 201 $3.7C $2.7¢
December 31, 201 $3.1¢ $1.72
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Approximate Number of Holders of Common Stock

The approximate number of record holders of ourroom stock at February 19, 2014 was 246. This doesolude shareholders that
hold their stock in accounts included in street eamith broker/dealers which approximates 14,000ett@ders.

Dividends

Holders of our common stock are entitled to recsiveh dividends as may be declared by our BoaRirettors. No dividends have be
declared with respect to our common stock and rmoeenticipated in the foreseeable future.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

In separate transactions on March 7, July 25, actdl§@r 18, 2013, the Company issued and sold aregatp of 157,540 shares of
common stock to two of the Company’s independetgide directors for aggregate cash considerati®465,890. The offer and sale of the
shares were exempt from registration under Sedtj@ghof the Securities Act as transactions not ivimg any public offering.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases of shares of the Companyimon stock during the quarter ended Decemhe2(3B.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected financiataj which should be read in conjunction with tleerpany’s Consolidated Financial
Statements and the related notes to those stateimehtded in “Item 8. Financial Statements and@ementary Data” and with “ltem 7.
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations” appearing efsse in this Form 10-K. The selected
financial data have been derived from the Compaaydited financial statements.

Years Ended December 31

Dollars in thousands except per share amoun 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Results of Operatior

Revenue $2391: $13,19¢ $15,727 $21,00 $ 4,347
Net income (loss (10,749 (18,189 (16,225 (23,349 (18,629
Earnings (loss) per sha- basic (0.13) (0.25) (0.28) (0.36) (0.39)
Earnings (loss) per sha- diluted (0.13) (0.25) (0.2¢) (0.3¢) (0.39)

Cash dividends per she — — — — —
Financial Position

Assets $51,46. $26,897 $23,41c $19,40° $20,25¢
Long-term obligations 5,66: 4,011 5,69( 2,77¢ 2,95(
Shareholde¢' s equity (deficit) 13,201 (20,759 (9,775 (7,54%) 7,56:
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis is intendegrbvide a narrative of our financial results amdevaluation of our financial conditi
and results of operations. The discussion shoulg®e in conjunction with our consolidated finahsiatements and notes thereto. A
description of our business is discussed in Itevfithis report which contains an overview of ousimess as well as the status of our ongoing
project operations.

Results of Operations

The dollar values discussed in the following tajptegept as otherwise indicated, are approximatiorise nearest $100,000 and there
do not necessarily sum in columns or rows. For ndetail refer to the Financial Statements and Sapphtary Data in Item 8. The tables
identify years 2013, 2012 and 2011, all of whictliiled a twelve-month period ended December 31.

2013 Compared to 2012

2013 vs. 201
(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012 $ %
Artifact sales and other $23.7 $ 8.C $15.€ 195%
Exhibit A 2 (.1) (50
Expedition charte A 4.9 4.8 (99
Total revenue $23.¢ $13z $10.7 _81%
Cost of sale: 7 2 5 19t
Operations and resear 26.C 17.¢ 8.1 45
Marketing, general and administrati 14.2 10.¢ 3.€ 34
Total operating expens $40.¢ $28.€ $12.1 _42%
Other income (expens $ 2.€ $(26 $52 200%

Revenue

Revenue is generated through the sale of recovergg such as coins, bullion, artifacts and merdisan the lease of our themed
attraction exhibit and expedition charters.

The increase in artifact and other sales of $15l6m(from $8.0 million in 2012 to $23.7 milliom 2013) was primarily due to an
increase in revenue recognized from @earsoppaproject. In 2012, $3.9 million of revenue was ratiagd from theGairsoppaproject
whereas $20.8 million of revenue was recognize2Dibi3 from this same project ($16.7 million of whighs in the fourth quarter of 2013).
Although the monetary value of the silver recovered the Gairsoppa project was larger in 2012 iha2013, the impact to the revenues was
greater in 2013 due to the following reasons: 1ij .8 million of proceeds from the Gairsoppa projeete credited against expenses in 2012 a
compared to $9.2 million in 2013 (see discussidnwe®n expenses), (ii) $15 million of ti&airsoppaproject proceeds from 2012 were
allocated and paid to Galt Resources LLC as paatprbject financing arrangement whereas no fugheh payments were needed to be mad
to Galt from the silver recovered in 2013.

During 2012 and 2013, th@airsoppaproject generated additional cash inflows that wererecognized as revenues. In 2013, $9.2
million from theGairsoppaproject was credited to operating expenses an012 $17.8 million was credited to operating expsnse

The decrease in expedition charter revenue in »$3.8 million results from the fact that our miakexploration ship and team was
dedicated in 2013 to work on projects for entitiestrolled by Odyssey for which inter-company raxenare not shown on a consolidated
basis. The expedition charter revenue of $4.9 amilln 2012 was primarily associated with a subsigeeral mining charter with Chatham Rock
Phosphates off the coast of New Zealand ($4.0anjlland $.7 million of additional work on two RobEraser shipwreck projects in the fourth
quarter (“Stanton A and “ Enigma”).

Cost and Expenses

Cost of sales consists of shipwreck recovery cgstgling, conservation, packaging, and shippingscassociated with artifact and
merchandise sales. Cost of sales increased byiffiénm 2013 versus 2012, or in the same proports the increase in Artifact and other
revenues which increased by 195%.

Operations and research expenses primarily incilldmsts within Archaeology, Conservation, ExtsbiResearch, and Marine
Operations, which include all vessel and charterajions. Operations and research expenses wei@ i®#6on in 2013 as compared to $17.9
million in 2012. The increase in operating and aesk expenses of $8.1 million primarily represergesialler recoupment &Gairsoppatotal
project search and recovery costs of $9.2 millio2013 as
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compared to $17.8 million ($.1 million of which wiluded in Marketing, general and administragx@enses). This cost recoupment or
credit to expenses resulted from thairsoppaproject contract terms with the UK Department foarfsport that provided for Odyssey to rec
its project costs from the monetization of recoderargo. Excluding the amounts credited to opegagkxpenses in 2012 and 2013 from the
Gairsoppaproject, total Operations and research expensesaksd by $0.4 million from 2012 to 2013, or a deaof 1%.

Marketing, general and administrative expensesanilyinclude all costs within the following deparénts: Executive, Finance &
Accounting, Legal, Information Technology, HumarsBearces, Marketing & Communications, Sales andriass Development. Marketing,
general and administrative expenses were $14.milh 2013 as compared to $10.6 million in 201Be Tncrease of $3.6 million primarily
represented an increase in our professional fepay&1.1 million to the Spanish government forBfeck Swarcase, an increase in share-
based compensation and other personnel costs@®h$llion, and $0.5 million increase in the prowisifor doubtful accounts.

Other Income or Expense

Other income and expense generally consists afeisttéhcome on investments offset by interest espem our bank term and other mortgage
loans and convertible notes. Beginning in the togdarter 2009, it also included the income or foms our equity investment in subsea
mineral mining companies which have since beerntevritiown to zero. It also includes the changeiimvaue of the derivatives related to our
issuance of Series G convertible preferred stocksamior convertible notes. In 2013, Odyssey haétather income result of $2.6 million.
This was comprised of a positive amount of $4.4iomilfrom the change in the fair value of derivatiiabilities ($1.4 million related to the
change in the stock price volatility, $1.6 millicglated to the redemption of certain outstandirsriments, $0.5 million related to the change
in the volatility of certain instruments, and $@ndllion of other changes), a gain of $1.2 million leedging instruments linked to silver price
2013, and $0.6 million in other miscellaneous inepoffset by an interest expense of $3.5 millioelest expense decreased by $2.7 million
from 2012 to 2013 primarily as a result of a redhucin the higher interest debt obligations, sushhe convertible notes. The net other exp
balance for 2012 of $1.7 million was related tauafavorable impact on the fair value of the derxafinancial instruments ($1.3 million, see
NOTE R), a favorable impact of $4.7 million on tbes on equity investment since the investmentteah written down to zero in 2011 €

an unfavorable interest expense variance of $5llomivhich primarily related to the interest adive on the senior convertible note payable
($3.5 million), interest on the convertible notd S million), derivative-related interest ($.2 rioh), amortization of financing costs ($.2
million) and other interest ($.2 million). Of thetal 2012 interest expense of $6.3 million, only7illion represented cash payments for
interest and financing costs.

Income Taxes

We made a tax provision for income taxes in 201805 million but we made no provision in 201220114, we are seeking a Private
Letter Ruling from the Internal Revenue Serviceeeerse the 2013 tax provision amount, but atttiie there is no guarantee that this will be
accepted. Due to the uncertainty surrounding thkzagion of deferred tax assets resulting fromrapeg loss carryforwards, we recorded a
valuation allowance of $51.6 million against théeded tax assets as of December 31, 2013, compa&s’.9 million as of December 31,
2012. As required by the Accounting for Income Tatapic in the Accounting Standards CodificatioA%C”), we have evaluated whether i
more likely than not that the deferred tax assétde realized. Based on the available evidenaehave concluded that it is more likely than
not that those assets would not be realizable wittiee recovery of high-value shipwrecks, inconmarfrmineral mining operations or sales of
equity interests in other companies and thus aatialn allowance has been recorded as of Decemh&038. We anticipate that we may
continue to incur net losses in 2014 pending aipyvaieck cargo recoveries that could be quickly nimeel. We will continue to reassess the
need for a valuation allowance during each futeporting period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

(Dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Summary of Cash Flow

Net cash (used) by operating activit $(20,067) $(6,689)
Net cash (used) by investing activit (4,50%) (94€)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 35,79: 9,76(
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 21,22¢ $ 2,12¢
Beginning cash and cash equivale 10,09¢ 7,972
Ending cash and cash equivale $ 21,32: $10,09¢
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Discussion of Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities in 2013 wa& Bmillion. This amount primarily reflected anesating loss of $14.9 million and a
$4.4 million adjustment to this loss for the norsttahange in the fair value of derivative liabdgioffset in part by non-cash items including
interest accretion on notes payable ($2.0 millidepreciation and amortization ($1.9 million), shbased compensation ($2.5 million), and
debt interest settled with common stock ($.7 millicOther working capital related changes includedncrease in accounts payable of $1.5
million, a decrease in accrued expenses of $8.iomprimarily relating to the Galt Resources pdgatif $12.5 million at year end 2012, a
decrease in accounts receivable of $1.8 milliod, @mincrease in other assets of $ 2.0 million eD#ssets increased primarily as a result of
prepayments and deposits on equipment orderetidaships at the end of 2013.

Net cash flow used in operating activities in 20d#s $6.7 million. This amount primarily reflected @perating loss of $18.2 million
offset in part by non-cash items including inter@stretion on notes payable ($4.1 million), def@#on and amortization ($1.6 million), share-
based compensation ($1.5 million), favorable chandair value of derivatives liabilities primariljue to redemption of Series G preferred
stock ($3.6 million), and financing charge amottima and debt interest settled with common stockotes payable ($.8 million). Other
working capital related changes included an inaé@asccounts payable and accrued expenses of 8fifidh primarily relating to the Galt
Resources payable of $12.5 million at year endnamase in accounts receivable of $1.6 milliomvbfch $1.4 million relates tGairsoppa
silver proceeds received in February 2013, andeanedise in deferred revenue of $4.5 million prilpaepresenting recognition of deferred
income from revenue participation rights on thet@asources, LLC investment of $3.8 million. Thestanding deferred revenue balance of
$2.8 million represents work to be completed on‘tB¢anton A’ and “ Enigma” projects. The decrease from $3.5 million représevork
completed during the fourth quarter 2012.

Net cash used in 2013 for investing activities anted to $4.5 million. This cash was used for theehase of equipment, primarily for
ship-based operations, including $.7 million on@06 meter ROV, $3.1 million for equipment and imygments on the mineral exploration
ship (such as a new winch and a deep-sea drilf) nawst of the remainder on improvements and equipoe the Odyssey Explorer ship. Cast
flow used in investing activities for 2012 of $.9lllan primarily represented marine property andipment purchases.

Net cash provided in 2013 by financing activitiesoainted to $35.8 million. $27.5 million came fronetsale of shares of Oceanica
Resources, S. de R.L. (“Oceanica”), a subsidiamyur§, to Mako Resources, LLC, a financial invegtaup. In June 2013, we purchased
1 million shares in our subsidiary, Oceanica, 0125 million. The issuance of new common sharesuo$ generated cash inflows of $10.4
million.

Cash flow provided by financing activities for 20&2s $9.8 million. In addition to the $.9 millioaaeived from the issuance of common
stock, we received $20.0 million from loans inchgli$8.0 million additional proceeds from the sectradche of the Senior Convertible Note,
$2.0 million proceeds from the additional term lagith Fifth Third Bank in March 2012 and $10.0 rih from theGairsoppaproject
financing from Fifth Third Bank in July 2012. Wepaad the $10.0 milliorGairsoppaproject financing in October 2012 as well as $.Wiom of
debt obligations including mortgage and loans pkyab$.2 million and $.5 million of marine equipmdinancing. We also incurred $.4
million of brokerage commissions on the seconddhnarof the Senior Convertible Note.

General Discussion 2013

At December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash eqotsadé $21.3 million, an increase of $11.2 millivom the December 31, 2012
balance of $10.1 million. This increase resultadhprily from (i) the recovery and monetization df/er from theGairsoppashipwreck and
(ii) the sale of a minority stake in a mineral exaltion subsidiary of the Company. The total firahdebt increased from $18.8 million at
December 31, 2012 to $22.0 million at December2813. The outstanding convertible debt was redfroed $11.9 million to $5.2 million. A
$10 million project loan was entered into in JuB13 that bears interest at omenth Libor plus 5% and matures on July 24, 201doAsed a
collateral for this loan is $10 million in restréct cash from silver monetized from Bairsoppaproject during the fourth quarter of 2013.
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During 2013, thdorado Discoveryessel primarily worked on a mineral explorationjpct for our subsidiary, Oceanica Resources, S.
de R.L. Oceanica’s wholly owned subsidiary holdsimg exploration rights to certain sea-based mirggposits. The results of the core
drilling and environmental studies collected by viessel were sent to independent labs for furthalyais and testing. In three equity
transactions in 2013 and in exchange for $27.5anillOdyssey sold 31% of its equity stake in Oceamd Mako Resources, LLC, an
independent financial investor group. Oceanica’siiyfowned subsidiary is still in the exploratorligse and has not yet received all of the
permits to enable the start of commercial operatiés a result and pursuant to SEC Industry Gujd® tetails on the mineral deposits have
been included in the filings of Odyssey. The actswh Oceanica and its subsidiary are consolidaitiithose of Odyssey and as a result all
intercompany transactions are eliminated in thesobalated financial statements.

Odyssey performed a first recovery of silver frdra Gairsoppashipwreck in 2012. From the proceeds of the siteepvered in 2012, an
amount of $12.5 million was paid to Galt Resourte<Z in 2013. A second recovery was accomplishe20h3 yielding approximately
1.8 million ounces of silver. The monetization loé tsilver recovered in the 2013 expedition gendrasesh inflows of over $35 million to
Odyssey. From this amount, $5.2 million was paitheeUnited Kingdom government, $9.2 million wasdited against operating expenses,
and $20.8 million was recognized as revenue ($a#fllibn of this revenue was recognized in the faugtiarter). The favorable income
statement impact was $30.0 million from Reirsoppaproject in 2013.

In January 2013, we entered into a letter agreemightthe Senior Convertible Note investor agredmgefer until March 1, 2013, the
installment payments that would have been otherdigeon January 1, 2013 and February 1, 2013.esior had previously agreed to defer
the December installment payments therefore makiagotal amount of payments deferred approximai&ly million. Also, the Additional
Note conversion price was amended from $3.74 tb73 he remaining principal balance at Decembef813 for the Additional Note we
$4.1 million.

During January 2013, investors exercised $2.25amtsrwhich would have expired on January 31, 2618é amount of over $4.5
million.

Bank Loans

In 2013, we amended our $5 million term loan wittthFThird Bank (the “Bank”) so that the maturitateg was extended from July 11,
2013 to July 11, 2016. Beginning in January 201d ane required to make semi-annual principal paysnei$500,000. The facility bears
floating interest at the one-month LIBOR rate adany to the Wall Street Journal plus 500 basis fgoiiny prepayments made in full or in
part are without premium or penalty. No restrictegh payments will need to be kept on deposit.t&tm loan is still secured by approxima
25,000 numismatic coins recovered by the Compamy the SSRepublicshipwreck, which amount will be reduced over threntéy the
amount of coins sold by the Company. The coins asetbllateral are held by a custodian for the rsigoof the Bank. The borrowing base is
equal to forty percent (40%) of the eligible caiwéntory valued on a rolling twelve month wholesalerage value. The Company is required
to comply with a number of customary covenants.

In July 2013, we entered into a project term logreament with Fifth Third Bank that provided a étéacility of up to $10.0 million. Th
term loan bears interest at a floating rate equéiié one month LIBOR rate plus 500 basis pointsoAgination fee of $50,000 was payable at
closing. A restricted cash deposit of $500,000 reasiired to cover interest payments when the tean vas advanced. The term loan is
secured by silver recovered and monetized fronsB&airsoppa. The proceeds of the credit facility were useéutal the project recovery
costs. The company took a $10 million draw agdaimstfacility in July 2013. Also used as collatefal this loan is $10 million in restricted ce
from silver monetized from th@airsoppaproject during the fourth quarter of 2013.

On July 11, 2008, we entered into a mortgage loiém Rifth Third Bank. Pursuant to the Loan Agreemere borrowed $2,580,000. The
loan bears interest at a variable rate equal tptinee rate plus three-fourths of one percent @)y per annum. The loan had an initial maturity
date of July 11, 2013, and requires monthly priacgayments in the amount of $10,750 plus accrmttast. This loan is secured by a
restricted cash balance as well as a first mortgageur corporate office building. This loan contacustomary representations and warranties
affirmative and negative covenants, conditions, @ther provisions. In July 2013 when the above chotertgage was scheduled to mature, we
extended it on substantially the same terms thaatipusly existed. The new maturity date is July@04s of December 31, 2013, the loan
balance outstanding was $1.3 million.
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Trends and Uncertainties

Our 2014 business plan requires us to generatecaslwinflows during 2014 to effectively allow usperform our planned projects. We
plan to generate new cash inflows through the nipetéin of shipwreck cargo or our equity stakeseéabed mineral companies, financings,
syndications or other partnership opportunitiese ©nmore of the planned shipwreck or mining projeonetizations, financings, syndications
or partnership opportunities may not be realize&iwimay require us to curtail our desired busin#as until we generate additional cash. We
currently have no commitments for new debt or issaaof new equity and we can offer no assurancefinoyr planned projects will be
successful in providing additional cash during 2044 have experienced several years of net lo§€sgscapacity to generate net income in
future periods is dependent upon our success aveginng and monetizing shipwrecks, monetizing oeriests in mineral exploration entities,
generating income from shipwreck or mineral exgioracharters or generating income from other mtsjeln 2014, we will seek to monetize
some of our stake in our mineral exploration shaldihgs, recover and monetize cargo from theCg8tral Americg and generate cash
inflows from other projects and opportunities. db inflow is not sufficient to meet our desiredjpcted business plan requirements, we will
be required to follow our contingency business piduich is based on curtailed expenses and regi@isssnew cash inflows. While we have
been successful in generating cash inflows anthgathe necessary funds in the past, there camlassurance that we can continue to do so |
2014.

2012 Compared to 2011

2012 vs. 201
(Dollars in millions) 2012 2011 $ %
Artifact sales and other $ 8.C $ .9 $7.2 841%
Exhibit 2 2 — 9
Expedition charte 4.9 14.7 (9.7) (66)
Total revenus $13.2 $15.7 $(2.5) (16)%
Cost of sale: 2 A4 (-2 (43
Operations and resear 17.¢ 21.2 3.3 (16)
Marketing, general and administrati 10.€ 9.4 1.2 13
Total operating expens $28.6  $31.1  $(2.3 (N%
Other income (expens $26 $ (9 $179 (209%

Revenue

Revenue is generated through the sale of coirifacist and merchandise, the lease of our themeattitin exhibit and expedition
charters.

The increase in artifact and other sales of $7I1Ramiin 2012 was primarily due to an increase ihes revenue of $7.6 million associated
with revenue from th&airsoppaproject ($7.0 million of which was in the fourtharter) offset by a reduction in artifact sales &f fillion. Of
the revenue recognized from tBairsoppaproject, $3.7 million was related to silver saled 3.9 million was credited to revenue from
deferred income that represented revenue participaghts earned from the Galt Resources investmen

The decrease in expedition charter revenue in 20$8.7 million was associated with our subsea naih@ining charters primarily
related to Neptune Minerals and other miscellanebasters ($11.7 million), a reduction of Rober$ar shipwreck projects ($2.0 million)
offset in part by work performed in 2012 on Chathaatk Phosphates ($4.0 million). The expeditionrghaevenue of $4.9 million in 2012
was primarily associated with a subsea mineralmgicharter with Chatham Rock Phosphates off thetafaNew Zealand ($4.0 million) and
$.7 million of additional work on two Robert Frasipwreck projects in the fourth quarteiStanton A and “ Enigma”). The expedition
charter revenue in 2011 of $14.7 million relatednarily to subsea mineral mining charters with Ney Minerals ($14.2 million) as well as a
miscellaneous charter for the Odyssey Explorer iffilbon). Also, our operational efforts in 2012 keemore focused on our shipwreck
recovery projects (i.eGairsoppa, Mantolaand HMSVictory).

Cost and Expenses

Cost of sales decreased by $.2 million in 201202011 due to fewer silver coins sold in 2012 we2011.
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Operations and research expenses were $17.9 milli2d12 as compared to $21.3 million in 2011. dkerease in operating and
research expenses of $3.3 million primarily repnésg a recoupment @airsoppatotal project search and recovery costs of $171Bomi($.1
million of which was included in Marketing, geneeald administrative expenses) which have been ezedbased upon silver proceeds from
the project in 2012. Other favorable variances8%nillion include the Ocean Alert which was sold®011 and not utilized in 2012 ($1.9
million) and the charter vessel Rkuzhmorgeologiyavhich was utilized in 2011 only ($1.9 million). Unforable expenses included the Dol
Discovery which incurred an additional $2.6 milliohexpenses in 2012 versus 2011 primarily rel&te?l7-day transit from Oceania to the
West Coast of North America to work on deep-waigi@ation ($.7 million), additional fuel costs imeed in 2012 which were paid by the
charterer in 2011 ($1.1 million) and specializedimaequipment rental ($.8 million). Other offsettiexpenses in 2012 included $14.1 million
for our chartered vessel which performed surveyraadvery operations on both tBairsoppaandMantolaprojects, and $.9 million for the
Odyssey Explorer which also performed survey andmeaissance work on the projects. In additioninearred $.6 million in 2012 on
miscellaneous charter and other expenses.

Marketing, general and administrative expenses $&0e6 million in 2012 as compared to $9.4 milliarR011. The increase of $1.2
million primarily represented an increase in owfpssional fees and other services ($.9 milliom) am increase in employee-related expenses
($.3 million).

Other Income or Expense

Beginning in the fourth quarter 2009, it also irt#d the income or loss from our equity investmergtibsea mineral mining which has
since been written down to zero. It also includesdhange in fair value of the derivatives relatedur issuance of Series G convertible
preferred stock and senior convertible notes. Tfauorable other income variance of $1.7 millior2Di2 was related to an unfavorable
impact on the fair value of the derivative finahénstruments ($1.3 million, see NOTE K), a favdealmpact of $4.7 million on the loss on
equity investment since the investment had beettemnrdown to zero in 2011 and an unfavorable istezgpense variance of $5.1 million
which primarily related to the interest accretiontbe senior convertible note payable ($3.5 mi)janterest on the convertible note ($1.0
million), derivative-related interest ($.2 milligrgmortization of financing costs ($.2 million) aotther interest ($.2 million). Of the total 2012
interest expense of $6.3 million, only $1.7 milli@presented cash payments for interest and fingrazists.

Income Taxes

We did not record any provision (benefit) for inommaxes in 2012 or 2011. Due to the uncertaintyosunding the realization of deferred
tax assets resulting from operating loss carryfotaawe recorded a full valuation allowance of $57illion against the deferred tax assets as
of December 31, 2012, compared to $52.5 millionfdBecember 31, 2011. As required by the Accounfiimdncome Taxes topic in the
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), we haasaluated whether it is more likely than not thnet tleferred tax assets will be realized.
Based on the available evidence, we have concltidddt is more likely than not that those assetsilé not be realizable without the recovery
of highvalue shipwrecks and thus a valuation allowancebkeas recorded as of December 31, 2012. We wilimoa to reassess the need fi
valuation allowance during each future reportingquk

Liquidity and Capital Resources

(Dollars in thousands) 2012 2011
Summary of Cash Flow

Net cash (used) by operating activit $(6,689) $(15,190
Net cash (used) by investing activit (94€) (489)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 9,76( 23,41¢
Net increase in cash and cash equival $ 2,12¢ $ 7,73¢
Beginning cash and cash equivale 7,972 23€
Ending cash and cash equivale $10,09¢ $ 7,97C

Discussion of Cash Flows

Net cash flow used in operating activities in 208 $6.7 million. This amount primarily reflectenl @perating loss of $18.2 million
offset in part by non-cash items including intersstretion on notes payable ($4.0 million), deon and amortization ($1.6 million), share-
based compensation ($1.5 million), favorable chandair value of
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derivatives liabilities primarily due to redemptiohSeries G preferred stock ($3.5 million), anthficing charge amortization and debt interes
settled with common stock on notes payable ($.8an)l. Other working capital related changes in€lddn increase in accounts payable and
accrued expenses of $13.0 million primarily relgtia the Galt Resources payable of $12.5 millioyeatr end, an increase in accounts
receivable of $1.6 million of which $1.4 millionlates toGairsoppasilver proceeds received in February 2013, andegnedise in deferred
revenue of $4.5 million primarily representing rgndion of deferred income from revenue participatiights on the Galt Resources, LLC
investment of $3.8 million. The outstanding defdrrevenue balance of $2.8 million represents worket completed on theStanton A and “
Enigma” projects. The decrease from $3.5 million représevork completed during the fourth quarter 2012.

Cash flow used in operating activities in 2011 %&5.2 million. This amount primarily reflected apevating loss of $16.2 million offset
in part by non-cash items including depreciatiod amortization ($1.9 million), share-based compgosd$1.6 million), change in fair value
of derivatives liabilities primarily due to rederngt of Series G preferred stock ($5.0 million), terdown of the vess€@cean Alerof $.6
million based upon sale in 2011, and interest dicerend financing charge amortization on notesapéy ($.7 million). Other working capital
changes included a decrease in accounts payablecanded expenses of $1.7 million, and an increadeferred revenue of $2.8 million
(representing cash receipts of $8.5 million offsetevenue recognized of $5.7 million on thEifebrand,” “ Enigma,” “ Shantaram; “
Stanton A" and “ Neptun€’ projects). The outstanding deferred revenue lzadarf $3.5 million represents work to be compleiadhe “
Stanton A and “ Enigma” projects.

Cash flow used in investing activities for 20125d® million primarily represented marine propemydaquipment purchases. Cash flow
used in investing activities for 2011 was $.5 raitliwhich primarily represented the purchase of neaprroperty and equipment of $1.0 million
offset by the proceeds for the sale of @mean Alerof $.5 million.

Cash flow provided by financing activities for 20&2s $9.8 million. In addition to the $.9 millioaaeived from the issuance of common
stock, we received $20.0 million from loans inchgli$8.0 million additional proceeds from the sectradche of the Senior Convertible Note,
$2.0 million proceeds from the additional term lagith Fifth Third Bank in March 2012 and $10.0 rioh from theGairsoppaproject
financing from Fifth Third Bank in July 2012. Wepaad the $10.0 milliorGairsoppaproject financing in October 2012 as well as $.Wiom of
debt obligations including mortgage and loans pkyab$.2 million and $.5 million of marine equipmdinancing. We also incurred $.4
million of brokerage commissions on the seconddhnarof the Senior Convertible Note.

Cash flow provided by financing activities for 20&/as $23.4 million which primarily represented mreds from the issuance of commor
stock ($15.6 million), an increase in deferred medfrom revenue participation rights on the Gatijget of $7.5 million, proceeds from the <
of convertible notes of $10.0 million, offset byypaents of $1.0 million for dividends on the Ser@sonvertible preferred stock and broker
commissions on capital raises, $5.8 million on nepigons of Series G convertible preferred stock, $2.9 million repayment of mortgage and
notes payable. The deferred income increase repegbthe proceeds from the Galt project which waeréized into revenue when the
designated project was recovered and monetized.

General Discussion 2012

At December 31, 2012, we had cash and cash eqotsad€$10.1 million, an increase of $2.1 milliaorh the December 31, 2011
balance of $8.0 million.

In April 2012, we delivered an additional closingtice under the securities purchase agreemenivdeexecuted in November 2011,
when we issued and sold the investor a senior etihleenote in the original principal amount of $Q0nillion and warrants in amounts as
stated above. In connection with the delivery ef sladitional closing notice, the original agreemeas amended to increase the additional
second tranche of the note to $8.0 million. Theitaathl note bears interest at 9.0% per year anidwature on the 3@ronth anniversary of tl
initial closing date. The additional note will bmartized in equal monthly installments commencinghee eighth-month anniversary of the
initial note and may be paid in cash or Odysseyrnomstock. The additional note may be converten @dyssey’s common stock, at the
option of the holder, at any time following six nibs after the date of issuance. Odyssey has atdgktdeem the additional note. The
conversion price of the additional note is $3.7de Tiumber of shares of Odyssey’s common stocklsugon exercise of the warrant
increased to 1,562,500.

During December 2011, we chartered Brmrado Discoverywessel to Chatham Rock Phosphate, Ltd. (“Chath&on’$1.2 million in
relation to deep-ocean surveying. The charter gegchChatham to pay for services in either castoarmon shares of their company. At
December 31, 2011, Chatham anticipated a finartciqgy for the charter. We did not record
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the revenue from this charter because of theiidiuand capital positions at that time. Chathaampleted a portion of their financing in the
first quarter of 2012 and remitted the $1.2 millgayment. In addition, during March 2012, Chathamitted $1.8 million for charter services
performed in the first quarter 2012. An amount dtian additional $1 million was paid in May 2012 services rendered in January 2012. In
June, Chatham executed the option to pay the réngatharter balance of $1.7 million in stock andy€sky received 9.3 million shares, or
12.2% of Chatham.

Cash proceeds of over $41 million have been reddiven Gairsoppasilver sales ($1.8 million received in early figgtarter 2013). We
have paid the United Kingdom (UKG) approximately@#hillion ($4.3 million paid in 2012) and approxately $15 million to Galt Resources,
LLC ($2.5 million paid in 2012). The favorable imoe statement impact was $25.4 million from @&rsoppaproject in 2012 ($7 million in
the fourth quarter 2012).

Bank Term Loan

On March 30, 2012, we amended our Bank $3.0 migsm loan maturing on April 23, 2012. The termraegas increased to $5.0 milli
with an expiration date of July 11, 2013. The faachore floating interest at the one-month LIBCRer according to the Wall Street Journal
plus 500 basis points. Any prepayments made irofulth part were without premium or penalty. A coitment renewal fee of $250,000 was
paid at closing. No restricted cash payments weeglad to be kept on deposit. The term loan is edduy approximately 26,500 numismatic
coins recovered by the Company from theR&publicshipwreck, which amount will be reduced over thentby the amount of coins sold by
the Company. The coins used as collateral arethet&lcustodian for the security of the Bank. Thedwwing base is equal to forty percent
(40%) of the eligible coin inventory valued on ding twelve month wholesale average value. The Gany is required to comply with a
number of customary covenants. This note was redéwauly 2013 with a maturity date of July 2015.

On July 9, 2012, we entered into a project term lagreement with Fifth Third Bank that providedredit facility of up to $10.0 million.
The term loan bore interest at a floating rate etputhe one month LIBOR rate plus 500 basis poiAtsorigination fee of $50,000 was paid at
closing. A restricted cash deposit of $500,000 reasiired to cover interest payments when the tean Is advanced. The term loan was
secured by approximately $15.0 million worth of/eil recovered from the SSairsoppa. The proceeds of the credit facility were usetutal
the project recovery costs. The company took arillion draw against the facility on July 17, 20Me paid the project term loan in October
2012 with proceeds from thi@airsoppaproject.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in off-balance sheet financingrgements. In particular, we do not have any istéreso-called limited purpose
entities, which include special purpose entitieBES) and structured finance entities.

Indemnification Provisions

Under our bylaws and certain consulting agreemevédhave agreed to indemnify our officers and decfor certain events arising as a
result of the officer’s or director’s serving inckucapacity. Separate agreements may provide inifieation after term of service. The term of
the indemnification agreement is as long as thieafor director remains in the employment of tbenpany. The maximum potential amount
of future payments we could be required to makesutitese indemnification agreements is unlimitealwelver, our director and officer
liability insurance policy limits its exposure aadables us to recover a portion of any future artsopaid. As a result of our insurance policy
coverage, we believe the estimated fair value eééhindemnification agreements is minimal and aloilities are recorded for these agreem
as of December 31, 2013.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial posiind results of operations is based upon oundiahstatements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted in the U.S. The preparation @dHinancial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect our fiahposition and results of operations. See NOT#® e Consolidated Financial Statement:
for a description of our significant accountingipigs. Critical accounting estimates are definethase that are reflective of significant
judgment and uncertainties, and potentially reisuthaterially different results under different asgtions and conditions. We have identif
the following critical accounting estimates. We éaliscussed the development, selection and digeladuhese policies with our audit
committee.
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Long-Lived Assets

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $$ilBon of property and equipment and related asg8tr policy is to recognize
impairment losses relating to long-lived assetsdoordance with the ASC topic for Property, Plard BEquipment. Impairment decisions are
based on several factors, including, but not lichitg; management’s plans for future operationgmeoperating results and projected cash
flows.

Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets

We have recorded a net deferred tax asset of Be@mber 31, 2013. As required by the Accountimdrfoome Taxes topic in the ASC,
we have evaluated whether it is more likely thanthat the deferred tax assets will be realizedeaon the available evidence, we have
concluded that it is more likely than not that th@ssets would not be realizable without the regoaed rights of ownership or salvage rights
of high value shipwrecks or the monetization of simeral exploration stakes and thus a valuatiwance of $51.6 million has been
recorded as of December 31, 2013.

Artifact Inventory

The value of recovered artifacts in inventory imtdda the costs of recovery and conservation. Thigatiapd costs include direct costs of
recovery such as vessel and related equipmenttapeand maintenance, crew and technical labet, firovisions, supplies, port fees,
depreciation and may even include fees paid tmsurer to relinquish the insurer’s claim to theorared artifacts. Conservation costs include
fees paid to conservators for cleaning and presgiie artifacts. We continually monitor the re@atdggregate costs of the artifacts in
inventory to ensure these costs do not exceedaheealizable value. We use historical sales, pahitins or available public market data to
assess market value.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

In determining the collectability of our accounteeivable, we need to make certain assumptiongstimdates. Specifically, we may
examine accounts and assess the likelihood ofatmeof particular accounts.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In evaluating fair value of derivative financiabiruments, there are numerous assumptions whichgeament must make that may
influence the valuation of the derivatives as ideld in the financial statements.

Contractual Obligations

At December 31, 2013, the Company’s contractuagatibns including estimated payments due by pesiedas follows:

(Dollars in thousands) Payments due by perioc

Less thar More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Long-term obligations $12,29F $6,63: $566: $ — $ —
Interest on lon-term obligations 744 744 — — —
Operating leas 69¢ 36€ 338 — —
Total contractual obligatior $13,73¢ $ 7,747 $599 $ — $ —

Long-term obligations represent the amount duewreristing mortgages and convertible note as destiabove. The operating lease
represents our vessel charter. The vessel charset to expire on April 30, 2014. We are considgaxtending this vessel charter but have no
done so at this time. The current charter allowsfdensions. If this vessel charter is extendes daily rate would be approximately $14,000.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting frcmanges in interest rates, foreign currency exohaages, commodity prices and equity
prices. We entered into certain hedging arrangesniar2013 to cover the some of the risk in silvécgchanges between the date we reco\
the silver from thésairsoppaand the date it was monetized. These arrangemepitee in 2013 before December 31, 2013. Afterghle of
the Gairsoppasilver in 2013, we do not believe we have matemnatket risk exposure and have not entered intaw@arket risk sensitive
instruments to mitigate these risks or for tradingpeculative purposes.

Our term loan and project loan bear a variableré@sterate based on LIBOR and our primary mortgaggedinterest at a variable rate
based on the prime rate. See NOTE L for furthesitleh these instruments. These instruments expes$e interest rate risk. On our primary
mortgage, for an increase of every 100 basis paduisinterest obligation increases, at most, yraximately $1,000 per month until maturity
in July 2016. On our term loan, an increase of €0 basis points to the interest rate increageiterest obligation, at most, by
approximately $4,000 per month until maturity ifyJ2016. An increase of every 100 basis pointhihterest rate for our project loan
increases our interest obligation by approximas@y100 per month until maturity in July 2014. Ifiacrease to the rates on these instruments
occurs, it will have an adverse effect on our ofiegecash flows and financial condition but we beé it would not be material.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by this item appears beigig on page 29.

ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedure¢

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and proesidesigned to ensure that information we angimed|to disclose in reports that we
file with or furnish to the SEC is recorded, pram summarized and reported within the time perspecified by the SEC. An evaluation \
carried out under the supervision and with theigggtion of the Company’s management, including @hief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)pf the effectiveness of our disclosure controls pratedures as of the end of the period coveretiibyeport
Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO havdued that the Company’s disclosure controls andgaures are effective to ensure that
we are able to collect process and disclose tloerirdtion we are required to disclose in the repegdile with the SEC within required time
periods.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Management’s report on our internal controls ovmairicial reporting can be found in the financiatement section of this report. The
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’ssdétion report on management’s assessment offéedieeness of our internal control
over financial reporting can also be found in timarficial statement section of this report.

There have been no significant changes in the Coyipanternal controls over financial reporting thg the quarter ended December 31
2013 that have materially affected, or are readgritdely to materially affect, the Company’s intex control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information concerning Directors and Executive €Hfis is hereby incorporated by reference to trermmétion under the headings
“Election of Directors” and “Executive Officers afdrectors of the Company” in the Company’s Protst&ment (the “Proxy Statement”) for
the Annual Meeting of Stockholder to be held oneJdn2014.
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The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics thatesptdiall of its employees, including the principaécutive officer, the principal
financial officer and the principal accounting offi. The Code of Ethics and all committee chadezsposted on the Company’s website
(www.shipwreck.net). We will provide a copy of aofjthese documents to stockholders free of chapge vequest to the Company.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is herebyamorated by reference to the information undethiigding “Executive Compensation”
in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

A portion of the information required by this Itggursuant to Item 403 of Regulation S-K is herelmpiporated by reference to the
information under the heading “ Security OwnerstfiCertain Beneficial Owners and Management” inPnexy Statement. The information
required pursuant to Item 201(d) of Regulation &Kereby incorporated by reference to the infoiomatinder the heading “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statetne

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is herebydmorated by reference to the information undetiisding “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is herebydrporated by reference to the information undetidsding “Independent Public
Accounting Firm’s Fees” in the Proxy Statement.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of thisal Report on Form 10-K:

1. (a) Consolidated Financial Statements
See“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” on page 29

(b) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
See“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” on page 29

All other schedules have been omitted becausestidred information is not significant or is incidlin the financial
statements or notes thereto, or is not applici

2. Exhibits

The Exhibits listed in the Exhibits Index, whichpgars immediately following the signature page ianidcorporated
herein by reference, are filed as part of this AairReport on Form -K.

28



Table of Contents

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control dvi@ancial Reporting
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfging

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiimpn on Internal Control over Financial Reporti
Consolidated Financial Statemer

Consolidated Balance She

Consolidated Statements of Inco

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhc Equity/(Deficit)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedt

Schedule I- Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

29

PAGE
30
31
32

33
34
35
36
38

65



Table of Contents

MANAGEMENT’'S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controt émancial reporting for the Company.
With the participation of the Chief Executive Officand the Chief Financial Officer, management cotel an evaluation of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting basadthe framework and the criteria establishethtarnal Control- Integrated Framework,
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission. Based on this evalnathanagement has concluded that
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of December 31, 2013.

The Company’s independent auditor, Ferlita, Walstnzalez & Rodriguez, P.A., a registered publimacting firm, has issued an attestation
report on management’s assessment of internalalanter financial reporting, which is included hiere
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. afbisliaries as of December 31, 2013
and 2012, and the related consolidated statemémsamne, changes in stockholders’ equity (defiaitid cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2013, 20122@h1. Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. and subsgies’ management is responsible for
these consolidated financial statements. Our respitity is to express an opinion on these consttd financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether the congdlitiaincial statements are free of mat
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disds in the consolidated financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing tmiating principles used and significant estimatesle by management, as well as evaluz:
the overall financial statement presentation. Wete that our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries as of @aber 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of tipeiradions and their cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended Decenthet@ 3, 2012, and 2011, in conformity with accaumprinciples generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Odyssey Marine
Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal cohtreer financial reporting as of December 31, 20ds&5ed on criteria establishedmernal
Control—Integrated Framewoliksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report
dated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinio

/sl Ferlita, Walsh, Gonzalez & Rodriguez, F
FERLITA, WALSH, GONZALEZ & RODRIGUEZ. P.A
Certified Public Accountant

Tampa, Florid:

March 7, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries

We have audited Odyssey Marine Exploration, Ind. subsidiaries’ internal control over financial ogjing as of December 31, 2013, based o
criteria established imternal Control-Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (COSO). Odyssey Marine Exploration, Bnd subsidiaries’ management is responsible fantaiaing effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessmerthefeffectiveness of internal control over finahogporting included in the accompanying
Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control dvi@ancial Reporting. Our responsibility is to eegg an opinion on Odyssey Marine
Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal cohtreer financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditndéinal control over financial reporting includdataining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thaaderial weakness exists, and testing and evatyéte design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qdit also included performing such other proceda®s/e considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provide=sagonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
degree of compliance with the policies or procesunay deteriorate.

In our opinion, Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc audbsidiaries maintained, in all material respesgffgctive internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on aitsiablished iinternal Control-Integrated Framewotiksued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgZdSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets and the related consolidated statt®wfeincome, changes in stockholders’ equityi@it}fand cash flows of Odyssey Marine
Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries, and our regated March 7, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinio

/sl Ferlita, Walsh, Gonzalez & Rodriguez, F
FERLITA, WALSH, GONZALEZ & RODRIGUEZ, P.A
Certified Public Accountant

Tampa, Florid:

March 7, 2014
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, n
Inventory

Other current asse

Total current asse

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Equipment and office fixture
Building and lanc

Accumulated depreciatic

Total property and equipme
NON-CURRENT ASSET¢
Inventory

Other noi-current asset

Total nor-current asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY/(DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payabl

Accrued expenses and ott

Deferred revenu

Derivative liabilities

Mortgage and loans payat

Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Mortgage and loans payat

Deferred income from revenue participation ric

Total lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (NOTE

STOCKHOLDER¢ EQUITY/(DEFICIT)

Preferred stock—$.0001 par value; 9,675,200 an@19137 shares authorized, respectively; none
outstanding

Preferred stock series D convertible—$.0001 pawe;al34,800 and 448,800 shares authorized,
respectively; 32,400 and 206,400 issued and outstgnrespectivel’

Common stock — $.0001 par value; 150,000,000 stearérized; 83,882,577 and 75,416,203 issued
and outstandin

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity/(deficit) before nc-controlling interes

Non-controlling interes

Total stockholder equity/(deficit)

Totalliabilities and stockholde’ equity/(deficit)

December 31
2013

December 31
2012

$ 21,322,25 $ 10,096,41
10,685,73 276,90
207,00 2,101,94
314,73 418,92
1,080,36- 874,11
33,610,09 13,768,30
21,995,03 16,781,67
4,756,30 4,708,09,
(16,973,08) (15,038,81)
9,778,25: 6,450,95
5,206,31i 5,574,84.
2,865,94. 1,102,73
8,072,25' 6,677,57
$ 51,460,60 $ 26,896,82
$ 3,4726L $ 1,94855
5,294,421 14,050,84
1,840,40. 2,835,52;
970,82 5,356,20
16,369,58 14,809,73
27,947,84 39,000,85
5,662,221 4,010,941
4,643,75 4,643,75
10,305,97 8,654,69
38,253,81 47,655,55
3 21
8,38¢ 7,54¢
193,272,57 144,446,57
(175,954,13) (165,212,86)
17,326,82 (20,758,72)
(4,120,03) —
13,206,79 (20,758,72)
$ 51,460,60 $ 26,896,82

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2013

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2012

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2011

REVENUE

Artifact sales and othe $ 23,670,26 $ 8,036,65 $ 853,62
Exhibit 112,12¢ 225,00( 207,28¢
Expedition 131,55¢ 4,935,85 14,666,31
Total revenus 23,913,94 13,197,51 15,727,23
OPERATING EXPENSE!

Cost of sale~ artifacts and othe 694,78 235,53 414,99:
Operations and resear 26,024,54 17,941,57 21,288,47
Marketing, general and administrati 14,161,46 10,606,28 9,392,46!
Total operating expens 40,880,80 28,783,39 31,095,93
LOSS FROM OPERATION:! (16,966,85) (15,585,87) (15,368,70)
OTHER INCOME OR (EXPENSE

Interest incom 9,96¢ 24,42( 3,87¢
Interest expens (3,581,64) (6,263,589 (1,155,07)
Change in derivative liabilities fair valt 4,385,38! 3,631,93 4,980,13
Gain on silver fixed price swe 1,206,35! — —
(Loss) from unconsolidated enti — — (4,733,10)
Other 581,54. 9,00z 47,55:
Total other income or (expens 2,601,59 (2,598,23) (856,601)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXE! (14,365,25) (18,184,11) (16,225,30)
Income tax (provision (496,05 — —
NET (LOSS) BEFORE NO-CONTROLLING INTEREST (14,861,30) (18,184,11) (16,225,30)
Non-controlling interes 4,120,03 — —
NET (LOSS) $(10,741,27) $(18,184,11) $(16,225,30)
LOSS PER SHARI

Basic and dilutes $ (19 $ (28  $ (.28)
Weighted average number of common shares outsig

Basic and dilutel 80,128,82 73,889,11 70,179,93

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

Preferred Stock, Series [- Shares
At beginning of yea
Preferred stock converted to comn
At end of yeal
Common Stock— Shares
At beginning of yea
Preferred stock converted to comn
Common stock issued for ca
Common stock issued for settlement of senior cdiblemotes
Common stock issued for servic
At end of yeal
Preferred Stock, Series C
At beginning of yea
Preferred stock converted to comn
At end of yeal
Common Stock
At beginning of yea
Preferred stock converted to comir
Common stock issued for ca
Common stock issued for settlement of senior cdiblemotes
Common stock issued for servic
At end of yeal
Paid-in Capital
At beginning of yea
Accretion of Series G Preferred stc
Fair value of warrants issued to Series G Prefesteck shareholde
Common stock issued for settlement of senior cdiblemotes
Common stock issued for servic
Common stock issued for ca
Shar+-based compensatic
Sale of subsidiary stoc
Purchase of subsidiary sto
Settlement of vendor payable with subsidiary sf
Retained earnings of subsidiary acquisi
At end of yeal
Accumulated Deficit
At beginning of yea
Net loss
Dividends

At end of yeal
Non-controlling Interest

At beginning of yea

Net (loss)

At end of yeal
Total stockholder equity/(deficit)

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

EQUITY / (DEFICIT)

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
206,40 206,40 206,40
(174,000 — —
32,40 206,40 206,40
75,416,20 73,095,38 67,082,83
174,00 — —
4,392,541 511,65( 5,622,001
3,552,35 1,441,01 —
347,47 368,15 390,54¢
83,882,57 75,416,20 73,095,38
$ 21 $ 21 % 21
(18 — —
$ 3 % 21 % 21
$ 754:  $ 7,30¢ $ 6,70¢
18 — —
43¢ 52 562
35E 144 —
35 37 39
$ 8,38t $ 754: % 7,30¢
$ 144,446,557 $137,236,46  $122,722,84
— — (1,987,97)
— — (906,15()
9,279,88 4,262,38: —
— 347 51t —
10,360,89 1,110,41 15,626,63
2,617,27: 1,489,79. 1,781,11
27,500,00 — —
(1,250,00)) — —
625,00( — —
(307,05 — —
$193,27257 $144,44657 $137,236,46
$(165,212,86) $(147,018,75) $(130,277,88)
(10,741,27)  (18,184,11)  (16,225,30)
— (10,000) (515,55()
$(175,954,13) $(165,212,86) $(147,018,75)
$ — $ — $ —
(4,120,03) — —
(4,120,03) — —
$ 13,20679 $ (20,758,72) $ (9,774,96)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfimancial statements.
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss before nce-controlling interes

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (uisedperating activities

Loan fee amortizatio

Note payable interest accreti

Senior convertible debit interest settled with coonnstock issuanc
Shar+-based compensatic

Depreciation and amortizatic

Write down of lon«lived asse

Investment in consolidated ent

Deferred revenue settled with zero basis stockiobosolidated entit
Change in derivatives liabilities fair vali

Loss in unconsolidated enti

Investment in unconsolidated ent

Settlement of vendor payable with subsidiary st
(Increase) decrease

Accounts receivabl

Restricted cas

Inventory

Other asset

Increase (decrease)

Accounts payabl

Accrued expenses and ott

Deferred revenu

NET CASH (USED) IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipm

Proceeds from disposal of Ic-lived asse

NET CASH (USED) IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common st

Proceeds from issuance of loan pay:

Restricted cash held as collateral on loan pay
Purchase of subsidiary sto

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary st

Broker commissions and fees on capital ra
Deferred income from revenue participation ric
Dividends

Redemption of Series G Preferred st

Repayment of mortgage and loans pay:

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT¢

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAF
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Interest paic

Income taxes pai
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12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2013

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2012

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2011

$(14,861,30)  $(18,184,11)  $(16,225,30)
185,11 425,56 272,99
1,961,06 4,120,22 405,46
671,54¢ 349,48 —
2,451,56! 1,489,80 1,551,58!
1,937,64. 1,589,13: 1,892,96'
— — 593,961
(301,09:) — —
(440,05, — —
(4,385,38) (3,631,93) (4,980,13)
— — 4,733,101

— — (4,733,10)
625,00 — —
1,792,261 (1,601,31) (403,85()
(408,82f) 187,67: 282,62
472,71 65,19: 371,35:
(2,042,71) (119,35 (93,110
1,515,69: 832,65: (1,132,45)
(8,684,79) 12,254,10 (541,35()
(555,062 (4,465,86) 2,815,04
(20,066,62) (6,688,75)  (15,190,21)
(4,504,77) (946,190 (973,76
— — 485,00
(4,504,77) (946,190 (488,769
10,361,33 860,48; 15,627,19
10,000,00 19,994,48 10,000,00
(10,000,00) — —
(1,250,001 — —
27,500,00 — —
— (400,00() (545,001

— — 7,512,501

— (10,000 (515,55)

— — (5,757,501
(814,08)  (10,685,39) (2,906,63)
35,797,24 9,759,56' 23,415,00
11,225,84 2,124,62! 7,736,03;
10,096,41 7,971,79. 235,76
$21,32225  $10,096,41 $ 7,971,79
$ 62316( $ 136832 $ 736,01
$ — $ — $ —
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12 Month
Period Endec

December 31

12 Month
Period Endec

December 31

12 Month
Period Endec

December 31

2013 2012 2011

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:

Accrued compensation paid by equity instrume $ 165,74 $ 347,52 $ 229,56¢
Equipment purchased with financi $ 756,79 $ 558,49¢ $ 198,66(
Debt and interest payments with common sh $8,608,69 $4,262,52 $ —
Series G Preferred Stock accret $ — $ — $1,987,97
Series G Preferred Stock convers $ — $ 250,00( $ —
Offset account receivable with subscription paydBkee NOTE J $ — $ — $1,998,80!

Summary of Significant Non-Cash Transactions

During 2013 we transferred 500,000 shares of OcadRéesources, S.R. L. held by our wholly owned islidny Odyssey Marine

Enterprises, Ltd. for $625,000 of marine servidése shares were valued based on the two most reeestctions in Oceanica shares at $1.2!

per share.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetfirancial statements.
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A — ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AC COUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. and subsidiarthe (Company,” “Odyssey,” “us,” “we” or “our”) isregaged in the archaeologically
sensitive exploration and recovery of deep-ocegmwskcks throughout the world. Our corporate headiguis are located in Tampa, Florida.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

This summary of significant accounting policieslod Company is presented to assist in understamdin§inancial statements. The
financial statements and notes are representatfcthe Companys management who are responsible for their integritl objectivity and hax
prepared them in accordance with our customarywattaay practices.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its direct and indivdwlly owned subsidiaries, Odyssey
Marine Services, Inc., OVH, Inc., Odyssey Retriewec., Odyssey Marine Entertainment, Inc., Odysdeayine Enterprises, Ltd., Odyssey
Marine Management, Ltd., Oceanica Marine OperafiBnR.L., and majority interest in Oceanica ResesyS.R.L. and Exploraciones
Oceanicas, S. De R.L. De C.V. Equity investmentsliich we exercise significant influence but do control and of which we are not the
primary beneficiary are accounted for using theitgquethod. All significant inter-company and irttampany transactions and balances hav
been eliminated. The results of operations attaiblet to the non-controlling interest are presemtikin equity and net income, and are shown
separately from the Company’s equity and net incattrébutable to the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, our whllged subsidiary, Odyssey Marine Enterprises,, ismd 24 million cuotas
(shares) of its position in Oceanica Resources,LSfBr $27.5 million in cash to a third-party irstenent group. According to the Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810Gonsolidation, paragraph 810-10-45-23, we have accounted feitthhsaction as an equity transaction.
Therefore, no gain or loss has been recognizedrisdlidated net income or comprehensive income.

Use of Estimates

Management uses estimates and assumptions in g paese financial statements in accordance vétiegally accepted accounting
principles. Those estimates and assumptions dffeateported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, and the reported revenues and expemsasal results could vary from the estimates thate used.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

In accordance with Topic A.1. in SAB 13: Revenue®mition, exhibit and expedition charter reversiesicognized ratably when
realized and earned as time passes throughoubttieact period as defined by the terms of the ages. Expenses related to the exhibit and
expedition charter revenue are recorded as incamedoresented under the caption “Operations asahreh” on our Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Artifact sales and other may also consist of reesmelated to the recovery of shipwreck cargo, susctine bulk silver bullion from the
Gairsoppaproject that exceeds the directly related operadimgjrecovery expenses. We recognize revenue whammplete our contractual
obligation to deliver the silver bullion to the irghg agent, the amount of revenue is reasonatsiyrad based on the London Bullion Market
rates and the bullion is in a format ready for $ale the market. Operating and recovery expensagiied in connection with th@airsoppa
project contract consist of vessel-related expefst@ps’ crew, provisions, port fees and chartgremses), fuel, specialized equipment and
administrative expenses. These expenses are chartfeel Consolidated Statements of Income as ieduand subsequently reimbursed per ou
contract and recorded as a benefit (credit to esgdeim the period we are assured of recoupment.
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Artifact sales and other is where we recognizerdefierevenue related to revenue participation sigie previously sold to an investor.
Upon receipt of funds payable to the investor fairt revenue participation rights, we recognizeeraie based upon the percent of investor-
related proceeds from the sale of silver as a p&age of total proceeds that investor could eadeuthe revenue participation agreement.

Under our agreement with the United Kingdom Governtior theGairsoppaproject, any proceeds from the recovery of the guvent-
owned silver cargo are first applied as a reimbues# to us for search and recovery expenses refatbe project. Any remaining net proce
from the silver owned by the United Kingdom Goveamnare then split 20/80 between the governmentianctespectively. In 2012 and 2013
the proceeds from the silver sales were suffidieritilly reimburse our expenses and to providepneteeds that were split between the two
parties. TheSairsoppaproject revenue recognized by us in 2012 and 28443lted from our share of the net proceeds fronsafe of the
recovered silver bullion that belonged to the Whikéngdom Government. The United Kingdom Governnreithburses us for all of the
expenses incurred by us to recover their silvecotdingly, we applied the expense reimbursemerditcagainst our search and recovery
expenses in the respective years Consolidatedn$tateof Income under the caption “Operating Expen&perations and Research.”

Bad debts are recorded as identified and, from tortene, a specific reserve allowance will be ekshied when required. A return
allowance is established for sales that have a afjreturn. Accounts receivable is stated netryf mecorded allowances.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on handaasidn banks. We also consider all highly liquidestments with a maturity of three
months or less when purchased to be cash equisalent

Inventory

Our inventory principally consists of artifacts o@ered from the SRepublicshipwreck, other artifacts, general branded merdisarand
related packaging material. Inventoried costs obvered artifacts include the costs of recovermseovation and administrative costs to obtair
legal title to the artifacts. Administrative cost® generally legal fees or insurance settlemeasired in order to obtain clear title. The
capitalized recovery costs include direct costhsasvessel and related equipment operations amdenance, crew and technical labor, fuel,
provisions, supplies, port fees and depreciatimng@rvation costs include fees paid to conservédordeaning and preserving the artifacts.
We continually monitor the recorded aggregate coktie artifacts in inventory to ensure these £dst not exceed the net realizable value.
Historical sales, publications or available puldtiarket data are used to assess market value.

Packaging materials and merchandise are recordaceedge cost. We record our inventory at the lavf@ost or market.

Costs associated with the above noted items areosts included in our costs of goods. Vessel astsciated with expedition revenu
well as exhibit costs are not included in cost@ds sold. Vessel costs include, but are not linite charter costs, fuel, crew and port fees.
Vessel and exhibit costs are included in Operatamtsresearch in the Consolidated Statements ofrlacin the case of revenues associated
with theGairsoppaproject, the United Kingdom owned the silver wedsiato the London Bullion Market on their behalfetefore, there was
no associated cost of goods.

Long-Lived Assets

Our policy is to recognize impairment losses rafato long-lived assets in accordance with the Aotiog Standards Codification
(*ASC”) topic for Property, Plant and Equipment.disons are based on several factors, includingnbulimited to, management’s plans for
future operations, recent operating results angepted cash flows.

Comprehensive Income

Securities with a maturity greater than three meifitbm purchase date are deemed available-forasalearried at fair value. Unrealized
gains and losses on these securities are excludedefarnings and reported as a separate compohsioic&holders’ equity. At December 31,
2013, we did not own securities with a maturityagee than three months.
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Property and Equipment and Depreciation

Property and equipment is stated at historical. ddspreciation is provided using the straight-imethod at rates based on the assets’
estimated useful lives which are normally betwédene and ten years. Leasehold improvements aretiaetbover their estimated useful lives
or lease term, if shorter. Major overhaul itemfsas engines or generators) that enhance or etltendseful life of vessel related assets
qualify to be capitalized and depreciated overubeful life or remaining life of that asset, whigbeis shorter. Certain major repair items
required by industry standards to ensure a vessediworthiness also qualify to be capitalized agpteciated over the period of time until the
next scheduled planned major maintenance for thait iAll other repairs and maintenance are accouisteunder the direct-expensing method
and are expensed when incurred.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed byidiyilcome available to common stockholders bywkéeghted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. In psnigden the Company generates income, the Compéowylates basic earnings per share
(“EPS”) using the two-class method pursuant to 280Earnings Per Sharelhe two-class method is required effective withigsiance of
the Senior Convertible Note disclosed in NOTE Lawese the note qualifies as participating secugitsing the holder the right to receive
dividends should dividends be declared on commackstUnder the two-class method, earnings for #réog are allocated on a pro-rata basis
to the common stockholders and to the holders aivEdible Notes based on the weighted average nuofltmmmon shares outstanding and
number of shares that could be converted. The Coyngaes not use the two-class method in periodsithgenerates a loss as the holders of
the Convertible Notes do not participate in losses.

Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution thatudéboccur if dilutive securities and other contgattt issue Common Stock were exerc
or converted into Common Stock or resulted in #sei@ance of Common Stock that then shared in onimeg:. We use the treasury stock
method to compute potential common shares fronkgiptions and warrants and the if-converted methatbmpute potential common shares
from Preferred Stock, Convertible Notes or othenestible securities. As it relates solely to tren®r Convertible Note, for diluted earnings
per share, the Company uses the more dilutiveeoiftbonverted method or twdass method. When a net loss occurs, potentiahtamshare
have an anti-dilutive effect on earnings per slaae such shares are excluded from the Diluted ERSlation.

At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 the weightedsaee common shares outstanding were 80,128,888%312 and 70,179,935,
respectively. For the periods ending December 81322012 and 2011 in which net losses occurrégostntial common shares were
excluded from Diluted EPS because the effect dfiding such shares would be anti-dilutive.

The potential common shares, in the table followihegresent potential common shares calculated)tsatreasury stock method from
outstanding options and warrants that were excldided the calculation of Diluted EPS:

2013 2012 2011
Average market price during the period $ 2.9¢ $ 3.2C $ 2.9¢
In the money potential common shares from optiotueled 146,16:. 275,10: 129,79
In the money potential common shares from warrexttudec 92,36 1,129,97. 959,52:

Potential common shares from out-of-the-money ot@and warrants were also excluded from the cortipataf diluted earnings per
share because calculation of the associated pateonthnmon shares has an anti-dilutive effect. Tlewing table lists options and warrants
that were excluded from diluted EPS.

2013 2012 2011
Out of the money options and warrants exclut
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.25 pers 100,00( — —
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.30 pers — 100,00( —
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.40 pers 100,00( — —
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.43 hare 40,00( — —
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Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.50 [are
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.51 are
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.53 are
Stock Options with an exercise price of $3.90 are
Stock Options with an exercise price of $4.00 are
Stock Options with an exercise price of $5.00 are
Stock Options with an exercise price of $7.00 ere
Warrants with an exercise price of $3.60 per s

Warrants with an exercise price of $4.32 per s

Warrants with an exercise price of $5.25 per s

Total ant-dilutive warrants and options excluded from E

345,00( 245,00( 495,00(

— 959,50( 984,67(

— 194,10( 211,90(
20,00( 20,00( —

52,50( 52,50( 52,50(

— 200,00( 650,00(

— 100,00( 100,00(
1,562,501 1,562,501 —

— — 1,302,08

— 100,00( 100,00(

2,220,601 3,533,601 3,896,15!

2013

2012

Potential common shares from outstanding Convertitseferred Stock calculated per the if-convertesidhaving an anti-dilutive effect
on diluted earnings per share were excluded frotarpial common shares as follows:

2011

Potential common shares from Preferred Stock excddhbm computation of dilute

earnings per sha

Excluded unvested restricted stock awards

Net loss

Accretion of Series G Preferred Stc

Cumulative dividends on Series G Preferred S

Fair market value of warrants issued to Series ékelfied
Stock stockholder

Undeclared cumulative dividends on Series G Prefe8tock
in arrears

Numerator, basic and diluted net loss availabtackholders:
Denominator

Shares used in computati— basic:
Weighted average common shares outstan

Shares used in computati- diluted:

Weighted average common shares outstan

Dilutive effect of options, warrants and convemilmstruments
outstanding

Shares used in computing diluted net loss per ¢
Net loss per shat+ basic and dilute:
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12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

32,40(

2013

206,40(

2012

346,40(

The weighted average equivalent common sharesnglat our unvested restricted stock awards thaewzcluded from potential
common shares used in the earning per share cidcutiue to having an anti-dilutive effect are:

2011

152,02¢

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

177,83(

90,03

The following is a reconciliation of the numeratarsed denominators used in computing basic andediloet income per share:

12 Month
Period Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$(10,741,27)  $(18,184,11)  $(16,225,30)
— — (1,987,97)
— (10,000) (409,03%)
— — (906,15()
— — (5,000

$(10,741,27)

$(18,194,11)

$(19,533,47)

80,128,82 73,889,11 70,179,93
80,128,82 73,889,11 70,179,93
80,128,82 73,889,11 70,179,93
$ 019 $ (028 % (0.2)
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an asseiabitity approach that requires the recognitiordeferred tax assets and liabilities for
the expected future tax consequences attributalldferences between financial statement carrgimgunts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases. A valuation all@eas provided when it is more likely than not thamme portion or the entire deferred tax a
will not be realized.

Stock-based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation is recorded in acnoedaith the guidance in the ASC topic for Stocks®&hCompensation (See NOTE
R).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash, evidenaawfership in an entity, and contracts that botinfj)ose on one entity a contractual
obligation to deliver cash or another financiakinsent to a second entity, or to exchange otmamitial instruments on potentially unfavor:
terms with the second entity, and (ii) conveyshtat second entity a contractual right (a) to ree@i&sh or another financial instrument from th
first entity, or (b) to exchange other financiadtiuments on potentially favorable terms with tingt fentity. Accordingly, our financial
instruments consist of cash and cash equivalectsuats receivable, accounts payable, accrueditiebj derivative financial instruments,
mortgage and loans payable, and redeemable préfsioek. We carry cash and cash equivalents, atepayable and accrued liabilities, and
mortgage and loans payable at the approximaterfaiket value, and, accordingly, these estimates@raecessarily indicative of the amounts
that we could realize in a current market exchalige carry derivative financial instruments at faatue as is required under current accour
standards. We carry redeemable preferred stocikstatisal cost and accrete carrying values to estith redemption values over the term of th
financial instrument.

Derivative financial instruments consist of finaadnstruments or other contracts that containteonal amount and one or more
underlying variables (e.g. interest rate, secypitge or other variable), require no initial netéstment and permit net settlement. Derivative
financial instruments may be free-standing or erdieddn other financial instruments. Further, defxafinancial instruments are initially, and
subsequently, measured at fair value and recorslédhilities or, in rare instances, assets. Se@ R® for additional information. We
generally do not use derivative financial instrutsen hedge exposures to cash-flow, market or oreurrency risks. However, we have
entered into certain other financial instruments eontracts, such as our sale and issuance ofredée preferred stock and freestanding
warrants during October 2010 with features thatedtteer (i) not afforded equity classification,) @mbody risks not clearly and closely related
to host contracts, or (iii) may be net-cash settigdhe counterparty. As required by ASC 815 — {sives and Hedging, these instruments are
required to be carried as derivative liabilitiesfaar value, in our financial statements with cbas in fair value reflected in our income.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The three levels of inputs that may be used to oredsir value are as follows:
Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical aseetiabilities.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssouated prices for similar assets or liabilitiggoted prices in markets with
insufficient volume or infrequent transactions glestive markets), or model-derived valuations ficlv all significant inputs are observable or
can be derived principally from or corroboratednagbservable market data for substantially thetértin of the assets or liabilities. Level 2
inputs also include nohinding market consensus prices that can be coratddwith observable market data, as well as guotiees that wet
adjusted for security-specific restrictions.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology th significant to the measurement of the falugaf assets or liabilities. Level
inputs also include non-binding market consensicepior non-binding broker quotes that we were lentbcorroborate with observable
market data.
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Redeemable Preferred Stock

Redeemable preferred stock (and, if ever, any otftdwemable financial instrument we may enter iig@)itially evaluated for possible
classification as liabilities in instances wherdemption is certain to occur pursuant to ASC 4&listinguishing Liabilities from Equity
Redeemable preferred stock classified as liaksliserecorded and carried at fair value. Redeenaifierred stock that does not, in its entirety
require liability classification is evaluated fanbedded features that may require bifurcation &pdusate classification as derivative liabilities.
In all instances, the classification of the redelsimareferred stock host contract that does natiredjability classification is evaluated for
equity classification or mezzanine classificati@sé&d upon the nature of the redemption featurasei@ky, mandatory redemption
requirements or any feature that could require ceagdbmption for matters not within our controlegpective of probability of the event
occurring, requires classification outside of stualkiers’ equity. Redeemable preferred stock the¢dsrded in the mezzanine section is
accreted to its redemption value through chargssotctkholders’ equity when redemption is probalsieg the effective interest method. See
NOTE Q for further disclosures about our redeemabdéerred stock

Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events for recogmitidisclosure through the date this Form 10-Kléifwith the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

NOTE B — CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

We maintain the majority of our cash at one finahiistitution. From December 31, 2010 to Decen8igr2012, all noninterest-bearing
transaction accounts are fully insured by the Fad@eposit Insurance Corporation, regardless obtiance of the account, at all insured
institutions. At December 31, 2013, our uninsurashcbalance was approximately $31.7 million.

Our term and project loans bear a variable inteststbased on LIBOR and our primary mortgage hieéesest at a variable rate basec
the prime rate. See NOTE L for further detail oesih instruments. These instruments expose usst@gttrate risk. On our primary mortgage,
for an increase of every 100 basis points, ourésteobligation increases, at most, by approximnei&|000 per month until maturity in July
2016. On our term loan, an increase of every 18&h@oints to the interest rate increases ouréstabligation, at most, by approximately
$4,000 per month until maturity in July 2016. Arriease of every 100 basis points to the interéstfoa our project loan increases our interes
obligation by approximately $8,400 per month umtdturity in July 2014. If an increase to the rateghese instruments occurs, it will have an
adverse effect on our operating cash flows andiiz condition but we believe it would not be miatke

NOTE C — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on handmitetl States Treasury Bills maturing in less tharety days from the date of
purchase. At December 31, 2013, we did not ownlmted States Treasury Bills with a maturity of ety days or longer.

NOTE D — RESTRICTED CASH

As required by the original mortgage loan enter¢d with Fifth Third Bank (the “Bank”) on July 12008, $500,000 was deposited into
an interest-bearing account from which principal arterest payments are made. On each anniverf#ng sortgage, we were required to
deposit into the account an amount sufficient tsue@ a balance of $500,000 for principal and istepayments for the subsequent year of the
mortgage. This mortgage loan matured and was estetwdJuly 2016. This new loan calls for a restidatash balance of $400,000 to be fur
annually (see NOTE L). The balance in the restlictesh account is held as additional collaterahleyBank and is not available for operatic
The balance in this account at December 31, 2048,$405,626.

During July 2013, we entered into a $10.0 milligojpct term loan with the Bank (see NOTE L). Thiarht matures in July 2014. Per the
agreement, we deposited, from the loan proceed®),860 into a restricted bank account to coverggpal and interest payments. This accoun
balance is also pledged as additional securityhfedoan. There is no requirement to fund this anti the future. The balance in this account
at December 31, 2013, was $280,106. Also usedlkdearal for this loan is $10 million in restrictedsh from silver monetized from the
Gairsoppaproject during the fourth quarter of 2013. Thesediare held in a separate account with the Bank.
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NOTE E — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The accounts receivable balances at December 28,88 December 31, 2012 were $207,005 and $24DIr@spectively, which are
net of reserves of $5,131,593 and $4,820,593, ctisply. As described in NOTE J, Neptune Miner#is, (“NMI”) completed a 2011 share
exchange with Dorado Ocean Resources, Ltd. (“D@R&reholders which resulted in an executed assighamel assumption agreement,
whereby NMI assumed $8,227,675 of the outstandéaiyy df DOR owed to us. Of the December 31, 2018rvesbalance, $4,631,593 is
allocated to the receivable NMI assumed from DORen$500,000 relates to the convertible note weraéd to NMI during 2013. The
$4,820,593 reserve at December 31, 2012 is foretmaining NMI accounts receivable assumed from D& NOTE J for further details
regarding NMI.

The December 31, 2012 amount of $2,101,941 incléde$70,357 representing revenue related to thaireng silver bullion to be sold
into the London bullion market. We recovered appr@ately 61 tons of silver in 2013 and approxima#®ytons in 2012 from the SS
Gairsoppaand had the silver refined which allowed us to gl silver into Londors bullion market on behalf of United Kingdom Govaent
The “ Gairsoppa”project is discussed at length in ITEM 1 of thisrRdL0-K.

NOTE F — INVENTORY
Our inventory consists of the following:

2013 2012
Artifacts $5,406,18: $5,743,91!
Packaging 85,13: 131,64:
Merchandise 401,07. 485,76
Merchandise resen (371,33) (367,559
Total Inventory $5,521,05! $5,993,76

Based on our estimates of the timing of futuress&$®,206,318 and $5,574,841 of artifact invenforythe fiscal years ended 2013 and
2012 were classified as non-current.

NOTE G — OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Our other current assets consist of the following:

2013 2012
Prepaid expenses $1,025,08: $772,66(
Deposits 55,28: 101,45!
Total other current asse $1,080,36. $874,11!

For the period ended December 31, 2013, prepaidrsgs consisted of $290,260 of prepaid insuraremaipms, $354,627 for vessel fi
not yet consumed, $66,330 of deferred financing,faad $313,866 of prepaid operating costs. Fopéhed ended December 31, 2012,
prepaid expenses consisted of $87,922 of prepaidamce premiums, $396,907 for vessel fuel notgesumed, $205,608 of deferred
financing fees, and $82,223 of other operating aickposts. All prepaid expenses, except fuel, arerized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the underlying agreements. Fuel is expebasdd on actual usage. Deposits are held by \waeiatities for equipment, services, and in
accordance with agreements in the normal courbeisiness.

NOTE H — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following:

2013 2012

Building, improvements and land $ 4,756,30 $ 4,708,09
Computers and peripher: 1,431,78 1,134,42
Furniture and office equipme 1,973,13 1,722,25!
Vessel and equipme 16,772,08 12,195,01
Exhibits and relate 1,818,02 1,729,97

26,751,33 21,489,76
Less: Accumulated depreciati (16,973,08) (15,038,81)
Property and equipment, r $ 9,778,25: $ 6,450,95.
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NOTE | - OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Other long-term assets consist of the following:

2013 2012
Artifacts $1,191,95; $ 557,49
Deposits 1,673,70! 541,59(
Image use rights, n 28C 3,64¢
Total other lon-term asset $2,865,94. $1,102,73!

The artifact balances for both years consist dfaats conserved specifically for the Company arediatended to be held long term by
The 2013 artifacts balance consists primarily oR&publiccoins and silver bullion bars from the &&irsoppasilver recovery and other
artifacts. The 2012 amount consists mainly ofR&publiccoins and other artifacts. Deposits include $432 & account with the United
Kingdom’s Ministry of Defense relating to the experdeposits for HMSussex $100,000 deposit to fund conservation and doctzmien of
any artifacts recovered and $1,187,400 of maringpagent deposits on items that will be fixed asséten received. The HMSussexleposits
are refundable from proceeds the United Kingdomldioeceive if HMSSussexs discovered and its artifacts monetized. If HBI&sexs not
discovered, the Company is at risk for the expelegmsit portion. Other deposits are held by vari@rglors for equipment, services, and in
accordance with agreements in the normal courbeisifiess. Image use rights are amounts paid teeytibr a period up to five years,
copyrighted images in our themed attractions.

NOTE J — INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITY
Neptune Minerals, Inc.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2009, westede$500,000 for a 25% interest (five membershifspin SMM Project, LLC
(“SMM”) to pursue opportunities in the exploratiohdeep-ocean gold and copper deposits. SMM puechasnajority interest in Bluewater
Metals Pty, Ltd. (“Bluewater”), an Australian conmyawith licenses for mineral exploration of approgitely 150,000 square kilometers of
ocean floor in territorial waters controlled by falifferent countries in the South Pacific. In A@#010, SMM was acquired by Dorado Ocean
Resources, Ltd. (“DOR”) through a share exchangehat time, DOR also acquired the remaining irgeie Bluewater. We were issued 450
DOR shares in exchange for our surrendered unB$IM. We also acquired an additional 1,200 shafé&Q@R valued at $2,000,000 that
resulted in a 41.25% ownership of DOR. Under theaseof the Share Subscription Agreement, we hadptien to pay for this investment in
cash, provide marine services to DOR over a thesg-geriod commencing April 2010, or exercise antactual right to offset against the
$2,000,000 marine services accounts receivable dovaed. During 2011, we exercised our contractigditrand offset these two amounts. The
focus of DOR was on the exploration and monetizatibgold- and copper-rich Seafloor Massive Sulfft&\VS”) deposits.

During 2011, we were engaged by Neptune Minerats, 'NMI”) and its affiliates to perform marinerséces relating to deep-sea
mining. The agreements provided for payments ih easl shares of Class B non-voting common sto®k\f. In 2011, we earned 2,066,600
shares of the Class B non-voting common stock fifeese engagements. During this same period, NMbteted a share exchange with DOR
shareholders whereby each one outstanding sh&@®RBfwas exchanged for 1,000 shares of NMI ClassiBvoting common stock. We
received 1,650,000 shares of NMI Class B non-votimgmon stock for our 1,650 DOR shares pursuatitdshare exchange. In connection
with this share exchange, NMI executed an assigharahassumption agreement, whereby NMI assum&@23&75 of the outstanding debt
DOR owed to us. Additionally in 2011, we executedklt conversion agreement with NMI, whereby weveoted $2,500,000 of the debt
owed to us for 2,500,000 shares of NMI Class B woiting common stock. At December 31, 2013, we lawaet share position in NMI of
6,184,976 shares, which represents an approxin®ad&@ownership before any further dilution of thielNstock.

45



Table of Contents

Regarding the debt conversion noted in the pregepiimagraph, NMI's shares were valued at $1.00dbaseheir most recent capital
raise at the time when we executed the debt coioveagreement. Pursuant to that agreement, we deahv$2,500,000 of the debt owed to us
for 2,500,000 shares of NMI Class B non-voting camnmstock. All the $8,227,675 receivable was fudlgerved for in 2010. Thus the
$2,500,000 portion of the debt owed to us had & masis of zero. When we received the 2,500,006eshas settlement of this accounts
receivable, we took the position that the sharesived had a carryover basis of zero until we caolavert the shares to cash. Accordingly, no
gain or loss was recognized in our financial staet® in connection with this transaction.

At December 31, 2013, our share of unrecognized PIIRI) losses is $19.0 million. We have not recagni the accumulated $19.0
million in our income statement because these fosgeeed our investment in DOR (NMI). Our investiieas a carrying value of zero as a
result of the recognition of our share of priordes incurred by NMI under the equity method of aotimg. Based on the NMI and DOR
transactions described above, we believe it isgpate to allocate this loss carryforward of $1&illion to any incremental NMI investment
that may be recognized on our balance sheet irsexafezero. The aforementioned loss carryforwaizhiged on NMI's last unaudited financial
statements as of December 31, 2013. We do notdrawguaranteed obligations to NMI, nor are we afiigr committed to provide financial
support. Even though we were not obligated, duttiregthree-months ended September 30, 2013, weg alith a second creditor, loaned funds
to NMI of which our share is $500,000, and thisebtedness is evidenced by a convertible note.flihiding was not for the purpose of
funding NMI’s prior losses but for current requirents. Per ASC 323-10-35-28dditional Investment After Suspension of Loss gation,
we concluded this loan does not increase our owigersr is to be considered in-substance stocke®as the financial position of NMI at
December 31, 2013, we reserved for this note iaritgety. This note carries an interest rate of@@annum and has a maturity date of
April 26, 2014. The note includes a conversionaptinder which, at any time prior to the paymerfuihof the principal amount, we may
elect to convert all or any portion of the unpaithpipal and accrued and unpaid interest into NMllass-A voting shares. The conversion
price is $20.00 per share if this option is electeéthe note remains unpaid at maturity, thera mandatory conversion clause that sets the
conversion share price at $12.00 per share.

Chatham Rock Phosphate, Ltd.

During the period ended June 30, 2012, we perfortesg-sea mining exploratory services for ChathackRPhosphate, Ltd. (“CRP”)
valued at $1,680,000. As payment for these servieB® issued 9,320,348 of ordinary shares to us.shlares currently represent a 6.5%
equity stake in CRP. With CRP being a thinly tradestk on the New Zealand Stock Exchange and goépar ASC 320Debt and Equity
Securitiegegarding readily determinable fair value, we bedi@ was appropriate to not recognize this am@asran asset nor as revenue during
that period.

NOTE K — DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables summarize the components ofdauivative liabilities and linked common sharesodDecember 31, 2013 and 2012
and the amounts that were reflected in our incagteed to our derivatives for the years then ended:

December 31
2013 2012

Derivative liabilities:
Embedded derivatives derived fro
Senior Convertible Note $ 47,24 $1,529,58:
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc — —

47,24 1,529,58:

Warrant derivative
Senior Convertible Note 840,00( 1,921,009
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc 83,58( 1,905,52
Warrant derivative 923,58 3,826,62!
Total derivative liabilities $ 970,82 $5,356,20:

December 31
2013 2012

Common shares linked to derivative liabiliti
Embedded derivative
Senior Convertible Note 1,729,64 4,247,34.
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc — —

1,729,64 4,247,34.

Warrant derivative
Senior Convertible Note 1,562,50! 1,562,50!
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc 525,00( 2,250,001
2,087,501 3,812,50!

Total common shares linked to derivative liabit 3,817,14 8,059,84.
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Years ended December !

2013 2012
Derivative income (expense
Unrealized gains (losses) from fair value chan
Senior Convertible Note $ 593,00: $1,747,13.
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc — (115,959
Warrant derivative: 1,980,16. 1,071,58:
2,573,16! 2,702,76.
Redemptions of Series G Convertible Preferred S — 393,16t
Redemptions of Senior Convertible No 889,34( 536,00
Exercise of Warrant 922,87! —
Total derivative income (expens $4,385,38! $3,631,93

Our Series G Convertible Preferred Stock and WakFarancing Transaction on October 11, 2010, Séi€xonvertible Preferred Stock
and Warrant Settlement Transaction during April2Cind Senior Convertible Note and Warrant Finapdiransaction on November 8, 2011
gave rise to derivative financial instruments. Agrenfully discussed in NOTE Q, we entered into$legies G Convertible Preferred Stock and
Warrant Financing Transaction and the Series G €xitle Preferred Stock and Warrant Settlement Jaation on October 11, 2010 and
April 14, 2011, respectively. The Series G ContéetPreferred Stock embodied certain terms andfesthat both possessed all of the
conditions of derivative financial instruments amere not clearly and closely related to the hostgsred contract in terms of economic risks
and characteristics. These terms and featuresstaighe embedded conversion option and the kl@@/n-round anti-dilution protection
provision, the Company’s redemption privilege amel holder’'s redemption privilege. Each of the reptom features also embodies the
redemption premium payments. Warrants issued Wwithttansaction and the subsequent Settlement dcdos embodied down-round anti-
dilution protection and, accordingly, were not affed equity classification.

As more fully discussed in NOTE L, we entered itlte Senior Convertible Note and Warrant Financiren$actions on November 8,
2011 and May 10, 2012. The Senior Convertible Netabodied certain terms and conditions that wetelearly and closely related to the
host debt agreement in terms of economic riskschagacteristics. These terms and features corfdise @mbedded conversion options, cel
redemption features and a conversion price reagirie. Warrants issued with this transaction endabdeset price protection and, accordingly,
were not afforded equity classification.

Current accounting principles that are provided8C 815—Derivatives and Hedgingequire derivative financial instruments to be
classified in liabilities and carried at fair valwéth changes recorded in income. In addition,stamdards do not permit an issuer to account
separately for individual derivative terms and teas embedded in hybrid financial instruments thgqtire bifurcation and liability
classification as derivative financial instrumerRather, such terms and features must be bundiedhter and fair valued as a single, compc
embedded derivative. We have selected the Montle Gamulations valuation technique to fair value tompound embedded derivative
because we believe that this technique is refleativall significant assumption types, and randesseumption inputs, that market participants
would likely consider in transactions involving cpound embedded derivatives. Such assumptions iechrdong other inputs, interest risk
assumptions, credit risk assumptions and redempttaviors in addition to traditional inputs fortiop models such as market trading
volatility and risk free rates. We have selecteddBnial Lattice to fair value our warrant derivasveecause we believe this technique is
reflective of all significant assumption types netrRarticipants would likely consider in transantanvolving freestanding warrants
derivatives. The Monte Carlo Simulations technigue level three valuation technique because itireg the development of significant
internal assumptions in addition to observable mirkdicators.
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Significant inputs and results arising from the Mo@arlo Simulations process are as follows foratrmpound embedded derivative that
has been bifurcated from our Senior ConvertibleeNwitd classified in liabilities:

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

Quoted market price on valuation date $2.02 $2.97
Contractual conversion ra $3.17 $3.74
Range of effective contractual conversion r: — —
Contractual term to maturit 0.33 Years 1.33 Years
Implied expected term to maturi 0.33 Years 1.24 Years
Market volatility:

Range of volatilities 47.4%-91.2% 31.3%— 64.03%

Range of equivalent volatilitie 59.9%- 69.9% 38.6%—45.0%
Contractual interest ra 8.0-9.0% 8.0-9.0%
Range of equivalent market risk adjusted interatgts 8.08%-9.08% 9.0%-9.1%
Range of equivalent credit risk adjusted yie 0.67% 0.94%—1.03%
Risk-free rates 0.01%- 0.07% 0.02%-0.16%

The following table reflects the issuances of coomgbembedded derivatives, redemptions and chandas value inputs and
assumptions related to the compound embedded teesaluring the years ended December 31, 2012aha.

Years ended December !

2013 2012
Balances at January 1 $1,529,58: $ 2,680,13:
Issuances

Senior Convertible Note Financil — 1,291,29i
Expirations from redemptions of Series G Convestibl

Preferred Stoc (889,34() (810,669

Changes in fair value inputs and assumptions tefteitr income (593,007 (1,631,179

Balances at December $ 47,24 $1,529,58.

The fair value of the compound embedded derivasisgnificantly influenced by our trading markeige, the price volatility in trading
and the interest components of the Monte Carlo &ition technique.

On October 11, 2010, we also issued warrants toigcd,800,000 of our common shares in connectiitin tive Series G Convertible
Preferred Stock Financing. During April 4-8, 201k issued warrants to acquire 525,000 of our comshanes in connection the Series G
Convertible Preferred Stock and Warrant Settlereamnsaction. Finally, on November 8, 2011, we igswarrants to acquire 1,302,083 of our
common shares in connection with the Senior CoiblerNote Financing Transaction. These warrantsired liability classification as
derivative financial instruments because certainrdoound anti-dilution protection or price protextifeatures included in the warrant
agreements are not consistent with the concepjufye We applied the Binomial Lattice valuatiorch@ique in estimating the fair value of the
warrants because we believe that this technigoei appropriate and reflects all of the assumpttbat market participants would likely
consider in transactions involving the warrants|uding the potential incremental value associatid the down-round anti-dilution
protections.

The Binomial Lattice technique is a level threeuaion technique because it requires the developofesignificant internal assumptions
in addition to observable market indicators. Siigaifit assumptions utilized in the Binomial Lattfmecess are as follows as of December 31,
2013 and 2012:

December 31

2013 2012
Linked common shares — 1,725,00C
Quoted market price on valuation d — $2.97
Contractual exercise ra — $2.4648
Term (years — 0.78
Range of market volatilitie — 33.1%—-49.17Y%
Risk free rates using zero coupon US Treasury 8gcates — 0.02%-0.11%

All remaining warrants linked to 1,725,000 sharesamnmon stock were exercised on October 11, 2013.
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December 31

2013 2012
Linked common shares 525,000 525,00C
Quoted market price on valuation d $2.02 $2.97
Contractual exercise ra $2.3793 $2.4648
Term (years 0.28 1.28

50.1%-88.3% 33.8%— 63.6%
0.01%-0.07% 0.02%— 0.16%

Range of market volatilitie
Risk free rates using zero coupon US Treasury 8gcates

December 31

2013 2012
Linked common shares 1,562,50( 1,562,50(
Quoted market price on valuation d $2.02 $2.97
Contractual exercise ra $3.60 $3.60
Term (years 3.35 4.35

51.1%— 78.2%
0.07%—0.78%

39.2%-— 70.2%
0.05%-— 0.54%

Range of market volatilitie
Risk free rates using zero coupon US Treasury 8gcates

Of the 1,302,083 common shares accessible frorvéneant issued on November 8, 2011, 434,027 oftleosnmon shares were
accessible only based upon the Compsuajection to require the lender to provide thetaatl financing. When the lender provided addit
financing of $8,000,000 on May 10, 2012, the addiil 434,027 of common shares became accessibleaittaindexed to an additional
260,417 were issued in conjunction with the addaidinancing.

The following table reflects the issuances of datiive warrants and changes in fair value inputsasstimptions related to the derivative
warrants during the year ended December 31, 204 2@ih2.

Years ended December :

2013 2012
Balances at January 1 $ 3,826,61! $ 4,653,16!
Issuances
Series G Convertible Preferred Stock Finane — —
Senior Convertible Note Financii — 363,54
Exercises
Series G Convertible Preferred Stock Finan: (922,879 (118,500
Changes in fair value inputs and assumptions teftkinr income (1,980,16) (1,071,58)
Balances at December $ 923,58 $ 3,826,61!

The fair value of all warrant derivatives is sigcéintly influenced by our trading market price, firece volatility in trading and the risk
free interest components of the Binomial Latticehteéque.

NOTE L — MORTGAGE AND LOANS PAYABLE
The Company’s consolidated mortgages and notesbfmgansisted of the following at December 31, 2848 2012:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201

Term loan $ 5,000,001 $ 5,000,001
Project Term loal 10,000,00 —
Face value $10,000,000, 8% Convertible Senior Note

Payable 1,176,07 8,234,36
Face value $8,000,000, 9% Convertible Senior Note

Payable 4,039,441 3,628,77!
Mortgages payabl 1,816,28! 1,957,53

$ 22,031,80 $ 18,820,68
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Term Loan

On May 4, 2011, we amended our revolving credififgavith Fifth Third Bank (the “Bank”) to replaci with a $5.0 million term loan
with a maturity date of April 23, 2012. A principahyment of $2.0 million was due and paid prioAtgust 1, 2011, with the remainder due
maturity. This facility bore a floating interesttae one-month LIBOR rate as reported in\Wall Street Journgblus 500 basis points. Any
prepayments made in full or in part are withoutpiren or penalty. A commitment fee of $250,000 wagl@t closing. Restricted cash
amounts are not required to be kept on deposia éandition to the loan renewal, we were requicedmend the Loan Agreement (mortgage
payable) for our corporate real estate facilityjahmatured on July 11, 2013, whereby we were reguio pay additional principal to meet an
80% loan-to-value (LTV) based upon an independesitestate appraisal. All additional principal payms have been made.

On March 30, 2012, the above term loan was ameadédncreased to $5 million with a maturity dateloly 11, 2013. This facility bore
floating interest at the one month LIBOR rate gsorged in thaVall Street Journgplus 500 basis points. Any prepayments made irofuih
part were without premium or penalty. No restrictegh payments were required to be kept on defisiing July 2013 this term loan was
amended with substantially the same terms thaentlyrexist. This facility also bears floating irget at the one month LIBOR rate as reportec
in theWall Street Journaplus 500 basis points. The new maturity date ig 40lL6. Beginning January 2014, we will be requib@dake semi-
annual payments of $500,000.

The current amended term loan is secured by appaigly 25,000 numismatic coins recovered from t8&8publicshipwreck, which
amount will be reduced over the term by the amaoftiebins sold by the Company. The coins used datechl are held by a custodian for the
security of the Bank. The borrowing base is eqodbtty percent (40%) of the eligible coin inventaalued on a rolling twelve-month
wholesale average value. The Company is requiredntply with a number of customary covenants. Tigeificant covenants include:
maintaining insurance on the inventory; ensurirggdbllateral is free from encumbrances and witlloaitconsent of the Bank, the Company
cannot merge or consolidate with or into any otteporation or entity nor can the Company entay ammaterial debt agreement with a third
party without approval. We were in compliance wathcovenants at December 31, 2013.

Project Term Loan

During July 2013, we entered into a $10.0 millionjpct term loan agreement with Fifth Third BankeTfacility matures on July 24,
2014. This term loan bears interest at a floatatg equal to the one-month LIBOR rate plus 500shaaints. We may make prepayments in
whole or in part without premium or penalty. Angination fee of $50,000 was paid at closing. Arietgtd cash deposit (see NOTE C) of
$500,000 is required to cover interest payments. t€hm loan is secured by $10.0 million that wasetized from silver recovered from the
Gairsoppa. We recovered approximately 1.8 million ouncesitver bullion in total during July 2013 which wanetized during 2013. We
are required to comply with a number of customdfiyraative and negative covenants of which we wiareompliance at December 31, 2013.
The proceeds were used to fund the project recaasts.

Mortgages Payable

On July 11, 2008, we entered into a mortgage loiém Rifth Third Bank. Pursuant to the Loan Agreemere borrowed $2,580,000. The
loan bore interest at a variable rate equal tgtimae rate plus three-fourths of one percent (0.)/p&6 annum. The loan matured on July 11,
2013, and required monthly principal payments smamount of $10,750 plus accrued interest. This Weas secured by a restricted cash
balance (See NOTE C) as well as a first mortgageusrtorporate office building. This loan contairettomary representations and
warranties, affirmative and negative covenantsditams, and other provisions of which we were ampliance during 2013. As of June 30,
2013, the loan balance outstanding was $1,302,000.

During July 2013 when the above noted mortgage redfuve extended it on substantially the same téhnatspreviously existed. The
new maturity date is July 2016. The loan bearsésteat a variable rate equal to the prime rate ffitee-fourths of one percent (0.75%) per
annum. Monthly principal payments in the amoun$d®,750 plus accrued interest are required. This Is secured by a restricted cash bal
(See NOTE C) as well as a first mortgage on oupa@te office building. This loan contains custoyna@presentations and warranties,
affirmative and negative covenants, conditions, @ther provisions of which we were in complianc®atember 31, 2013. As of
December 31, 2013, the loan balance outstandingbiy@¢8,250.
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During May 2008, we entered into a mortgage loathéprincipal amount of $679,000 with The Bank efmpa to purchase our
conservation lab and storage facility. This obligrmthas a monthly payment of $5,080 with a matutaie of May 14, 2015. Principal and
interest payments are payable monthly. Interest &sfixed annual rate of 6.45%. This debt is sedlny the related mortgaged real property
of December 31, 2013, the loan balance outstantlagy$569,036. The seller originally carried a sdomortgage for $100,000 with interest
due monthly and $25,000 of principal due each Maypmencing in May 2009. As of June 30, 2012, thist deas paid in full. The interest was
at a variable rate of 1.0% above the prime intawgststated by BB&T, formerly Colonial Bank of Tpa

Senior Convertible Note
Initial Note

During November 2011, we entered into a securfiigshase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”)ami¢hinstitutional investor
pursuant to which we issued and sold a Senior GtibleeNote in the original principal amount of $Qanillion (the “Initial Note”) and a
warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchase up to 1,302,6B8res of our common stock. Subject to the satisfaof conditions set forth in the
Purchase Agreement, we had the right to requiréntrestor to purchase an additional senior conblertiote in the original principal amount
up to $5.0 million on the six-month anniversarytteé initial closing date (the “Additional Note” ancbllectively “Notes”). Aggregate direct
finance costs amounted to $545,000 of which $45r8@ed to costs of the lender and, accordinggrevincluded in the original issue disca
on the Initial Note.

The indebtedness evidenced by the Initial Notedrrerest at 8.0% percent per year (15% undewuttefanditions, if applicable).
Interest is compounded monthly and payable qusrégrihe beginning of each calendar quarter. ThilMNote is amortized with equal
monthly principal installments of $434,783 that ecoanced on July 8, 2012. Prepayment is not allowadher, the Notes may be converted
into our common stock, at the option of the hol@émny time following issuance, with respect te thitial Note, or at any time following six
months after the date of issuance, with respeitteddditional Note. The initial conversion pricktbe Initial Note was $3.74, subject to
adjustment on the six-month anniversary of théah@losing date as follows: The reset conversinoepapplicable to the Initial Note was to be
adjusted to the lesser of (a) the then currentexsion price and (b) the greater of (i) $1.44 and.10.0% of the market price of our common
stock on the six-month anniversary of the initialsing date (as applicable, the “Conversion Pric&) May 10, 2012 (the six-month
anniversary of the initial closing date), the carsien price applicable to the Initial Note was adgd to $3.17, which represented 110.0% o
market price of Odyssey’s common stock. The coneergrice is also subject to adjustment for stquks stock dividends, recapitalizations,
and similar transactions. We have agreed to pay aaortization payment in shares of our commonkstibcertain conditions are met;
provided, that we may, at our option, elect to pagh amortization payments in cash. The conversitznapplicable to any amortization
payment that we make in shares of our common stdtke the lower of (a) the Conversion Price ahiid price equal to 85.0% of the average
for a ten-day period immediately prior to the apglile amortization date of the volume-weighted agerprice of our shares of common stock

The Initial Note provides for redemption upon tleewrence of an event of default. Default condgiamclude non-servicing of the debt
and certain other credit risk related conditionsefddlt conditions also include certain equity ineiéxevents including failures to file public
information documents, non-conversion or insuffitishare authorizations to effect conversion aiidriato obtain and maintain an effective
registration statement covering the underlying camrshares. The remedies to the investor for evsrdefault include acceleration of
payment at 125% of the remaining face value inaieitircumstances. In the event the default rediemi not paid, the investor would have
the right to elect conversion of the note at amstéjd conversion price approximating 75% of quotarket prices. A change in control would
also result in a redemption requirement at 125%heface value.

The Notes extend no voting rights to the investdimvever, the Notes extend participation rightdiiidend payments, if any, made to
the holders of the Company’s common or other a@issock, except our Series G Preferred Stock.Hidider of the Initial Note elected to
apply some of the payments due on the principarza of the Initial Note to the Additional Note delsed below. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, we issued 3,282,934 shareswhon stock as payment of $8,608,694 in outstangliimgipal. The principal balance of
the Initial Note at December 31, 2013 was $1,394.\80ich is bifurcated on our balance sheet betvaegivative liabilities and mortgage and
loans payable.
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Under the terms of the Warrant, the holder is letito exercise the Warrant to purchase up to 108Xshares of our common stock a
initial exercise price of $4.32 per share, during five-year period beginning on the six-month aarsary of the initial closing date; provided,
that 434,027 shares of our common stock issualia agercise of the Warrant could not be exercisgess the investor purchased the
Additional Note. In accordance with the terms & tiarrant agreement, on May 10, 2012, the exeprise applicable to the Warrant was
adjusted to $3.60 which was the lesser of (a)hiba turrent exercise price and (b) 125.0% of theketgrice of our common stock on the six-
month anniversary of the initial closing date. Ehercise Price is also subject to adjustment fockssplits, stock dividends, recapitalizations,
and similar transactions. We are generally proaibftom issuing shares of common stock upon exedfishe Warrant if such exercise would
cause us to breach our obligations under the nrlesgulations of the stock market on which the e@m stock is traded.

In connection with the financing, we entered integistration rights agreement pursuant to whichagieed to file a registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Comamniggiith the “SEC") relating to the offer and slgthe investor of the shares of common
stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes anéxkecise of the Warrant. Pursuant to the agreemenivere required to file the registration
statement within six months of the initial closidgte and to use best efforts for the registratiatement to be declared effective 90 days
thereafter (or 120 days thereafter if the regigtrastatement is subject to review by the SEC).

Additional Note

On May 10, 2012, we issued the Additional Notehia original principal amount of $8.0 million, arftetnumber of shares of Odyssey’s
common stock issuable upon exercise of the Wamantased to 1,562,500. The Additional Note beaterést at 9.0% per year and will ma
on the 30-month anniversary of the initial closdage. The Additional Note amortizes in equal mgnthstallments commencing on the eighth-
month anniversary of the initial note and may bigl racash or Odyssey common stock. The Additidthate may be converted into Odyssey’s
common stock, at the option of the holder, at &amy following six months after the date of issuaridee conversion rate applicable to any
amortization payment that we make in shares otoormon stock will be the lower of (a) the Convensirice and (b) a price equal to 85.0%
of the average for a ten-day period immediatelgnio the applicable amortization date of the vaduweighted average price of our shares of
common stock. The initial conversion price of theédional Note is $3.74, subject to reset on thdieraof the date the registration statement
registering the offer and sale of the common stesiable under the notes and the warrants becdifieet\ve and a prospectus contained
therein shall be available for the resale by thddroof all of the registrable securities or thesionth anniversary of the additional closing
date. The registration statement was declaredtaféeon July 6, 2012, and there was no reset teadieersion price of the Additional Note.

On January 2, 2013, we entered into an agreemamhémd the terms of the Additional Note. The imstaht payments due December 1,
2012, January 1, 2013 and February 1, 2013 weerréelf until March 1, 2013 and the conversion poicehe Additional Note was decreased
from $3.74 to $3.17. We evaluated the amendmemiact on the accounting for the Additional Notedatordance with ASC 470-50-40-6
through 12 to determine whether extinguishment ating was appropriate. The modification had a dkwsh effect on a present value basis
less than 10% and the reduction in the conversime pesulted in a change in the fair value oféhebedded conversion option that was less
than 10% of the carrying value of the Additionaltlanmediately prior to the modification. Since tmeendment did not result in a substantia
modification, extinguishment accounting was notligpple. The principal balance of the Additionalt@at December 31, 2013 was
$4,086,957 which is bifurcated on our balance shegteen derivative liabilities and mortgage arahbpayable.

Accounting consideration:

We have accounted for the Initial Note, Additiohlite and Warrant issued for cash as a financings#tetion, wherein the net proceeds
that we received were allocated to the financisiriiments issued. Prior to making the accountilugation, we evaluated the Initial Note,
Additional Note and the Warrant for proper clagsifion under ASC 48Distinguishing Liabilities from Equit{*ASC 480") and ASC 815
Derivatives and Hedgin(*ASC 815").

ASC 815 generally requires the analysis embeddeustand features that have characteristics of adévias to be evaluated for
bifurcation and separate accounting in instancemrevtheir economic risks and characteristics atelearly and closely related to the risks of
the host contract. The material embedded derivég¢igires consisted of the conversion option atede@ conversion reset price protection, the
Company’s redemption privilege, and certain redéonptights that were indexed to equity risks. Thawersion option and conversion reset
price protection, along with the redemption feasusearing risks of equity, were not clearly andselg related to the host debt agreement and
required bifurcation. Current
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accounting principles that are also provided in AAG do not permit an issuer to account separ&elydividual derivative terms and featu
that require bifurcation and liability classificati. Rather, such terms and features must be arsllwadled together and fair valued as a sil
compound embedded derivative.

The Warrant has a term of five and one-half yeadsat inception, had an initial exercise price 4f32. The contractual exercise price is
subject to adjustment for both traditional recdjatdion events and was reset on the sixth montiivensary of issuance to $3.60 per share.
Although the warrant did not fall within the scopieASC 480, the warrant required derivative lidgiliccounting because the conversion price
reset protection terms are not consistent withdgfenition for financial instruments indexed to@wpany’s own stock.

Based on the previous conclusions, we allocateddbb proceeds first to the derivative componertsedr fair values (see NOTE K)
with the residual allocated to the host debt canras follows:

Allocation
Initial Note $4,910,86;
Compound embedded derivati 2,989,53
Derivative warrant: 2,054,60.
$9,955,00!

The basis that was subject to allocation includedgross proceeds of $10,000,000, less costs d@fithstor paid out of proceeds that
amounted to $45,000. We also allocated the difeahting costs of $500,000 to the note payabletladierivative components based upor
relative fair values of these financial instrumetts a result of this allocation, $246,653 was rded in deferred costs and $253,347 was
recorded as expense.

Allocation of the cash proceeds related to the Adidal Financing was as follows:

Allocation
Additional Note $6,339,64;
Compound embedded derivati 1,291,29:
Derivative warrant: 363,54
$7,994,48,

The basis that was subject to allocation includhedgross proceeds of $8,000,000, less costs d@fivkstor paid out of proceeds that
amounted to $5,518. We also allocated the direeiniting costs of $400,000 to the note payable lmadéerivative components based upon the
relative fair values of these financial instruments a result of this allocation, $317,201 was rded in deferred costs and $82,799 was
recorded as expense.

The financing basis allocated to the notes payahtethe deferred asset arising from direct finarusts are subject to amortization with
periodic charges to interest expense using theteféeinterest method. Amortization of these cormgrds included in interest expense during
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 amoton$2146,182 and $4,545,781, respectively. Amatitbn during the year ended
December 31, 2012 included $223,783 representmglifference between the portion of the AdditioNate which was redeemed and its
carrying value. The derivative components are suiltfere-measurement to fair value at the end offi @aporting period with the change
reflected in income. See NOTE K for information abour derivatives.

Long-Term Obligation Maturities :

More than !
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 years
Long term obligations $12,294,54 $6,632,320 $1,671,27. $3,990,95 $— $— $ —
Operating lease 744,18t 744,18t — — — — —
Interest on obligation 699,79: 366,29! 233,75 99,74( — — —
Total obligations $13,738,52 $7,742,80. $1,905,03. $4,09069 $— $— $ —
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Long-term obligations represent the amount duewregisting mortgages and convertible note as destiabove. The operating lease
represents our vessel charter. The vessel charset to expire on April 30, 2014. We are considgsxtending this vessel charter but have no
done so at this time. The current charter allowsfdensions. If this vessel charter is extendes daily rate would be approximately $14,000.

NOTE M — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

2013 2012
Compensation and bonuses $1,610,35 $ —
Customer deposit 22,08: 82,17¢
Project proceeds payat 1,325,12; —
Revenue participation distribution paya — 12,506,75
Vessel operation 1,394,67! 926,64
Professional service 222,27 335,74¢
Income tax provisiol 496,05! —
Other operating 223,85¢ 199,51«
Total accrued expens $5,294,42 $14,050,84

Vessel operations relates to expenditures reqtiregerate our ships such as fuel, repair and er@amice, port fees and charter related.
Professional fees are mainly attributable to Iégas and related and other professional servicssgport of operations. Other operating
expenses contain general items related to, butmidéd to marketing, insurance and the exhibit.discussed in the Revenue Recognition and
Accounts Receivable of NOTE A, the United Kingdomv@rnment is to receive 20% of available procedi#s aur reimbursement of search
and recovery expenses. The Project proceeds paygirtesents a share of the United Kingdom Govertisi20%. See NOTE P for 2012's
Revenue participation distribution payable. See E@Tfor detail on the income tax provision.

NOTE N — DEFERRED REVENUE

Since 2009, we entered into several marine seamiices contracts associated with the Robert Ard&ieine, Ltd. projects. For each
contract, revenue is recognized over the contraper@od when services are performed as defineth&yontract. The period of time a search
project remains active varies but usually extenas several months and may be accelerated or eadesiebpending upon operational factors
December 31, 2013, we have a $1,840,404 servidgatioih on one service contract that will be redngd as revenue over the period of time
the contractual services are provided. At DecerBlie2012, we had a $2,835,522 service obligatiotwanservice contracts that will be
recognized as revenue over the period of time diméractual services are provided. For the yearse@imecember 31, 2013 and 2012, we
earned charter expedition revenue, exclusive ofée of research, of $115,009 and $709,618, réspBc relating to these contracts. During
2013 one of the service contracts remaining thdtehdeferred balance of 995,117 was terminatedh@®service liability remaining $440,054
was settled with cash, $440,054 was settled with kasis shares we held in NMI. These shares weneferred to the customer and $115,009
became revenue when the final balance of the sehability was mutually agreed to. The $440,054ttvas settled with our zero basis shares
held in NMI is recorded in Other Income within dCionsolidated Statements of Income.

NOTE O — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On December 9, 2002, a Georgia limited liabilityngany acquired rights from an unrelated third p#itgugh a foreclosure sale to
receive 5% of podfinance cost proceeds, if any, from shipwrecks #wmay recover within a predefined search aregheoMediterranean Se
The shipwreck we believe to be HMBSissexs located within this search area. Two of ouradfs and directors at the time owned a 58%
interest in the limited liability company until theold their interests to an unrelated third part2005. If, at any time, Odyssey is forced to
cancel or abandon the project due to politicalfetence, the officers may be required to buy kthelr interests.
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NOTE P — REVENUE PARTICIPATION RIGHTS
The Company'’s participating revenue rights condistiethe following at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31 December 31

2013 2012
“ Cambridge’ (now “HMS SusseX) project $ 825,00( $ 825,00(
“ Republic” (now" Seattle”) project 62,50( 62,50(
Galt Resources, LLt 3,756,25I 3,756,25I
Total participating revenue righ $4,643,75! $4,643,75!

We previously sold Revenue Participation Certifisaf'RPCs”) that represent the right to share nfoture revenues derived from the
Cambridgé€’ project, which is now referred to as the HN8sseshipwreck project. We also sold RPCs related tmgpt formerly called the
“ Republic” project which we now call theSeattle’ project. The “Seattle’ project refers to a shipwreck which we have nettlpcated. The “
Cambridge”RPC units constitute restricted securities.

Each $50,000 convertibleCambridge”RPC entitles the holder to receive a percentaglkeofross revenue received by us from the “
Cambridgé€’ project, which is defined as all cash proceedsapée to us as a result of th&€ambridge” project, less any amounts paid to the
British Government or their designee(s); providealyever, that all funds received by us to finarmeeproject are excluded from gross revel
The “Cambridge’ project holders are entitled to 100% of the f825,000 of gross revenue, 24.75% of gross revinoe$4 - 35 million,
and 12.375% of gross revenue above $35 million ge¢ee by the project.

In a private placement that closed in Septembe®2@@ sold “units” consisting of Republic” Revenue Participation Certificates and
Common Stock. Each $50,000 “unit” entitled the leolth 1% of the gross revenue generated by Sesttle’ project (formerly referred to as
the “Republic’ project), and 100,000 shares of Common Stocks&revenue is defined as all cash proceeds paabkeas a result of the “
Seattle’ project, excluding funds received by us to finartiee project.

The participating rights balance will be amortizedtler the units of revenue method once managereaneasonably estimate potential
revenue for each of these projects. The RPCs &t @ambridge’ and “ Republic” projects do not have a termination date, thereftese
liabilities will be carried on the books until reuge is recognized from these projects or we pernthnabandon either project.

In February 2011, we entered into a project syniinaleal with Galt Resources LLC (“Galt”) for whit¢hey invested $7,512,500
representing rights to future revenues of any angept Galt selected prior to December 31, 201thdfproject is successful and generates
sufficient proceeds, Galt will recoup their investmplus three times the investment. Galt’s investimeturn will be paid out of project
proceeds. Galt will receive 50% of project proceeds this amount is recouped. Thereafter, thely stiare in additional net proceeds of the
project at the rate of 1% for every million invekt&ubsequent to the original syndication dealreeehed an agreement permitting Galt to
bifurcate their selection between two projects, 386 airsoppaand HMSVictory with the residual 1% on additional net proceedgjassl to
the HMSVictory project only. The bifurcation resulted in $3,75&2fing allocated to each of the two projects. &foee, Galt will receive
7.5125% of net proceeds from the HMtory project after they recoup their investment of $8,250 plus three times the investment. Galt
was paid in full in the amount of $12,506,755 dgrihe first quarter of 2013 for their remaining haf theGairsoppaproject investment.
There are no future payments remaining to GaltfeGairsoppaproject nor will they receive or have they receiegy further distributions
from theGairsoppaproject proceeds. Based on the timing of the prdgearmarked for Galt, the relative correspondmgunt of Galt's
revenue participation right of $3,756,250 was ammed into revenue in 2012 based upon the perce@atifrelated proceeds from the sale of
silver as a percentage of total proceeds thatéaaited under the revenue participation agreeméstrsllion).

NOTE Q — REDEEMABLE SERIES G PREFERRED STOCK

During October 2010, we designated and issued @¢#slof our authorized preferred stock as Seri8%Gonvertible Preferred Stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series G Prefgras further discussed below. In April 2011 anctgber 2011, we redeemed 3 and 20
shares, respectively, from certain holders of theeS G Preferred for cash of $757,500 and $5,865 fespectively, under the terms and
conditions of the Series G Preferred Certificat®esignation. At the time of redemption, the cargyvalue of these shares of Series G
Preferred amounted to $558,926 and $5,000,000ec&sply. We recorded the difference between temgption values paid and the carrying
values amounting to $198,574 and $65,556, respgtias a deemed dividend in paid-in capital. S@d'R K for our accounting for the
associated compound embedded derivative that herdiifircated and classified in liabilities. Duridgly 2012, the remaining 1 share of
Series G Preferred was converted into 140,000 sledreommon stock. There are no cumulative dividendarrears.
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Significant terms and conditions of the Series &f¢red were as follows:

Dividends. The holders of the Series G Preferred were gépenmatitled to receive cash dividends at a rat§2,000 per share per year
(or 8%), payable semi-annually on April 1 and Oetob of each year, commencing April 1, 2011. Theddinds were cumulative and accrued,
whether or not earned or declared, from and dfiedate of issue.

Liguidation Preference In the event of any liquidation, dissolution,vanding up of Odyssey’s affairs, each holder of wies G
Preferred then outstanding would be entitled teikex; before any payment or distribution would bedeon Odyssey’s common stock or any
capital stock of Odyssey ranking junior to the 816 Preferred as to the payment of dividendsendistribution of assets, an amount per s
of Series G Preferred equal to the sum of (a) $Z8Dplus (b) any accrued but unpaid dividends.

Voting Rights. The holders of Series G Preferred were entitieohie vote for each share of common stock into lwttie Series G
Preferred was convertible and were entitled toceotif meetings of stockholders. The holders ofeéSe@ Preferred were be entitled to vote as
separate class with respect to certain matters.ederyno holder could exercise its voting rightdafng so would result in the holder
beneficially owning in excess of 9.9% of the outsiag common stock, unless waived by the holder.

Conversion Rights At any time on or after April 15, 2011, any haladéd shares of Series G Preferred could convertaarafl of the
shares into shares of common stock. Each sharer@sSG preferred was convertible into the numieshares determined by dividing
$250,000 by $1.785714, which was the conversiotepithe number of shares of common stock issugdala conversion of the Series G
Preferred was subject to adjustment in certain tsyas discussed in the next paragraph.

Adjustments to Conversion Rightdf Odyssey paid a dividend or made a distributiorits common stock in shares of common stock,
subdivided its outstanding common stock into a gre@umber of shares, or combined its outstandimgnaon stock into a smaller number of
shares, or if there was a reorganization, or a ereygconsolidation of Odyssey with or into anyestentity which resulted in a conversion,
exchange, or cancellation of the common stock, sale of all or substantially all of Odyssey’s @ssthen the conversion rights described
above would have been adjusted appropriately scetieh holder of Series G Preferred would havevedehe securities or other considera
the holder would have received if the holder's &6 Preferred had been converted before the hiqgpefthe event. The conversion price in
effect from time to time was also subject to dowrthadjustment if we issued or sold shares of comsatock for a purchase price less than the
conversion price or if we issued or sold sharevedible into or exercisable for shares of commimtls with a conversion price or exercise
price less than the conversion price for the SeBi€xeferred.

Limitations Upon Conversion RightsNo holder could convert shares of Series G Predief such conversion would result in the holder
beneficially owning in excess of 9.9% of the outsiag common stock, unless waived by the holdeaddition, we would not issue any she
of common stock upon conversion of shares of S&i€seferred if the issuance of such shares of comstock would exceed the aggregate
number of shares of common stock that we may igpoa conversion of all outstanding shares of S&@i&seferred and the outstanding
warrants offered hereby without breaching our d@ilans under the listing rules of the NASDAQ Stddarket relating to stockholder approval
of certain issuances of securities.

Redemption Odyssey had the option to redeem the Series farRed, in whole or in part, at any time after Deter 15, 2010 at a
redemption price of 100% of the liquidation valG@mmencing after March 31, 2011, the redemptiocepniould increase 1.0% each month
without cap. Each holder will had the option touieg Odyssey to redeem the Series G Preferredhalenor in part, at any time after
December 15, 2011 at a redemption price commeratii§9% of the liquidation value, which increas€@Pd each month without cap such
that, after December 15, 2011, the holder’'s andsely's redemption prices will equal. In either cdlse redemption price to be paid by
Odyssey for each share of Series G Preferred wamittie redemption prices referred to above plusiadcdividends. There was no sinking
fund requirement for redemption of the Series Gaured stock.

On October 11, 2010, we issued (i) 20 shares 0éS& Preferred, plus warrants to purchase 1,58008res of our common stock for
cash of $5,050,000 and (ii) 4 shares of Seriese®eRed, plus warrants to purchase 270,000 sh&ms @ommon stock to settle certain
promissory notes with a carrying value of $928,48%. have accounted for the Series G Preferred amchnts issued for cash as a financing
transaction, wherein the net proceeds that wevedeiere allocated to the financial instrumentaésls We have accounted for the Series G
Preferred and warrants issued in settlement optbmissory notes as an exchange, wherein we haveded the financial instruments issue
their fair values and extinguished the promissartes resulting in an extinguishment loss.
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The following table summarizes the allocation facle of these transactions as of October 11, 2010:

Financing Exchange Total
Redeemable preferred stock (1) $2,747,47 $ 888,99 $3,636,47.
Compound embedded derivatives 1,389,11. 261,31 1,650,43:
Warrant derivatives (2 913,41( 161,19( 1,074,601
Extinguishment los — (383,02) (383,02)

$5,050,00 $ 928,48 $5,978,48.

(1) The fair value of the redeemable preferredisteas estimated based upon its forward cash fldueyat a credit-risk adjusted market
interest rate, as enhanced by the fair value o€timversion feature. Credit-risk adjusted ratesl ugaliscount the cash flow component
ranged from 3.98% to 4.89% over our estimated denaedemption, which was October 2013. The falug of the conversion feature
reflected in the compound embedded derivativedinte table

(2) See NOTE K for information related to the vaioa of these financial instruments both on theepton date of the transactions and at
December 31, 201:

Prior to making the above accounting allocation,eweluated the Series G Preferred and the warfanpsoper classification under ASC
480 - Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and £3815 - Derivatives and Hedging.

Series G Preferred:

ASC 480 generally requires liability classificatifor financial instruments that are certain to ééeemed, represent obligations to
purchase shares of stock or represent obligatmisstie a variable number of common shares. Wduded that the Series G Preferred was
not within the scope of ASC 480 because none offtteee conditions for liability classification wpsesent.

ASC 815 generally requires the analysis embeddeustand features that have characteristics of dtvies to be evaluated for
bifurcation and separate accounting in instancemrevtheir economic risks and characteristics atelearly and closely related to the risks of
the host contract. However, in order to perforns timalysis we were first required to evaluate twemic risks and characteristics of the
Series G Preferred in its entirety as being eigtikém to equity or akin to debt. Our evaluation daded that the Series G was more akin to a
debt-like contract largely due to the fact thatfihancial instrument is mandatorily redeemabledash at the option of the holder and has a
return in the form of a dividend that operates Eny with an interest rate on debt. Other featwkthe Series G Preferred that operate like
equity, such as the conversion option and votiaduie, did not afford sufficient evidence, in oigw, to offset the weight of the primary debt-
like features; that is, the redemption feature theddividend feature. Accordingly, based upon teisclusion the clear and close relationship o
embedded derivative features was made relatived&bglike contract.

The material embedded derivative features considtéte conversion option and related down-rountit@itution protection, the
Company’s redemption privilege, and the holderteraption privilege. The conversion option and edadntidilution protection, bearing risl
of equity, were not clearly and closely relatedh® debt-like Series G Preferred and required téfiion. The redemption features, although
generally bearing risks of debt, such as creditiatatest risk, were not clearly and closely ralai®the Series G Preferred because the Se
Preferred was deemed to be issued at a substdisttalint and there are scenarios, however imprel@atlemote, that the redemption features
as designed could double the investor’s initiag @treturn. Current accounting principles thatas® provided in ASC 815 do not permit an
issuer to account separately for individual denxaterms and features that require bifurcation laatulity classification. Rather, such terms
and features must be and were bundled togethefiagndhlued as a single, compound embedded deriati

Redeemable preferred stock represents preferrek ttat is either redeemable for cash on a speddfie or contingently redeemable for
cash for events that are not within the contrahahagement. Redeemable preferred stock is rectoieel classified outside of stockholders’
equity (in the mezzanine section). Because theeS&iPreferred was redeemable at the holder’'sroptie were required to record the residua
from our allocation to the mezzanine section. Hmount was further subject to accretion to themgaton value over the term to the earliest
redemption date using the effective method. Thé&eS& Preferred was fully accreted to its redenmptialue during the period from inception
to April 2011.
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Warrants:

The warrants issued in the financing and excharagesactions have terms of three years and an sgeuaice of $2.50. The contractual
exercise price is subject to adjustment for badditional recapitalization events and sales of comistock or other common stock linked
contracts below the contractual exercise price.[&tier is referred to as down-round anti-dilutfmotections. The warrants did not fall within
the scope of ASC 480 under any of the three cantditreferred to above. However, the warrants reduderivative liability accounting becai
certain down-round anti-dilution protections anerte that are not consistent with the definitionffoancial instruments indexed to a company’
own stock.

In November 2012, the exercise price of the wasrégggued in connection with the Series G Convertityeferred Stock adjusted from
$2.50 to $2.4648 when we issued common stock@werlprice. The reduction in exercise price resliltean increase in the fair value of the
warrants of approximately $106,000. 525,000 wagaginain at December 31, 2013. These warranteate expire in April 2014.

NOTE R — STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY/(DEFICIT)
Common Stock

In 2013, we issued 3,552,357 shares of common stadked at $9,279,887, representing payment focjwal and interest on our Initial
Note and Additional Note as described in NOT

During the three-month period ended December 313 2@e issued 1,725,000 shares of common stodkd@tcredited investors upon
conversion of 1,725,000 outstanding warrants aasetiwith the Series G Convertible Preferred Stock.

During the three-month period ended March 31, 20i8issued 2,010,500 shares of common stock t@dited investors upon exercise
of their outstanding warrants.

During 2012, we issued 1,441,013 shares of comrumk svalued at $4,262,528, representing paymerriacipal and interest on our
Initial Note and Additional Note as described in NOL.

During the three-month period ended September @2 2ve issued 287,500 shares of common stockutoaftcredited investors upon
exercise of 287,500 outstanding warrants. We aks@eid 140,000 shares of common stock for the csioveof 1 share of Series G Convertible
Preferred Stock and 8,900 shares of common stogk the exercise of stock options from the emplasteek incentive plan.

Convertible Preferred Stock

We have 32,400 shares of Series D Convertible Reef&Stock issued and outstanding. Series D isextible into common stock at a
ratio of 1 to 1. The liquidation preference fori8em is $3.50 per share of common stock into witiehSeries D could then be converted.
There are no other rights attached to these cdbleemstruments.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have one active stock incentive plan, the 2@06k3ncentive Plan. The 1997 Stock Incentive Rigpired on August 17, 2007. As of
that date, options could no longer be granted fiiweth Plan but any granted and unexercised optionsried to exist until exercised or they
expired. As of December 31, 2013 all outstandingoog in the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan have expifda 2005 Stock Incentive Plan
provides for the grant of incentive stock optiomsn-qualified stock options, restricted stock avgardstricted stock units and stock
appreciation rights. We initially reserved 2,50@ @3 our authorized but unissued shares of comrtak$or issuance under the Plan, and, at
the time the Plan was adopted, not more than 50@0these shares could be used for restrictedk stavards and restricted stock units. On
January 16, 2008, the Board of Directors approvedraiments to the Plan to add 2,500,000 shareswhon stock to the Plan, to allow any
number of shares to be used for restricted stoeckdsyto clarify certain other provisions in thaiPand to submit the amended Plan for
stockholder approval. The amended Plan was appratvih@ annual meeting of stockholders on May ©82®@n June 3, 2010, the
shareholders’ approved an amendment to the 20@k Stoentive Plan which resulted in the
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addition of 3,000,000 shares of common stock tdPlae. Any incentive option and non-qualified optigranted under the Plan must provide
for an exercise price of not less than the fairketvalue of the underlying shares on the dateaarfitybut the exercise price of any incentive
option granted to an officer, director or eligilelemployee owning more than 10% of our outstandingroon stock must not be less than 110%
of fair market value on the date of the grant.

Share-based compensation expense recognized d@mgriod is based on the value of the portioshafrebased payment awards tha
ultimately expected to vest. As share-based congti@msexpense recognized in the statement of dpesais based on awards ultimately
expected to vest, it can be reduced for estimatddifures. The ASC topic Stock Compensation rexguforfeitures to be estimated at the time
of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequengs if actual forfeitures differ from those esdies.

The share based compensation charged against irfootie periods ended December 31, 2013, 20128ad was $2,582,009,
$1,657,800 and $1,796,628, respectively.

The weighted average estimated fair value of stgtlons granted during the fiscal years ended Déeerd1, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were
$1.42, $1.45 and $2.74, respectively. These amauerts determined using the Black-Scholes opfidoing model, which values options ba
on the stock price at the grant date, the expdiftedf the option, the estimated volatility of tktock, the expected dividend payments, and th
risk-free interest rate over the life of the optidihe assumptions used in the Black-Scholes modes was follows for stock options granted in
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 41-1.28% .39-.67% 1.51-1.89%
Expected volatility of common stoc 59.2-68.2% 65.5-71.6% 69.(-70.0%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Expected life of option 3.C-4.1 year 3.C-4.1 year 3.C-4.1 year

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was dewetdbfor estimating the fair value of traded optitms have no vesting restrictions
and are fully transferable. Because option valmatimdels require the use of subjective assumptmranges in these assumptions can
materially affect the fair value of the options.r@ptions do not have the characteristics of tramjgttbns; therefore, the option valuation
models do not necessarily provide a reliable meagtithe fair value of our options.

Additional information with respect to both planeck option activity is as follows:

Weighted Average

Number of

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 3,537,23! $ 3.7¢
Grantec 633,83! $ 2.7¢
Exercisec — $ —
Cancellec (771,66¢) $ 3.5C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,399,40! $ 3.7¢
Grantec 771,96¢ $ 2.8t
Exercisec (15,150 $ 2.61
Cancellec (736,070 $ 4.4%
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,420,15: $ 3.31
Grantec 1,233,822 $ 2.9¢
Exercisec (204,50() $ 2.2¢
Cancellec (1,453,601 $ 3.61
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 2,995,871 $ 3.31
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 2,926,93 $ 3.7¢
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 2,754,22 $ 3.4
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 2,118,90. $ 2.9
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The aggregate intrinsic values of options exertestdy the fiscal years ended December 31, 20182 2Md 2011 were $16,450, $371,
and $133,750, respectively. The aggregate intriveliges of options outstanding for the fiscal yearded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
were $16,450, $524,500 and $169,500, respectifély.aggregate intrinsic values of options exercthgthg the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are $183,0004#.4nd $0, respectively, determined as of the afatee option exercise. Aggregate
intrinsic value represents the positive differebhetwveen our closing stock price at the end of paetsve period and the exercise price
multiplied by the number of relative options. Théat fair value of shares vested during the fisegrs ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011 was $1,498,040, $832,177 and $1,145,112, cteply.

As of December 31, 2013, there was $1,203,599af tmrecognized compensation cost related to uedeshare-based compensation
awards granted to employees under the option pldret. cost is expected to be recognized over ameilgaverage period of 1.83 years.

The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding at December 31, 2013:

Stock Options Outstanding

Weighted Average Weighted

Number of Remaining Average

Range of Shares Contractual Exercise
Exercise Price Outstanding Life in Years Price

$1.74 - $2.74 1,344,55. 2.t $ 2.6¢

$2.89- $4.00 1,651,32. 3.3¢ $ 3.1:

2,995,87! 2.94 $ 2.9:

The estimated fair value of each restricted stachrd is calculated using the share price at the dbthe grant. A summary of the status
of the restricted stock awards as of December @13 2nd changes during the year ended Decemb@2033,is presented as follows:

Weighted Average

Number of
Grant Date Fair
Shares Value

Unvested at December 31, 2012 178,80 $ 2.7¢
Grantec 411,38: $ 2.8¢
Vested (402,06!) $ 2.81
Cancellec — $ —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 188,12! $ 2.8¢

The fair value of restricted stock awards vestetihduhe years ended December 31 2013, 2012 antl\284 $854,861, $1,286,257 and
$1,329,573, respectively. The fair value of unvesestricted stock awards remaining at the pergoited December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
is $380,013, $514,964 and $300,139, respectivdig.Weighted-average grant date fair value of istlistock awards granted during the
periods ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011$2e88, $3.91 and $2.67, respectively. The weightegtage remaining contractual term
of these restricted stock awards at the periode@iécember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are 1.2, #1.Q.8ryears, respectively. As of
December 31, 2013, there was a total of $525,4@0dcognized compensation cost related to unvesttdated stock awards.

The following table summarizes our common stockramts outstanding at December 31, 2013:

Common Stocl

Warrants Exercise Prict Termination Dat¢
525,00( $2.44 4/13/2014
1,562,50( $3.60 11/9/201€
2,087,50(C
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NOTE S — INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2013, we had consolidated inciax@et operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards fediral income tax purposes of
approximately $108,547,933. The federal NOL camyfrds from 1998 forward will expire in various yg#eginning in 2018 and ending
through the year 2032. For 2013, approximately %24.,748 of federal NOLs from the years 1998 — 2005be fully utilized. From 2023
through 2028, approximately $43 million of the N@ill expire, and from 2029 through 2032, approxietats65 million of the NOL will
expire.

The components of the provision for income taxen@its) are attributable to continuing operatiaagollows:

12 Month 12 Month 12 Month
Period Endec Period Endec Period Endec
December 31 December 31 December 31
2013 2012 2011
Current
Federa $ 481,05 $ $
State 15,00(
Foreign —
$ 496,05 $ $
Deferred
Federa $ — $ $
State —
Foreign —
$ — $ $

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effetth@temporary differences between the carryinguams of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts ugethfome tax purposes. Significant componenthi@f@ompany’s deferred tax assets and

liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwe $42,412,63
Capital loss carryforwar 385,18t
Accrued expense 62,67
Deferred revenu 644,36
Reserve for accounts receiva 2,048,10!
Reserve for inventory retu 130,01:
Stock option and restricted stock awa 907,47¢
Star-up costs 107,15¢
Excess of book over tax depreciat 1,428,41
Investmen— unconsolidated entit 3,687,311l
Less: valuation allowanc (51,625,15)
188,17:
Deferred tax liability:
Prepaid expenst 118,86(
Property and equipment ba 69,312
188,17:
Net deferred tax ass $ —
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As reflected above, we have recorded a net deféaredsset of $0 at December 31, 2013. As reqliyettie Accounting for Income
Taxes topic in the ASC, we have evaluated whethismnore likely than not that the deferred taxetssvill be realized. Based on the available
evidence, we have concluded that it is more lilklen not that those assets would not be realizaitf®ut the recovery and rights of owners
or salvage rights of high value shipwrecks or sattsl profits from our mining operations and tlaugaluation allowance has been recorded a
of December 31, 2013.

The change in the valuation allowance is as follow:

December 31, 201 $51,625,15 December 31, 201 $57,901,52
December 31, 201 $57,901,52 December 31, 201 $52,515,79
Change in valuation allowan $(6,276,36) Change in valuation allowan: $ 5,385,73.

Income taxes for the twelve month periods endecebdser 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 differ from the artoomputed by applying the
effective income tax rate of 34.0% to income taxgs result of the following:

12 Month
Period Ended

December 31

12 Month
Period Ended

December 31

12 Month
Period Endec

December 31

2013 2012 2011
Expected benefit $(3,483,37) $(6,180,38) $(5,516,60)
Effects of:
State income taxes net of federal bent (176,839 (181,42) (205,52)
U.S. Income Tax Expense at the 20% AMT F 509,49! — —
Nondeductible expens: 31,64( 17,99 17,657
Stock options and restricted stock awe 790,01: 223,72( 833,74¢
Derivatives (783,99 322,84 (1,693,24)
Change in valuation allowan (6,276,36) 5,385,73. 6,531,87.
Change in net operating lo 0 832,40t 3,56¢
CFC Dividend Incom 9,190,72. (374,05) —
Change in rate estima 15,761 (42,925 23,79¢
Foreign Rate Differentie 662,74" — —
Other, ne’ 16,25( (3,919 4,73¢
Income tax provision (benefi $ 496,05! $ — $ —

During the twelve-month periods ended DecembefB813 and 2012, we recognized certain tax benefds(kabilities), prior to any
valuation allowances, related to stock option piarthe amount of $216,675 and $230,721, respdgtilfeve did not have a full valuation
allowance, such benefits would be recorded as@ease in the deferred tax asset and an increasklitional paid-in capital.

We have not recognized a material adjustment itidihdity for unrecognized tax benefits and do need to record any provision for
accrued interest and penalties related to uncedaipositions.

The earliest tax year still subject to examinatiyra major taxing jurisdiction is 2010.

We are currently in the process of seeking a peiletter ruling request with the Internal Reveneevige which will grant us relief to
make a late election to carryback our 2008 fed¥@IL either three, four, or five taxable years pring the taxable year of the applicable N
in lieu of the general two-year carryback periode Would carryback the NOL five years to the 2008ytear. There would be no cash-tax
benefit of the carryback as we had a taxable lassg the 2003 tax year. The benefit of making3hear carryback election is that the 2008
NOL will now be able to offset 100 percent of figwalternative minimum taxable income instead oy afifsetting 90 percent. If the Interr
Revenue Service grants us relief we will revergeAMT tax provision in the quarter relief is graghtes we will be able to fully offset
alternative minimum taxable income instead of ddypercent.

NOTE T — MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013hadkone customer who accounted for 87.2% of oaf tevenue. For the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012, we had three customergaedonnted for 30.3%, 28.5% and 28.8% of our t@atnue.

62



Table of Contents

NOTE U — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Rights to Future Revenues, If Any

We have sold the rights to share in future revenifi@sy, with respect to theSeattle’ (formerly “ Republic’) and “HMS
Sussex'(formerly “ Cambridge€”) projects and have recorded $887,500 as Defdémamme from Revenue Participation Rights (See N®JE
We are contingently liable to share the future neseof these projects only if revenue is derivedifthese specific projects.

To date, the only income derived from these prejeesulted in a one-time revenue distribution paymé$12,986 to the holders of the “
Cambridge”RPC's.

Revenue from the SSepublicshipwreck or its cargo is not subject to revenwaisly.

In addition, on May 26, 1998, we signed an agre@mith a subcontractor that entitled it to receb® of the post finance cost proceeds
from any shipwrecks in a predefined search areheoMediterranean Sea. A shipwreck we have foumi;lwwe believe to be HMSussex is
located within the specified search area and wibsiresponsible to share future revenues, if oy this shipwreck. On December 9, 200
Georgia limited liability company acquired the 5eterest from the subcontractor through a foreclsate (see NOTE O).

In February 2011, we entered into a project syniinaleal with Galt Resources LLC (“Galt”) for whit¢hey invested $7,512,500
representing rights to future revenues of any pta)é Galt's choosing. See NOTE P for further detai

Legal Proceedings

On April 16, 2012, the Kingdom of Spain filed a mootwith the district court for an award of attoyisefees and costs related to the “
Black Swar” case claiming in excess of $3,000,000. On Novembe 2012, the Magistrate Judge entered a RepdrR@commendation
recommending Spain recover fees and costs, buttbose incurred after dismissal of the case frotréay 10, 2012 to March 20, 2012,
related to the transfer of artifacts held in GitaalThis amounted to approximately $130,000 ofalvhihe full amount was reserved in 2012.
Failing to adopt the Report and Recommendatioreptember 26, 2013 the District Court Judge entane@rder assessing $1,072,979 rel
to attorney’s fees. Payment was made on Octobe2113, and a Satisfaction of Judgment was exeanddiled on October 21, 2013. The
difference between the $1,072,979 and $130,00042 ®79 was expensed in entirety in the Marketjemeral and administrative line of our
Consolidated Statement of Income.

The Company may be subject to a variety of claintbsuits that arise from time to time in the ordyneourse of business. Management
currently believes that these claims and suitswatlhave a material adverse impact on its findmpmaition or its results of operations.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We currently charter our exploration vessel, theddo Discovery. The charter for this vessel igs&xpire on April 30, 2014. The
vessel's owner has agreed to extend the chartéodoradditional years. Years one and two will bE&400 sterling per day (approximately
$14,000 USD) and years three and four will be 29&8 sterling (approximately $14,900 USD) per day.

Trends and Uncertainties

Our 2014 business plan requires us to generatecaskwinflows during 2014 to effectively allow usperform our planned projects. We
plan to generate new cash inflows through the nipettéin of shipwreck cargo or our equity stakeseabed mineral companies, financings,
syndications or other partnership opportunitiese ©nmore of the planned shipwreck or mining projeonetizations, financings, syndications
or partnership opportunities may not be realizeicwvimay require us to curtail our desired businas until we generate additional cash. We
currently have no commitments for new debt or iesaaof new equity and we can offer no assuranceohoyr planned projects will be
successful in providing additional cash during 2044 have experienced several years of net lo§segscapacity to generate net income in
future periods is dependent upon our success avesing and monetizing shipwrecks, monetizing oteriests in mineral exploration entities,
generating income from shipwreck or mineral exgioracharters or generating income from other potsjeln 2014, we will seek to monetize
some of our stake in our mineral exploration shaldihgs, recover and monetize cargo from theCe8tral America and generate cash
inflows from other projects and opportunities. db inflow is not sufficient to meet our desiredjpcted business plan requirements, we will
be required to follow our contingency business pléaich is based on curtailed expenses and regigisssew cash inflows. While we have
been successful in generating cash inflows anéhtptie necessary funds in the past, there caml@ssurance that we can continue to do so i
2014.
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NOTE V — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA — UNAUDITED

The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtloe past eight quarters ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012. This quarterly infoiondtas been prepared on the same basis as theldated Financial Statements and
includes all adjustments necessary to state fidyinformation for the periods presented.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201
Quarter Ending

March 31 June 30 September 3I December 31
Revenue—net $ 863,07: $ 253,74 $5,554,46 $17,242,67
Gross profit 717,37 158,66: 5,384,88 16,958,224
Net income (loss (9,665,37)) (10,895,97) (931,39 10,751,47
Basic and diluted net income per sh $ (012 $ 019  $ (0.0) $ 0.1¢

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201
Quarter Ending

March 31 June 30 September 3! December 31
Revenue—net $ 2,899,75: $ 1,426,63. $ 946,09 $ 7,925,03!
Gross profit 2,865,56. 1,336,73! 891,86( 7,867,81
Net income (loss (5,481,79) (15,590,35) 3,802,98: (914,94)
Basic and diluted net income per sh $ (0.0¢) $ (0.2)) $ 0.0t $ (0.0

NOTE W — GAIN ON SILVER FIXED PRICE SWAP

During the three-month period ended September @03, 2ve entered into two fixed price swap hedgdreats to mitigate the exposure
risk related to silver price volatility. We enterigtio these contracts specifically related to theetperiod the recovered silver from the
Gairsoppaproject was sold into the London bullion marketidgrthe later of 2013. The price per silver troynoe was reaching a period high
when we entered into the contracts as comparedémthe silver was recovered in mid-July. The fimttract was for 250,000 troy ounces of
silver and covered the period from October 1 tooDet 31, 2013. The fixed price was $24.40 per tnoiyce. The second contract was for
250,000 troy ounces of silver and covered the pefriom November 1 to November 30, 2013. The fixadepon the second contract was
$23.10 per troy ounce. There are no active corttaxbf December 31, 2013. If the average silvieepvas less than the fixed price, we woulc
receive the difference multiplied by the 250,0@/tounces. If the average silver price was grethtar the fixed price, we would owe the
difference multiplied by the 250,000 troy ouncesribg the three-month period ended December 313,20# realized a combined gain of
$1,206,350 on these contracts.
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Deferred recovery cost reser
2011
2012
2013
Inventory reservi
2011
2012
2013
Accounts receivable reser
2011
2012
2013

SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the Fiscal Years of 2011, 2012 and 2013

ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Charged
(Credited)
Balance at Charged Balance at
Beginning (Credited) to Other End of
of Year to Expense Accounts Deductions Year
2,557,14 — — — 2,557,14!
2,557,14 — — 2,557,14 —
479,45¢ — — 87,25¢ 392,20:
392,20: — — 24.,64¢ 367,55¢
367,55¢ 3,77¢ — — 371,33
8,494,67. — — 2,104,017 6,390,59:
6,390,59: — — 1,570,000  4,820,59
4,820,59: 500,00( — 189,00( 5,131,59:
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this Report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned theraudaly authorized.

ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC

Dated: March 17, 2014 By: /s| GREGORYP. STEMM

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Report has been signed éydltowing persons on behalf of t
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted:

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/s/ GREGORYP. STEMM Chief Executive Officer March 17, 2014
Gregory P. Stemm (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ PHLIPS. DEVINE Chief Financial Officer March 17, 2014
Philip S. Devine (Principal Financial Officer
/s/  MARKD. GORDON President and Chief Operating Officer March 17, 2014
Mark D. Gordon
/s/ Jay A. N ubpi Controller & Treasurer March 17, 2014
Jay A. Nudi (Principal Accounting Officer
/'s/ BRADFORDB. B AKER Chairman of the Board March 17, 2014
Bradford B. Baker
/s/ DaAviD J. SAUL Director March 17, 2014
David J. Saul
/s/ MaxH. CoHEN Director March 17, 2014
Max H. Cohen
/s/ JonD. SAWYER Director March 17, 2014
Jon D. Sawyer
/s/ MARKB. JUSTH Director March 17, 2014

Mark B. Justh
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Quarterly Report on form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2C

First Amendment to Unit Option Agreement dated Deloer 30, 201.

Third Amendment to Unit Option Agreement dated Deber 30, 201:

Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ferlita, Walsh, Gonzalez & Rodrigue&. Pndependent Accountants (filed herewith eleaitally)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith electronicall
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith electronicall
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (filed herewith electratjg
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Exhibit 10.3¢
FIRST AMENDMENT TO UNIT OPTION AGREEMENT
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO UNIT OPTION AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment) is made and entered into effective as of

December 30, 2013, by and betw&nYSSEY MARINE ENTERPRISES, LTD. , a Bahamas domestic limited company (the “ Sé&)leand
MAKO RESOURCES, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Hold#g.

Background Information:

All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defiirethis Amendment shall have the respective rmegnascribed to such terms in the
Unit Option Agreement dated February 28, 2013 (thgreement’), that was issued by the Seller to Mako Resource§, la Delaware limite
liability company (“*_Makad"). The Option is exercisable to purchase up te fivillion (5,000,000) Option Units, on the termsl @ubject to the
conditions set forth therein. The Seller and thédelohave agreed to enter into this Amendmentdoce to writing their mutual understandi
and agreements with respect to the modificatiotheterms of the Option, on the terms and subgetti¢ conditions set forth in this
Amendment. The Holder also holds a Unit Option Agnent dated February 21, 2013 (as amended, thker @greement). The Other
Agreement was initially exercisable to purchaseauen million (10,000,000) Option Units, but, aseault of previous exercises, as of the datc
of this Amendment, the Other Agreement is exerdesttbpurchase up to two million (2,000,000) Optidnits, on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth therein.

Operative Terms:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutua¢oauts contained herein and for other good andchisédu
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whach hereby acknowledged, the Seller and the Hblelexby agree as follows:

A . Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amendedestdted to read in its entirety as follows:

“2. Exercise of Option

a. Expiration Date Subject to the other obligations and limitatiees forth in this Agreement, the Option may be eised by
the Holder for all or any part of the Option Urdtisany time and from time to time after the datéhef Agreement and through and until
5:00 pm, Eastern Standard time, on December 31 @l subject to adjustment in accordance withSkigtion 2, the “ Expiration Date
"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, and only ihe Holder fully satisfies the Holder's obligatitmexercise the Option (as used in the
Other Agreement) to purchase at least the Minimwer&ise Amount (as defined in the Other Agreemangny time and from time to
time on or before 5:00 pm, Eastern Standard timd)@cember 31, 2013, then the term “Expiration Pate used in this Agreement,
means the earlier of (i) December 31, 2014, andigy (60) days after the date on which the Holues been given written notice by the
Seller that Exploraciones Oceanicas, S. de R.IC.¥e (* ExQ") has received all governmental authorizatiorsedises, and permits
which are necessary to enable ExO to commence cotrahmining operations in the Don Diego phosplagposit.

b. Grant of Proxy RightsThe Holder hereby nominates, constitutes, andiappthe executive officers of Odyssey Marine
Exploration, Inc. (* OMEX") and the individuals who hold such offices froime to time, and each of them, as the Holder’s &g
lawful attorneys-in-fact, to appear and act aspitoxy for the Holder at any annual or special nmegtif the voting members of the
Company, and at any and all adjournmer




adjournments thereof, and to vote or execute cassenaccordance with his or their best judgmahiof the Option Units, of which the
Holder may be entitled to vote. The Holder's ateysrin-fact may do all things with respect to thaien Units that the Holder could do
if personally present, with full power of substitut and revocation. The proxy rights and powerttifraey granted pursuant to this
Section 2.b. (i) shall be effective upon issuanfcia® Option Units and shall terminate for all posps on the Proxy Termination Date (as
defined below) and (ii) are coupled with an inté@asd therefore irrevocable. The Holder hereby kesall other proxies and powers of
attorney with respect to the Option Units that &ynhave heretofore appointed or granted, and neespukent proxy or power of attorney
shall be granted. As used in this Agreement, tira roxy Termination Date means #rlier of (i) the third anniversary of the date or
dates on which the Option Units are issued uponcéseeof the Option, or (ii) as applicable, (A) tth&te on which a Change in Control
defined in Section 2.c.ii. below) of OMEX has oaedt or (B) the six-month anniversary of the datemiich a Change in Control of the
Company has occurred. At the request of the Seligr,and all certificates representing any issuptio® Units shall bear a legend
reasonably describing the voting rights grantedpant to this Section 2.b.

c. As used in this Agreement:

i. “ Beneficial Ownel” has the meaning set forth in Rule -3 under the Exchange A«

ii. “ Change in Contr¢” means, with respect to OMEX or the Company (asiegiplk, the" Covered Entity’), that:

(A) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owaieectly or indirectly, of securities of the CovdrEntity (not
including in the securities beneficially owned lucls Person any securities acquired directly froenGovered
Entity) representing fifty percent (50.0%) or morfehe combined voting power of the Covered Entityien
outstanding securities, excluding any Person whtoipes such a Beneficial Owner in connection with a
transaction described in clause (1) of paragraptb&é®w; or

(B) the following individuals cease for any reasorconstitute a majority of the number of directtivan serving:
individuals who, on the date hereof, constitutelitbard of directors of the Covered Entity and aew mlirector
(other than a director whose initial assumptionffite is in connection with an actual or threaedection
contest), whose appointment or election by thedoédirectors was approved or recommended by @ ebat
least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then stilbffice who either were directors on the datesbéor whose
appointment, election or nomination for electiorsvpaeviously so approved or recommendec

(C) thereis consummated a merger or consolidatidhe Covered Entity with any other corporatiothes than (1) a
merger or consolidation which would result in tlting securities of the Covered Entity outstandimghediately
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prior to such merger or consolidation continuingdpresent (either by remaining outstanding or dindp
converted into voting securities of the survivingigy or any parent thereof) fifty percent (50.086)more of the
combined voting power of the securities of the GedeEntity or such surviving entity or any pardrereof
outstanding immediately after such merger or cadabbn; or (2) a merger or consolidation effected
implement a recapitalization of the Covered Enittysimilar transaction) in which no Person is ecames the
Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of seciies of the Covered Entity (not including in theggties
beneficially owned by such Person any securitiegiaed directly from the Covered Entity) represegtiifty
percent (50.0%) or more of the combined voting posiehe Covered Enti’s then outstanding securities;

(D) the stockholders (or other comparable holdefshe Covered Entity approve a plan of complegaitdation or
dissolution of the Covered Entity or there is canmated an agreement for the sale or dispositidheo€overed
Entity of all or substantially all of the Coveredtiy's assets, other than a sale or dispositiothkyCovered
Entity of all or substantially all of the Coveredtiy’'s assets to an entity, at least fifty percggtt.0%) of the
combined voting power of the voting securities dfieth are owned by stockholders (or other comparabléers)
of the Covered Entity in substantially the samepprtions as their ownership of the Covered Entityniediately
prior to such date

“ Equity Securities’ means any securities having the right to votthelection of directors (or individuals holding a
comparable person) of the Covered Entity, or amuisées convertible into or exercisable for angss of the
foregoing.

“ Exchange Ac” means Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amemdedtime to time

“ Person’’ has the meaning given in Section 3(a)(9) of tketiange Act, as modified and used in Sections 1&{d)14
(d) thereof, except that such term shall not inel(a) the Covered Entity or any of its subsidigr{p} a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee fieptan of the Covered Entity or any of its “affites” within the
meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 promulgated undmtiSn 12 of the Exchange Act; (c) an underwrigenporarily
holding securities pursuant to an offering of seeburities; or (d) a corporation owned, directlyratirectly, by the
stockholders (or comparable equity holders) ofGbegered Entity in substantially the same propodiaa their
ownership of stock of the Covered Enf’



B . Section 5 of the Agreement is hereby amendediting the following immediately after Section 5.c.:

“d. Monthly Increases Commencing on February 1, 2014, and continuintherfirst day of each month thereafter, the
Exercise Price shall increase by $0.08 per Optipit (the “ Monthly Adjustment Amouri), with the Monthly Adjustment Amount beil
subject to further adjustment in accordance withdther provisions of this Agreement.”

C . Section 7 of the Agreement is hereby amendedestdted to read in its entirety as follows:

“7. Mandatory Exercise Upon Certain Eventt(a) the Company determines to undertake, ai#ls or approves, or enters into .
agreement contemplating or solicits partner apgrimrgi) a Fundamental Transaction or (ii) a Qfial Financing (as defined below) ¢
(b) the Holder’s exercise of the Option is expnesshuired by, or is a condition precedent to,dbesummation of a Fundamental
Transaction or a Qualified Financing, then thee3edhall deliver to the Holder a notice (a * MamagtExercise Notic&) describing the
material terms and conditions of such Fundamentah§action or Qualified Financing, at least ter) @0siness Days prior to the
applicable record or effective date on which a @enrsould need to hold quotas in order to parti@pator vote with respect to such
Fundamental Transaction or Qualified Financing, taedHolder shall thereafter exercise the Optiarafbthe Option Units for which the
Option can then be exercised and otherwise in daome with the terms of this Agreemegmtyvided, howevethat it is understood and
agreed that (x) the Holder may condition any exercif the Option pursuant to this Section 7 orctirsummation of such Fundamental
Transaction or Qualified Financing within sixty jafays of the Holder’s receipt of the Mandatory Eise Notice, and (y) the Holder
may elect to effect such exercise through a Caslidgsrcise (in which case, in the event of a QiealiFinancing, the formula in
Section 3 hereof shall also apply to Qualified Ritings, and “B” in Section 3 hereof shall be thelied value per quota of the Company
in the Qualified Financing). As used in this Agremt the term “ Qualified Financirigneans a sale for cash of the Comparyiotas, ¢
securities convertible into or exercisable for @qsofas applicable, * Company Equity Securitjes a single transaction or series of
related transactions where (x) the implied valuattbthe Company, without applying any discountrfunority interest, lack of control,
illiquidity, or other discount to any quotas in tGempany, is not less than $5.00 (USD) per quathjést to adjustments for quota splits,
reverse splits, or the like), and (y) the numbequdtas issued, including on an as-converted exascised basis, in the sale of Company
Equity Securities represents, after giving effedhie transaction, not less than five percent ($.6Pthe Company’s issued and
outstanding quotas on an as-converted or as-ererbissis.”

D . To the extent that any term or provision of thisendment is or may be inconsistent with any terrprovision in the Agreement, the

terms and provisions of this Amendment shall cdniEgscept as amended hereby, the terms and progisibthe Agreement remain unchany
are and shall remain in full force and effect uslaad until modified or amended in writing in aatamce with their terms, and are hereby
ratified and confirmed.

E . This Agreement may be executed in two or moratidal counterparts, all of which shall be consétkone and the same agreement

and shall become effective when counterparts haea Bigned by each party and delivered to the gidugy. In the event that any signature is
delivered by facsimile transmission or by an e-mdilch contains a portable document format (.piti)df an executed signature page, such
signature page shall create a valid and bindingatibn of the party executing (or on whose behkatfh signature is executed) with the same
force and effect as if such signature page wererigimal thereof.

[Signatures on following page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed by the Selletrendlolder as of the date first set forth above.

SELLER:
O DYSSEYM ARINE E NTERPRISES, L TD .

By: \s\ Greg Stemm

Name: Greg Stemm

Title: President

HOLDER:
M AKO R ESOURCES, LLC

By: \s\Josh Adam

Name:Josh Adam

Title: Managing Principal — Hornet Management




Exhibit 10.3¢
THIRD AMENDMENT TO UNIT OPTION AGREEMENT
THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO UNIT OPTION AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment) is made and entered into effective as of

December 30, 2013, by and betw&DYSSEY MARINE ENTERPRISES, LTD. , a Bahamas domestic limited company (the “ Sé&)|eand
MAKO RESOURCES, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Hold#g.

Background Information:

All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defiirethis Amendment shall have the respective rmegnascribed to such terms in the
Unit Option Agreement dated February 21, 2013 (asraled on May 13, 2013 and May 28, 2013, the " Aarent’), that was issued by the
Seller to Mako Resources, LLC, a Delaware limitedility company (“*_Makd’). The Option was initially exercisable to purchag to ten
million (10,000,000) Option Units but has been [wasly exercised to purchase eight million (8,000)00ption Units. As a result of the
previous exercises, the Option is, as of the datki® Amendment, exercisable to purchase up torhitiion (2,000,000) Option Units, on the
terms and subject to the conditions set forth thefhe Seller and the Holder have agreed to énterthis Amendment to reduce to writing
their mutual understandings and agreements wifietgo the modification of the terms of the Option the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Amendment.

Operative Terms:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutua¢nauts contained herein and for other good andhisédu
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whack hereby acknowledged, the Seller and the Hblelexby agree as follows:

A . Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amendedestdted to read in its entirety as follows:

“2. Exercise of Option Subject to the other obligations and limitatises forth in this Agreement, the Option may be esed by
the Holder for all or any part of the Option Urdtisany time and from time to time after the datéhef Agreement and through and until
5:00 pm, Eastern Standard time, on December 313 @&lsubject to adjustment in accordance withi@eetb. below, the “ Expiration
Date”). Notwithstanding the foregoing:

a. Mandatory Early ExerciseThe Holdeishall exercise the Option to purchase at least one mi{lg000,000) Option Units
(the “ Minimum Exercise Amouri) for which the Option is exercisable at any time &od time to time after the date of this Agreenm
and through and until 5:00 pm, Eastern Standard,ton December 31, 2013. In connection with anyase of the Option pursuant to
this Section 2, the Holder shall deliver paymenthef aggregate Exercise Price in cash by wire fieatas other immediately available
funds to an account previously designated by thierSé being understood and agreed that any @ashiExercise shall be deemed not to
satisfy the Holder’s obligations under this Sectim whole or in part. The aggregate ExerciseePsttall be delivered to the Seller as
soon as reasonably practicable, but no more tharbtwiness days after, the date of the Option @goSihe number of Option Units, if
any, that may be purchased by the Holfeer the Holder has fulfilled his obligations pursuamthis Section 2.a. is hereinafter referre
as the® Remaining Amoun,” and such Options Units are hereinafter referregbstthe* Remaining Unite.”




b. Extension of Expiration Datdf, and only if, the Holder has satisfied the #f's obligation to purchase at least the
Minimum Exercise Amount pursuant to Section 2leentthe term “Expiration Date,” as used in this @gnent with respect to the
Remaining Units, means the earlier of (i) Decen83gr2014, and (b) sixty (60) days after the datevbith the Holder has been given
written notice by the Seller that Exploraciones @teas, S. de R.L. de C.V. (* EXp has received governmental authorizations, licel
and permits which are necessary to enable ExOrtor@nce commercial mining operations in the Don Diglgosphate deposit (the “

ApprovalDate").

c. Grant of Proxy RightsThe Holder hereby nominates, constitutes, andiappthe executive officers of Odyssey Marine
Exploration, Inc. (* OMEX") and the individuals who hold such offices froime to time, and each of them, as the Holder’s &g
lawful attorneys-in-fact, to appear and act aspitoxy for the Holder at any annual or special nmegtif the voting members of the
Company, and at any and all adjournment or adjoamsthereof, and to vote or execute consentgdordance with his or their best
judgment, all of the Remaining Units, of which tHelder may be entitled to vote. The Holder’s ateystin-fact may do all things with
respect to the Remaining Units that the Holderaad if personally present, with full power of stibgion and revocation. The proxy
rights granted pursuant to this Section 2.c. @lldbe effective upon issuance of the RemainingdJaind shall terminate for all purposes
on the Proxy Termination Date (as defined belovg) @iy are coupled with an interest and thereforeviocable. The Holder hereby
revokes all other proxies and powers of attornei waspect to the Option Units that it may haveetafore appointed or granted, and no
subsequent proxy or power of attorney shall betgcarAs used in this Agreement, the term Proxy Tieation Date means the earlier of
(i) the third anniversary of the date or dates dictvthe Remaining Units are issued upon exerdisiesoOption, or (ii) as applicable,

(A) the date on which a Change in Control (as afim Section 2.d.ii. below) of OMEX has occurred®) the sixmonth anniversary ¢
the date on which a Change in Control of the Comeas occurred. At the request of the Seller, ardyall certificates representing any
issued Remaining Units shall bear a legend rea$pdalscribing the voting rights granted pursuarthie Section 2.c.

d. As used in this Agreement:

i. “ Beneficial Ownel” has the meaning set forth in Rule -3 under the Exchange A«

ii. “ Change in Contrc¢” means, with respect to OMEX or the Company (asiegiple, the* Covered Entity"), that:

(A) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owaieectly or indirectly, of securities of the CovdrEntity (not
including in the securities beneficially owned licls Person any securities acquired directly froenGovered
Entity) representing fifty percent (50.0%) or mofehe combined voting power of the Covered Ensitifien
outstanding securities, excluding any Person whtoipes such a Beneficial Owner in connection with a
transaction described in clause (1) of paragraptb&é®w; or
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(B) the following individuals cease for any reasorconstitute a majority of the number of directtivan serving:
individuals who, on the date hereof, constitutelibard of directors of the Covered Entity and aew mlirector
(other than a director whose initial assumptionffite is in connection with an actual or threadedection
contest), whose appointment or election by thedoédirectors was approved or recommended by @ ebat
least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then stilbffice who either were directors on the datesbéor whose
appointment, election or nomination for electiorsvpaeviously so approved or recommendec

(C) thereis consummated a merger or consolidatidhe Covered Entity with any other corporatiothes than (1) a
merger or consolidation which would result in tlting securities of the Covered Entity outstandimghediately
prior to such merger or consolidation continuingdpresent (either by remaining outstanding or dindp
converted into voting securities of the survivingigy or any parent thereof) fifty percent (50.086)more of the
combined voting power of the securities of the @edeEntity or such surviving entity or any pardrereof
outstanding immediately after such merger or cadabbn; or (2) a merger or consolidation effected
implement a recapitalization of the Covered Enittysimilar transaction) in which no Person is ecames the
Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of seciies of the Covered Entity (not including in theggties
beneficially owned by such Person any securitiggiaed directly from the Covered Entity) represegtfifty
percent (50.0%) or more of the combined voting posiehe Covered Enti’s then outstanding securities;

(D) the stockholders (or other comparable holdefshe Covered Entity approve a plan of compledaitiation or
dissolution of the Covered Entity or there is canswated an agreement for the sale or dispositidheoCovered
Entity of all or substantially all of the Coveredtiy's assets, other than a sale or dispositiothkyCovered
Entity of all or substantially all of the Coveredtify’s assets to an entity, at least fifty percgitt.0%) of the
combined voting power of the voting securities diieth are owned by stockholders (or other compariabléers)
of the Covered Entity in substantially the samepprtions as their ownership of the Covered Entityniediately
prior to such date

“ Equity Securities’ means any securities having the right to votehaelection of directors (or individuals holding a
comparable person) of the Covered Entity, or amysies convertible into or exercisable for anggs of the
foregoing.

“ Exchange Ac” means Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amemdadtime to time
3



V. “ Persor’’ has the meaning given in Section 3(a)(9) of tkettange Act, as modified and used in Sections 1&{d)14
(d) thereof, except that such term shall not inel(a) the Covered Entity or any of its subsidigr{p} a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee fieptan of the Covered Entity or any of its “affites” within the
meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 promulgated undmtiSn 12 of the Exchange Act; (c) an underwrigenporarily
holding securities pursuant to an offering of seeburities; or (d) a corporation owned, directlyratirectly, by the
stockholders (or comparable equity holders) ofGbeered Entity in substantially the same propodiaa their
ownership of the Covered Ent/"

B . Section 5 of the Agreement is hereby amendediting the following immediately after Section 5.c.:

“d. Monthly Increases With respect to any Remaining Units, commencind-ebruary 1, 2014, and continuing on the first dy
each month thereafter, the Exercise Price shakkase by $0.08 per Option Unit (the “ Monthly Adment Amount’), with the Monthly
Adjustment Amount being subject to further adjusitria accordance with the other provisions of thigeement.”

C. Section 7 of the Agreement is hereby amended atdtesl to read in its entirety as follows:

“7. Mandatory Exercise Upon Certain Events(a) the Company determines to undertake, aitb® or approves, or enters into .
agreement contemplating or solicits partner apgrimrgi) a Fundamental Transaction or (ii) a Qfial Financing (as defined below) ¢
(b) the Holder’s exercise of the Option is expnesshuired by, or is a condition precedent to,dbesummation of a Fundamental
Transaction or a Qualified Financing, then thee3edhall deliver to the Holder a notice (a * MamagtExercise Notic&) describing the
material terms and conditions of such Fundamem@hJaction or Qualified Financing, at least ter) @0siness Days prior to the
applicable record or effective date on which a @enrsould need to hold quotas in order to parti@pator vote with respect to such
Fundamental Transaction or Qualified Financing, taedHolder shall thereafter exercise the Optiarafbthe Option Units for which the
Option can then be exercised and otherwise in daome with the terms of this Agreememtyvided, howevethat it is understood and
agreed that (x) the Holder may condition any exercif the Option pursuant to this Section 7 orctilrsummation of such Fundamental
Transaction or Qualified Financing within sixty jafays of the Holder’s receipt of the Mandatory Eige Notice, and (y) the Holder
may elect to effect such exercise through a Caslidgsrcise (in which case, in the event of a QiealiFinancing, the formula in
Section 3 hereof shall also apply to Qualified Ritings, and “B” in Section 3 hereof shall be thelied value per quota of the Company
in the Qualified Financing). As used in this Agres the term * Qualified Financirigneans a sale for cash of the Comparyiotas, ¢
securities convertible into or exercisable for qsofas applicable, * Company Equity Securif)éa a single transaction or series of
related transactions where (x) the implied valuatbthe Company, without applying any discountrfunority interest, lack of control,
illiquidity, or other discount to any quotas in tGempany, is not less than $5.00 (USD) per quathjést to adjustments for quota splits,
reverse splits, or the like), and (y) the numbequdtas issued, including on an as-converted exasecised basis, in the sale of Company
Equity Securities represents, after giving effedhie transaction, not less than five percent ($.6Pthe Company’s issued and
outstanding quotas on an as-converted or as-erdrbissis.”




D . To the extent that any term or provision of thisendment is or may be inconsistent with any terrmprovision in the Agreement, the
terms and provisions of this Amendment shall cdnigcept as amended hereby, the terms and progisibthe Agreement remain unchany

are and shall remain in full force and effect uslaad until modified or amended in writing in aatamce with their terms, and are hereby
ratified and confirmed.

E . This Agreement may be executed in two or moratidal counterparts, all of which shall be consétkone and the same agreement
and shall become effective when counterparts haea Bigned by each party and delivered to the gidugy. In the event that any signature is
delivered by facsimile transmission or by an e-mdilch contains a portable document format (.piti)df an executed signature page, such
signature page shall create a valid and bindingatibn of the party executing (or on whose behkatfh signature is executed) with the same
force and effect as if such signature page werrigimal thereof.

[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed by the Selletrendlolder as of the date first set forth above.

SELLER:
O DYSSEYM ARINE E NTERPRISES, L TD .

By: \s\ Greg Stemm

Name: Greg Stemm

Title: President

HOLDER:
M AKO R ESOURCES, LLC

By: \s\Josh Adam

Name:Josh Adam

Title: Managing Principal — Hornet Management




Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or

Subsidiary(1 Organization
Odyssey Marine, Inc. Floride
Odyssey Marine Services, Ir Nevad:
OVH, Inc. Nevad:
Odyssey Retriever, In Nevad:
Marine Exploration Holding, Llc Nevad:
Odyssey Marine Entertainment, Ir Nevad:
Odyssey Marine Management, L Bahama
Oceania Marine Operations S.R Panam
Odyssey Marine Enterprises, L Bahama
Oceanica Resources, S. de. R.L Panam
Exploraciones Oceanicos, S. de R.L. De C.V Mexica

(1) Except as otherwise indicated, the Registrant threc indirectly holds all of the outstanding etyuinterests of each subsidia
(2) The Registrant holds an indirect [54.10%] interaghis company
(3) The Registrant holds an indirect [54.09%] interaghis company



§i Ferlita, Walsh, Gonzalez & Rodriguez, P.A.
; Certified Public Accountanls

Members:
American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants

VINCENT E. WALSH, CPA .

FROMENT JOHN GONZALEZ, ILL, CPA Florida Institute of Certified
DON F. RODRIGUEZ, CPA, CVA Public Accountants
SAM S. FERLITA, CPA, CVA .

Registered with Public
Companies Accounting
Standards Boar

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements on Form S-3, SEC File388:162971, and on Form&-SEC File
Nos. 33-168611, 333-50325, 333-76038, 333-50343, incotperhy reference 333-134631 and 333-166130 of @ghyearine Exploration,
Inc. and subsidiaries of our reports dated Marc®0Z4, on the financial statements and internatrobover financial reporting of Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc. and subsidiaries, whichads appearing in this Annual Report on Form 1fbKthe year ended December 31, 2013.

Funlite, Welsl, Gomgaley ¥ Rodsigoay, PA.

FERLITA, WALSH, GONZALEZ & RODRIGUEZ, P.A.
Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida

March 7, 2014

3302 Azeele St Tampa, FL 33609
(813) 877-9609% Fax: (813) 875-4477
www.fwgcpas.com



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gregory P. Stemm, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant’s, including its consolielé subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céntrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 17, 201

/sl Gregory P. Stemm

Gregory P. Stemm
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Philip S. Devine, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant’s, including its consolielé subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céntrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 17, 201

/s/ Philip S. Devine

Philip S. Devine
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

| hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledipe annual report on Form 10-K of Odyssey Marirpl&ration, Inc. for the period
ending December 31, 2013, pursuant to 18 U.S.Qidset350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eoStrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material aspects, the financiab@n and results of operations of
Odyssey Marine Exploration, In

/sl Gregory P. Stemm
Gregory P. Stemm
Chief Executive Officer

March 17, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2882 been provided to Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc. and will be retained byy3dey Marine Exploration, Inc. and furnished to $feeurities and Exchange Commission
upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

| hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledipe annual report on Form 10-K of Odyssey Marirpl&ation, Inc. for the period
ending December 31, 2013, pursuant to 18 U.S.Qidset350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eoStrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material aspects, the financiat@mn and results of operations of
Odyssey Marine Exploration, In

/s/ Philip S. Devine
Philip S. Devine
Chief Financial Officer

March 17, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2882 been provided to Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc. and will be retained byy3dey Marine Exploration, Inc. and furnished to $feeurities and Exchange Commission
upon reques’



